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Auditors’ Report to The Members of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited (“the Company”) as at 31 March 2012, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash 

Flow Statement of the Company for the year ended on that date, annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (‘the Order’), as amended, issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 

227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to above, we report that:

we have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;(a)	

in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our examination of those books;(b)	

the Balance Sheet, (c)	 the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account;

in our opinion, the Balance Sheet, (d)	 the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report comply with the accounting standards 

referred to in sub-section (3C) of  Section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956, to the extent applicable;

on the basis of written representations received from the directors, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that none of the directors are disqualified (e)	

as at 31 March 2012 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956; and

(f)	 in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts give the information required by the Companies 

Act, 1956, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

	 (i)	 in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2012; 

	 (ii)	 in the case of the Statement of Profit and Loss, of the profit of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

	 (iii)	 in the case of Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

for B S R & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna

Partner

Membership No.: 032815

Place	:	Hyderabad

Date	 :	11 May 2012
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Annexure to the Auditors’ Report

The Annexure referred to in the auditors’ report to the members of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2012. 

We report that:

i.	 (a)	 The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation of fixed assets. The Company has a regular 

programme of physical verification of its fixed assets by which all fixed assets are verified in a phased manner over a period of 3 years. In our opinion, this 

periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies were noticed 

on such verification.

	 (b)	 Fixed assets disposed off during the year were not substantial and therefore do not affect the going concern assumption.

ii.	 (a)	 Inventories, except goods-in-transit and stocks lying with third parties, has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion, the 

frequency of such verification is reasonable. For stocks lying with third parties at the year-end, written confirmations have been obtained.

	 (b)	 In our opinion, the procedures of physical verification of inventories followed by the management are reasonable and adequate in relation to the size of the 

Company and the nature of its business.

	 (c)	 The Company is maintaining proper records of inventory. The discrepancies noticed on verification between the physical stocks and the book records were 

not material.

iii.	 (a)	 The Company has granted loans to eleven companies (of which five loans are interest free) covered in the register maintained under Section 301 

of the Companies Act, 1956. The maximum amount outstanding during the year was ` 9,328 millions and the year-end balance of such loans was  

` 5,851 millions.

	 (b)	 In our opinion, the rate of interest and other terms and conditions on which loans have been granted to companies, firms or other parties listed in the 

register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 are not, prima facie, prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

	 (c)	 In the case of loans granted to companies, firms or other parties listed in the register maintained under Section 301, where stipulations have been made, 

the borrowers have been regular in repaying the principal amounts as stipulated and in the payment of interest.

	 (d)	 There is no overdue amount of more than ` one lakh in respect of loans granted to any of the companies, firms or other parties listed in the register 

maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956.

	 (e)	 The Company has not taken loans secured or unsecured from any companies, firms and other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 

of the Companies Act, 1956. 

iv.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, and having regard to the explanation that purchases of certain items of inventories 

are for the Company’s specialized requirements and similarly certain goods sold are for the specialized requirements of the buyers and suitable alternative sources 

are not available to obtain comparable quotations, there is an adequate internal control system commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its 

business with regard to purchase of inventories and fixed assets and with regard to the sale of goods and services. We have not observed any major weakness in 

the internal control system during the course of the audit.

v.	 (a)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the particulars of contracts or arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the 

Companies Act, 1956 have been entered in the register required to be maintained under that section.

	 (b)	 In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the transactions made in pursuance of contracts and arrangements referred 

to in point (a) above and exceeding the value of ` 5 lakh with any party during the year, have been made at prices which are reasonable having regard to 

the prevailing market prices at the relevant time except for the purchases of certain items of inventories which are for Company’s specialized requirements 

and similarly for sale of certain goods for the specialized requirements of the buyers and for which suitable alternative sources are not available to obtain 

comparable quotations. However, on the basis of information and explanations provided, the same appear reasonable.

vi.	 In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has complied with the provisions of Section 58A, Section 58AA 

or other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and the rules framed thereunder/the directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India (as applicable) with 

regard to deposits accepted from the public. Accordingly, there have been no proceedings before the Company Law Board or National Company Law Tribunal (as 

applicable) or Reserve Bank of India or any Court or any other Tribunal in this matter and no order has been passed by any of the aforesaid authorities.

vii.	 In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

viii.	 We have broadly reviewed the books of account maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central Government for maintenance of cost 

records under Section 209(1) (d) of the Companies Act, 1956, and are of the opinion that prima facie the prescribed accounts and records have been made and 

maintained. However, we have not made a detailed examination of the records.

ix.	 (a)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/accrued 

in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Provident Fund, Investor Education and Protection Fund, Employees’ State 

Insurance, Income tax, Sales tax, Wealth tax, Service tax, Customs duty, Excise duty and other material statutory dues have been generally regularly deposited 

during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities. 
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Annexure to the Auditors’ Report

	 (b)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Investor Education and Protection 

Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income tax, Sales tax, Wealth tax, Service tax, Customs duty, Excise duty and other material statutory dues were in arrears 

as at 31 March 2012 for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

	 (c)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the dues set out in Appendix 1 in respect of Income tax, Sales tax, Service tax, Customs duty and 

Excise duty have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of disputes.

x.	 The Company does not have any accumulated losses at the end of the financial year and has not incurred cash losses during the financial year and in the 

immediately preceding financial year.

xi.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to its bankers or to any 

financial institutions or to debenture holders.

xii.	 The Company has not granted loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.

xiii.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a chit fund/nidhi/mutual fund/society. 

xiv.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not dealing or trading in shares, securities, debentures and other investments. Accordingly,  

clause 4(xiv) of the Order is not applicable.

xv.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the terms and conditions on which the Company has given guarantees for loans 

taken by others from banks or financial institutions are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company.

xvi.	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the term loans taken by the company have been applied for the purpose for which 

they were raised.

xvii.	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company, we are of the opinion that no 

funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long term investment.

xviii.	 The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to companies, firms or parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the 

Companies Act, 1956.

xix.	 During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had issued unsecured debentures in accordance with the scheme of arrangement approved by the 

High Court of Andhra Pradesh, India. Accordingly, no security or charge in respect of such debentures has been created.

xx.	 During the year, the Company has not raised any money through public issue.

xxi.	 According to the information and explanations given to us, no material fraud on or by the Company has been noticed or reported during the course of our 

audit.

for B S R & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna

Partner

Membership No.: 032815

Place	:	Hyderabad

Date	 :	11 May 2012
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Appendix 1 as referred to in paragraph ix (c) of annexure to the Auditors’ Report

Name of the Statute Nature of the dues
Amount in  

` millions
Forum where pending

Period to which the 

amount relates

Various years 

covering the period

Income tax Act, 1961 Income tax  38.6 High Court, Andhra pradesh 1991-1995

 179.4 Commissioner Appeals 1999-2007

 505.2 Income Tax Appellate Tribunal 1993-2008

Customs Act, 1962 Duty  8.9 Additional Commissioner of Central Excise 2007-2008

Duty  22.5 Assistant Commissioner of Central Excise 2006-2010

Duty and excess DEPB  11.2 CESTAT, Bangalore 2003-2007

Duty  0.3 Commissioner of Central Excise 2003-2004

Duty  0.2 Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise 2008-2009

Duty and penalty  34.0 Supreme Court of India 1992-2011

Central Excise Act, 1944 Duty  46.0 Additional Commissioner 2004-2012

Duty  5.5 Assistant Commissioner of Central Excise 1999-2012

Duty and interest  38.7 CESTAT 1998-2008

Duty  725.2 Commissioner of Central Excise 1999-2012

Duty  0.0 Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise 2009-2010

Duty  35.3 High Court of A.P. 2003-2008

Finance Act, 1994 CENVAT Credit of Service Tax & Service tax  36.8 Additional Commissioner 2006-11

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax  8.3 Assistant Commissioner 2006-11

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax  115.7 CESTAT 2006-09

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax & Service tax  182.6 Commissioner 2006-12

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax  0.2 
Commissioner of Central Excise, Customs & 
Service Tax (Appeals)

2008-09

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax & Service tax  1.5 Deputy Commissioner 2009-11

CENVAT Credit of Service Tax  13.3 High Court of Andhra Pradesh 2004-08

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2005 Tax  65.9 Appellate Tribunal 2006-07 to 2008-09

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2005 Tax & Penalty  1.5 Appellate Deputy Commissioner 2010-11

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2006 Tax  31.4 Appellate Deputy Commissioner 2010-11

Andhra Pradesh Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 Tax  9.8 Sales Tax Tribunal 2003-08

Andhra Pradesh General Sales Tax Act, 1957 Penalty  0.3 Sales Tax Tribunal 2002-03

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2005 Tax  0.4 Sales Tax Tribunal 2005-09

Gujarat Central Sales Tax Act, 1969 (API) Tax & Penalty  7.6 Sales Tax Tribunal 2002-06

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2005 Tax & Penalty  40.6 Appellate Tribunal 2005-11

Himachal Pradesh Central Sales Tax Act Tax  2.0 High Court 2006-07 & 2007-08

Gujarat Central Sales Tax Act, 1969 (API) Penalty  0.4 Appellate Deputy commissioner 2006-07

Andhra Pradesh Value Added Tax Act, 2007 Penalty  3.1 Appellate Deputy Commissioner 2010-11

West Bengal Sales Tax Act, 1994 GST Tax  0.2 Appellate Deputy Commissioner 2006-07

Bihar (PATNA) Commercial Taxes (Spl., Circle) Tax  1.2 Appellate Deputy Commissioner 2010-11

Out of the total disputed dues, an amount of ` 160 million has been paid under protest for sales tax related matters, ` 7.5 million has been paid under protest for service tax related matters, 
` 18 million has been paid for customs related matters, ` 11 million has been paid for excise related matters.



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated
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NOTE
as at

31 march 2012
as at

 31 March 2011

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds

Share capital 2.1 848  846

Reserves and surplus 2.2 66,330 59,356

67,178 60,202

Non current liabilities

Long term borrowings 2.3 5,130 5,130

Deferred tax liabilities, net 200 1,008

Other long term liabilities 2.4 63 60

Long term provisions 2.5 212 197

5,605 6,395

Current liabilities   

Short term borrowings 2.3 10,204 9,311

Trade payables 2.6 7,334 8,069

Other current liabilities 2.4 9,844 5,889

Short term provisions 2.5 3,241 2,768

30,623 26,037

Total 103,406 92,634

ASSETS

Non current assets

Fixed assets

    Tangible assets 2.7 18,967 16,893

    Intangible assets 2.7 1 17

    Capital work in progress 6,176 5,460

Non current investments 2.8 22,707 24,620

Long term loans and advances 2.9 6,318 9,117

54,169 56,107

Current assets

Current investments 2.10 2,070 -

Inventories 2.11 13,267 10,632

Trade receivables 2.12 19,435 17,705

Cash and bank balances 2.13 8,490 662

Short term loans and advances 2.14 5,298 5,778

Other current assets 2.15 677 1,750

49,237 36,527

Total 103,406 92,634

Significant accounting policies 1

Notes to accounts 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements

Balance Sheet

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	: Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 : 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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N O T E
f o r  t h e  ye  a r  ended   

3 1  m a r c h  2 0 1 2
f o r  t h e  ye  a r  ended   

3 1  m a r c h  2 0 1 1

INCOME

Sales, gross 66,443 52,537

Less: Excise duty (405) (356)

Sales, net 66,038 52,181

Service income 530 308

License fees 110 2

Other operating revenue 2.16 719 554

Revenue from operations 67,397 53,045

Other income 2.17 818 1,196

Total revenue 68,215 54,241

Expenses

Cost of material consumed (including packing material consumed) 17,386 13,351

Purchase of stock-in-trade (traded goods) 3,076 3,310

Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 2.18 (1,048) (790)

Conversion charges 505 276

Excise duty 534 617

Employee benefits expense 2.19 8,661 7,274

Finance costs 2.20 636 53

Depreciation and amortization expense 2.7 3,011 2,479

Research and development 2.21 5,813 5,128

Other expenses 2.22 15,124 11,467 

Provision for other than temporary diminution in the value of long-term 
investments

1,925 557

Total expenses 55,623 43,722

Profit before tax 12,592 10,519

Tax expense 2.23  

  Current tax (4,275) (1,328)

  Deferred tax 807 (257)

Profit for the year 9,124 8,934

Earnings per share 2.26

Basic - Par value  ` 5/- per share 53.83 52.82

Diluted - Par value  ` 5/- per share 53.56 52.51

Number of shares used in computing earning per share  

Basic - Par value ` 5/- per share 169,470,729 169,128,649

Diluted - Par value  ` 5/- per share 170,331,942 170,122,043

Significant accounting policies 1

Notes to accounts 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements

Statement of Profit and Loss

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants 

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	: Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 : 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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Fo  r  t h e  ye  a r  ended   
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 2

Fo  r  t h e  ye  a r  ended   
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 1

Cash Flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 12,592  10,519 

Adjustments:

     Depreciation and amortization expense  3,011  2,479 

     Provision for wealth tax  3  3 

     Dividend from mutual fund units  (2)  (58)

     Amortization of deferred stock compensation expense, net  403  268 

     Unrealised foreign exchange (gain) / loss, net  2,172  (820)

     Profit on sale of current investments, net  (158)  (10)

     Provision for decline in the value of long-term investments  2,100  557 

     Reversal of provision for decline in the value of long-term investments  (175)  - 

     Interest income  (614)  (455)

     Finance costs  636  53 

     Cost of issuance of bonus debentures  -    51 

     Loss on sale of fixed assets, net  33  12 

     Allowance for sales returns  485  395 

     Provision for inventory obsolescence  901  731 

     Provision for doubtful debts, net  103  (2)

     Provision for doubtful advances, net  (87)  (438)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  21,404  13,285 

     Increase in trade receivables  (1,418)  (6,913)

     Increase in inventories  (3,536)  (2,389)

     (Increase) / Decrease in loans and advances and other assets  580  (1,511)

     Decrease in liabilities and provisions  938  2,103 

Cash generated from operations  17,968  4,575 

     Income taxes paid, net  (3,938)  (2,112)

Net cash provided by operating activities  14,030  2,463 

Cash flows from / (used in) investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets  (6,012)  (6,964)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  -    29 

Purchase of investments  (13,704)  (11,624)

Proceeds from sale of investments  11,780  12,602 

Dividend from mutual fund units  2  58 

Long term loans and advances (given to) / repaid by subsidiaries, joint ventures & associates  3,118  (704)

Interest received  580  473 

Net cash (used in)  investing activities  (4,235)  (6,130)

Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital  6  29 

Repayment of long term borrowings  (2)  (5)

Proceeds from long term borrowings  2  5,078 

Repayment of short term borrowings  (21,162)  (12,213)

Proceeds from short term borrowings  22,053  15,955 

Interest paid  (629)  (42)

Cost of issuance of bonus debentures  -    (51)

Dividend paid  (2,216)  (8,141)

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities  (1,949)  610 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and bank balances  7,846  (3,057)

Cash and bank balances at the beginning of the year (refer note 2.13)  662  3,680 

Effect of exchange gain on cash and bank balances  (18)  39 

Cash and bank balances at the end of the year (refer note 2.13)  8,490  662 

 

Cash Flow Statement

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	: Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 : 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1: Significant accounting policies

a)	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited (‘‘DRL” or “the Company”) have been prepared and presented in accordance with Indian Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis. GAAP comprises accounting standards notified by the Central 

Government of India under Section 211 (3C) of the Companies Act, 1956, other pronouncements of Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the provisions of 

Companies Act, 1956 and guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India. The financial statements are rounded off to the nearest million.

b)	U se of estimates

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities on the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the year.  

Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Any revision to accounting estimates is 

recognised prospectively in the current and future periods.

c)	F ixed assets and depreciation

	 Fixed assets are carried at the cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation. The cost of fixed assets includes non-refundable taxes, duties, freight 

and other incidental expenses related to the acquisition and installation of the respective assets. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction 

of those fixed assets which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised.

	 Depreciation on fixed assets is provided using the straight-line method at the rates specified in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956 or based on the useful life 

of the assets as estimated by Management, whichever is higher. Depreciation is calculated on a pro-rata basis from the date of installation till the date the assets are 

sold or disposed. Individual assets costing less than ` 5,000/- are depreciated in full in the year of acquisition. Assets acquired on finance leases are depreciated over 

the period of the lease agreement or the useful life whichever is shorter.

	 The Management’s estimates of the useful lives for various categories of fixed assets are given below:

Years

Buildings

- Factory and administrative buildings 20 to 30

- Ancillary structures 3 to 10

Plant and machinery 3 to 15

Electrical equipment 5 to 15

Laboratory equipment 5 to 15

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment (other than computer equipment) 4 to 8

Computer equipment 3

Vehicles 3 to 5

d)	I ntangible assets and amortisation

	 Intangible assets are recorded at the consideration paid for acquisition. Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, 

commencing from the date the asset is available to the Company for its use. The management estimates the useful lives for the various intangible assets as 

follows:

Years

Technical know-how 10

Copyrights and Patents

(including marketing / distribution rights)

3 to 10

e)	I nvestments

	 Non-current investments are carried at cost less any other-than-temporary diminution in value, determined separately for each individual investment. The reduction 

in the carrying amount is reversed when there is a rise in the value of the investment or if the reasons for the reduction no longer exist.

	 Current investments are carried at the lower of cost and fair value. The comparison of cost and fair value is done separately in respect of each category of 

investment.

f)	I nventories

	 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories comprises all cost of purchase, cost of conversion and other costs incurred in 

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
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Notes to Financial Statements 

	 Effective as of 1 April 2011, the Company has changed its policy on valuation of inventory from the first-in first-out method (FIFO) to the weighted average cost 

method (WAC). Under the prior policy, the cost of all categories of inventories, except stores and spares, had been based on the first-in first-out method. Stores and 

spares consists of packing materials, engineering spares (such as machinery spare parts) and consumables (such as lubricants, cotton waste and oils), which are used 

in operating machines or consumed as indirect materials in the manufacturing process, had been valued at cost based on a weighted average method. Effective as of 

1 April 2011, the cost of all categories of inventory is based on a weighted average cost method. Using the weighted average method will produce more accurate, 

reasonable and relevant information on the amounts of inventory reported in the balance sheet and, in turn, more accurate material consumption reported in the 

statement of profit and loss. The effect of this change in the methodology of valuation of inventory is immaterial and, accordingly, no further disclosures have been 

made in these financial statements.

g)	R esearch and development

	 Expenditures on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding are recognized as expense in 

the statement of profit and loss when incurred.

	 Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized 

only if:

	 l	 development costs can be measured reliably,

	 l	 the product or process is technically and commercially feasible,

	 l	 future economic benefits are probable and ascertainable, and

	 l	 the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and has the ability to use or sell the asset.  

	 Expenditure incurred on fixed assets used for research and development is capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the depreciation policy of the Company.

h)	E mployee benefits

	 Defined contribution plan

	 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or 

constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to recognized provident funds and approved superannuation schemes which are 

defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in the statement of profit and loss as and when the services are received from the 

employees.

	 Defined benefit plans

	 A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of an approved gratuity 

plan, which is a defined benefit plan, and certain other defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that 

employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized past 

service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on risk free government bonds that have maturity 

dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The 

calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

	 Contributions payable to an approved gratuity fund determined by an independent actuary at the balance sheet date are charged to the statement of profit and loss.  

All actuarial gains and losses arising during the year are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Provision for compensated absences is made on the basis of actuarial valuation at the balance sheet date.

	 Employee stock option schemes

	 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India guidelines, the excess of the market price of shares, at the date of grant of options under the Employee 

stock option schemes, over the exercise price is treated as employee compensation and amortised over the vesting period.

i)	F oreign currency transactions and balances

	 Foreign currency transactions are recorded using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the respective transactions. Exchange differences arising on foreign 

currency transactions settled during the year are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet date are translated using the foreign exchange rates as at the balance sheet 

date. The resultant exchange differences are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are not translated.

	 Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that, in substance, forms part of an enterprise’s net investment in a non-integral foreign operation are accumulated 

in a foreign currency translation reserve in the enterprise’s financial statements. Such exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the 

event of disposal of the net investment.

Note 1: Significant accounting policies ( continued  )
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Note 1: Significant accounting policies ( continued  )

j)	 Derivative instruments and hedge accounting

	 The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts and option contracts (derivatives) to mitigate its risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and does 

not use them for trading or speculative purposes.

	 The premium or discount on foreign exchange forward contracts is amortized as income or expense over the life of the contract. The exchange difference is calculated 

and recorded in accordance with AS-11 (revised). The exchange difference on such a forward exchange contract is calculated as the difference of the foreign currency 

amount of the contract translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date, or the settlement date where the transaction is settled during the reporting period 

and the corresponding foreign currency amount translated at the later of the date of inception of the forward exchange contract and the last reporting date. Such 

exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the reporting period in which the exchange rates change. The changes in the fair value 

of foreign currency option contracts are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as they arise. Fair value of such option contracts is determined based on the 

appropriate valuation techniques considering the terms of the contract.

	 Pursuant to ICAI Announcement “Accounting for Derivatives” on the early adoption of Accounting Standard AS-30 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement”, the Company has adopted the Standard, to the extent that the adoption does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and other 

authoritative pronouncements, Company law and other regulatory requirements.

	 Cashflow hedges

	 The Company classifies its option and forward contracts that hedge highly probable forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges and measures them at fair value. 

The effective portion of such cash flow hedges is recorded as part of reserves and surplus within the Company’s “hedging reserve”, and re-classified in the statement 

of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions. The ineffective portion is immediately recorded in the 

statement of profit and loss.

	 The Company also designates certain non-derivative financial liabilities, such as foreign currency borrowings from banks, as hedging instruments for the hedge 

of foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions and, accordingly, applies cash flow hedge accounting for such relationships. 

Re-measurement gain / loss on such non-derivative financial liabilities is recorded as a part of reserves and surplus within the Company’s “hedging reserve”, and  

re-classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions.

	 If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, gets expired or is sold, terminated or exercised before the occurrence of the forecasted 

transaction, the hedge accounting on such transaction is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in hedging reserve continues 

to remain there until the forecasted transaction occurs. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the balance in hedging reserve is recognized 

immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Fair value hedges

	 The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair value of firm commitment contracts and measures them at fair value. 

Any amount representing changes in the fair value of such derivative financial instruments is recorded in the statement of profit and loss. The corresponding gain / 

loss representing the changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to hedged risk is also recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

k)	R evenue recognition

	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards in respect of ownership of products are transferred to customers. Revenue from 

domestic sales of generic products is recognized upon delivery of products to stockists by clearing and forwarding agents of the Company. Revenue from domestic 

sales of active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates is recognized on delivery of products to customers, from the factories of the Company. Revenue from 

export sales is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of products are transferred to the customers, which is based upon the terms of the 

applicable contract.

	 Revenue from product sales is stated exclusive of returns, sales tax and applicable trade discounts and allowances.

	 Service Income

	 Service income is recognised as per the terms of contracts with customers when the related services are performed, or the agreed milestones are achieved.

	 License fee

	 The Company enters into certain dossier sales, licensing and supply arrangements with certain third parties. These arrangements include certain performance 

obligations by the Company. Revenue from such arrangements is recognized in the period in which the Company completes all its performance obligations.

	 Dividend and interest income
	 Dividend income is recognised when the unconditional right to receive the income is established. Income from interest on deposits, loans and interest bearing 

securities is recognised on the time proportionate method.
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	 Export entitlements
	 Export entitlements are recognised as reduction from material consumption when the right to receive credit as per the terms of the scheme is established in respect 

of the exports made and where there is no significant uncertainty regarding the ultimate collection of the relevant export proceeds.

l)	I ncome tax expense

	 Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax charge or credit.

	 Current tax
	 The current charge for income taxes is calculated in accordance with the relevant tax regulations applicable to the Company.

	 Deferred tax
	 Deferred tax charge or credit reflects the tax effects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable income for the period. The deferred tax charge or 

credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognised using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet 

date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent there is reasonable certainty that the assets can be realised in future; however, where there is unabsorbed 

depreciation or carry forward of losses, deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is a virtual certainty of realisation of such assets. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each balance sheet date and is written-down or written-up to reflect the amount that is reasonably / virtually certain (as the case may be) to be realised. 

The break-up of the major components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as at balance sheet date has been arrived at after setting off deferred tax assets and 

liabilities where the Company has a legally enforceable right to set-off assets against liabilities and where such assets and liabilities relate to taxes on income levied 

by the same governing taxation laws.

m)	E arnings per share
	 The basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing the net profit after tax for the year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 

during the year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, net profit after tax for the year and the weighted average number of shares outstanding 

during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. The dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the 

period, unless they have been issued at a later date. The diluted potential equity shares have been adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the shares been actually 

issued at fair value (i.e. the average market value of the outstanding shares).

n)	P rovisions and contingent liabilities
	 The Company creates a provision when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event that probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but 

probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where there is possible obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources 

is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

o)	I mpairment of assets
	 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Company estimates 

the recoverable amount of the asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs 

is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the 

statement of profit and loss. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that if a previously assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount 

is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount subject to a maximum of amortised historical cost.

p)	L eases
	 The lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, at the inception of the lease, based on the substance of the lease arrangement.

	 Finance leases
	 A finance lease is recognized as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also capitalized and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 

accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of 

the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability.

	 Operating leases
	 Other leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognized on the Company’s balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognized 

in statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Note 1: Significant accounting policies ( continued  )
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts

2.1 :  Share capital

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Authorised

240,000,000 (previous year: 240,000,000) equity shares of ` 5/- each 1,200 1,200

Issued

169,560,546 (previous year: 169,252,932) equity shares of ` 5/- each fully paid-up 848 846

Subscribed and fully paid-up

169,560,346 (previous year: 169,252,732) equity shares of ` 5/- each fully paid-up               848 846

Add: Forfeited share capital (e) - 848 -                       846

848 846

(a)	 Reconciliation of the equity shares outstanding is set out below:

PARTICULARS

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

No. of equity 
shares

Amount
No. of equity 

shares
Amount

Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year 169,252,732 846 168,845,385 844

Add : Share issued during the year 307,614 2 407,347 2

Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year 169,560,346 848 169,252,732 846

(b) 	 Terms/rights attached to equity shares

The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 5/- per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. The company 

declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing 

Annual General Meeting. During the year ended 31 March 2012, the amount of per share dividend recognized as distributions to equity shareholders is ` 13.75 

(31 March 2011: ` 11.25).

(c) 	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

Particulars

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

No. of equity 
shares held

% of equity 
shares held

No. of equity 
shares held

% of equity 
shares held

 Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited 39,729,284 23.43 39,128,328 23.12

 Life Insurance Corporation of India and its associates 11,439,458 6.75 13,579,378 8.02

(d)	 654,156 (previous year : 718,161) stock options are outstanding to be issued by the Company on exercise of the vested stock options in accordance with the terms 

of exercise under the “Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Plan, 2002” and 117,899 (previous year : 124,559) stock options are outstanding to be issued by the 

Company on exercise of the vested stock options in accordance with the terms of exercise under the “Dr. Reddy’s Employees ADR Stock Option Plan 2007”.

(e)	 Represents 200 (previous year: 200) equity shares of ` 5/- each, amount paid-up ` 500/- (rounded off in millions in the note above) forfeited due to non-payment 

of allotment money.
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.2 :  Reserves and surplus

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Capital reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 267 267

Additions / (deductions) during the year - -

267 267

Securities premium account

Balance at the beginning of the year 18,279 18,038

Add: Received during the year on exercise of employee stock options 253 241

18,532 18,279

Employee stock options outstanding

Balance at the beginning of the year 707 564

Add: Options granted during the year 508 424

Less: Options forfeited during the year (89) (67)

Less: Options excercised during the year (249) (214)

Balance at the end of the year (A) 877 707

Deferred stock compensation cost

Balance at the beginning of the year 314 225

Add: Options granted during the year 508 424

Less: Amortization during the year, net of forfeiture (403) (268)

Less: Options forfeited during the year (89) (67)

Balance at the end of the year (B) 330 314

(A) – (B) 547 393

General reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,940 14,019

Add : Transferred from surplus 912 893

Less : Transferred to surplus - 5,972

9,852 8,940

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 36 (169)

Movement during the year (a) 183 205

219 36

Hedging reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 25 267

Movement during the year (28) (242)

(3) 25

Debenture redemption reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 19 -

Add : Transferred from surplus 848 19

867 19
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as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Surplus

Balance at the beginning of the year 31,397 25,541

Add : Transfer from general reserve (refer note 2.40) - 5,972

31,397 31,513

Add : Current year profit 9,124 8,934

Amount available for appropriations 40,521 40,447

Less : Appropriations:

Proposed dividend on equity shares 2,331 1,904

Tax on proposed dividend 378 309

Dividend of previous years 3 4

Debenture redemption reserve 848 19

Bonus debentures as per court approved scheme (refer note 2.40) - 5,078

Dividend distribution tax on distribution (refer note 2.40) - 843

Transferred to general reserve 912 893

Balance carried forward 36,049 31,397

66,330 59,356

(a)	 The foreign currency translation reserve comprises exchange difference on loans and advances that in substance form part of net investment in Lacock Holdings 

Limited, Cyprus (Lacock) (till 23 August 2011) and Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, S.A.de.C.V (Mexico), non-integral foreign operations as defined in 

Accounting Standard (AS) - 11 (Revised 2003) on “Accounting for the Effects of Changes in foreign Exchange Rates”.  These exchange differences will be recognised 

in the statement of profit and loss in the event of disposal of such net investments.

Note 2 :  Notes to The Accounts ( continued ) 

2.2 : Reserves and surplus  ( continued )
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.3 : Borrowings

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

A) Long term borrowings

Secured

Long term maturities of finance lease obligations (a) 5 3

Unsecured

Debentures

9.25% Redeemable Non-convertible Debentures of ` 5/- each (b) 5,078 5,078

Deferred payment liabilities

Sales tax deferment loan from the Government of Andhra Pradesh (interest free) (c) 47 49

5,130 5,130

(a)	 Finance lease obligations represent present value of minimum lease rentals payable for the vehicles leased by the Company. Amount is repayable in monthly 

instalment, with the last instalments due on 15 September 2013.

(b)	 Bonus debentures are redeemable at the end of 36 months from the initial date of issuance (24 March 2011). The interest is payable at the end of 12, 24 and 36 

months from the initial date of issuance. (refer note 2.40)

(c)	 Sales tax deferment loan is repayable in 10 instalments, with the last instalment due on 31 March 2019.

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

B) Short term borrowings

Unsecured

Packing credit loans (a) 10,204 9,242

Bank overdraft (b) - 69

10,204 9,311

(a)	 Packing Credit loans for the current year comprised of Foreign Currency Packing Credit loans carrying interest rates of LIBOR plus 100 -150 bps or fixed rate of 

2.21%-3.06% per annum and are repayable within 1 to 6 months from the date of drawdown.  Packing Credit loans for the previous year comprised of Foreign 

Currency Packing Credit loans carrying interest rates of LIBOR plus 52 - 80 bps or fixed rate of interest of 1.120% - 2.085% per annum and are repayable within  

1 to 6 months from the date of drawdown. Further, previous year loans included a Rupee packing credit loan taken from State Bank of India carrying interest rate 

of 8.75% per annum with a term of 6 months.

(b)	 Bank overdraft is Nil for current year. Bank overdraft in the previous year was on current accounts with various banks carrying interest rates of 10.50% to 12.00% 

per annum.
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.4 : Other liabilities

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

a)	O ther long term liabilities

	 Deferred revenue income  63  60 

 63  60 

b)	O ther current liabilities

	 Current maturities of long term borrowings

Sales tax deferment loan from the Government of Andhra Pradesh (interest free) 2 3

	 Current maturities of finance lease obligations  18  4 

	 Due to capital creditors  1,139  1,332 

	 Payable to subsidiary companies, step down subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  1,105  911 

	 Interest accrued but not due on loan  18  11 

	 Unclaimed dividends and debenture interest *  30  20 

	 Provision for expenses  2,919  2,503 

	 Salary and bonus payable  781  484 

	 Derivative financial instrument liability  1,605  - 

	 Due to statutory authorities  129  184 

	 Advance from Customers (subsidiary companies, step down subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)  1,835  - 

	 Other current liabilities  263  437 

 9,844  5,889 

* Unclaimed amounts are transferred to Investor Protection and Education Fund after seven years from the due date. 

(a) 	 Finance lease obligations represent present value of minimum lease rentals payable before 31 March 2013 for the vehicles and other assets leased by the 
Company.

(b) 	 The figures reflected for Sales tax deferment loan are for instalments payable before 31 March 2013.
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.5 : Provisions

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

a) Long term provisions

Provision for employee benefits

          Compensated absences  146  137 

          Long service award benefit plan  66  60 

 212  197 

b) Short term provisions

Provision for employee benefits

          Gratuity  22  94 

          Compensated absences  96  57 

          Long service award benefit plan  10  9 

Other provisions

          Allowance for sales returns  404  395 

          Proposed dividend  2,331  1,904 

          Tax on proposed dividend  378  309 

 3,241  2,768 

2.6 :  Trade Payables

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

Trade Payables

          Due to micro, small and medium enterprises  1  230 

          Others  6,751  5,813 

Payable to subsidiary companies, step down subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  582  2,026 

 7,334  8,069 

(a)	 The principal amount paid and that remaining unpaid as at 31 March 2012 in respect of enterprises covered under the “Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

Development Act, 2006” (MSMDA) are ` 3,405 (previous year: ` 2,215) and ` 1 (previous year: ` 218) respectively. The interest amount computed based on 

the provisions under Section 16 of the MSMDA ` 0.03 (previous year: ` 12) is remaining unpaid as of 31 March 2012. The interest that remained unpaid as at 

31 March 2011 was paid to the extent of ` 12 during the current year. 

(b)	 The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but 

without adding the interest specified under this Act is ` Nil (previous year: ` Nil).

(c) 	 The list of undertakings covered under MSMDA was determined by the Company on the basis of information available with the Company and has been relied 

upon by the auditors. 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.8 : Non current investments

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

I.	 Quoted investments

Other

(a)	 Equity shares (fully paid-up)

12,000 (previous year: 12,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of State Bank of India (a)  3 3

Total quoted non current investments ( I )  3  3 

II.	Un quoted investments

Trade

In Subsidiary Companies

Equity shares (fully paid up)

50,000 (previous year: 50,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of DRL Investments Limited, India  1 1

11,625,000 (previous year: 11,625,000) ordinary shares of HK$ 1 each of Reddy Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong 
Limited, Hong Kong  58 58

Equity shares of OOO Alfa, Russia (b)  7 7

500,000 (previous year: 500,000) equity shares of US $ 1 each of Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands  45 18

26,699,230 (previous year: 26,699,230) shares of Real $ 1 each of Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., 
Brazil

 634 634

400,750 (previous year: 400,750) ordinary shares of US $ 10 each of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc, U.S.A.  175 175

134,513 (previous year: 134,513) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Cheminor Investments Limited, India  1 1

2,500 (previous year: 2,500) ordinary shares of FF 100 each of Reddy Cheminor S.A., France  2 2

90,544,104 (previous year: 90,544,104) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Aurigene Discovery Technologies 
Limited, India

 974 974

1,362 (previous year: 1,362) ordinary shares of GBP 1 each of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, U. K. 658 658

34,022,070 (previous year: 34,022,070) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India  266 266

Equity shares of OOO Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia (b)  72 72

100 (previous year: 100) ordinary shares of Rand 1 each of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, 
South Africa

 512 512

206 (previous year: 206) equity shares of US $ 0.01 each of Trigenesis Therapeutics Inc, U.S.A.  497 497

16,033 (previous year : 16,033 Euro 1.71 each) equity shares of Euro 1 each of Lacock Holdings Limited, 
Cyprus

 16,146 16,146

140,526,270 (previous year : 140,526,270) Series “A” shares of Peso 1 each of Industrias Quimicas Falcon de 
Mexico, S.A.de.C.V., Mexico  709 709

5,566,000 (previous year : 5,566,000) ordinary shares of Euro 1 each of Reddy Pharma Iberia, Spain  321 321

1,000,000 (previous year: 1,000,000) ordinary shares of Aus $ 1 each of Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) 
Pty. Limited., Australia  36 51

75,640,410  (previous year : 75,640,410) ordinary shares of CHF 1 each of Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories SA, 
Switzerland

 2,951  2,951 

Equity shares of Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories ILAC TICARET Limited SIRKETI, Turkey (b and c)  -  - 

50,000 (previous year: 50,000) equity shares of ` 1/- each of Dr.Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited  1  1 
2,377,826 (previous year: 2,377,826) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Idea2Enterprises India Private Limited, 
India  1,447  1,447 

 25,513  25,501 

Less: Provision for decline, other than temporary, in the value of non current investments (f and g)  (3,387)  (1,287)

Total Unquoted trade investments in equity shares of subsidiary companies, net  22,126  24,214 

Preference shares (fully paid up)

14,750,000 (previous year: 14,750,000) 8% cumulative redeemable preference shares of ` 10/- each of 
Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India

 147 147

Total Unquoted trade investments in preference shares of subsidiary companies  147 147
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 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

In joint venture

Equity shares held in Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Co. Limited, China (b)  429 429

Less: Provision for decline, other than temporary, in the value of non current investments (g)  -  (175)

Total Unquoted trade investments in equity shares of joint venture companies  429  254 

In associates

Nil (previous year : 9,999) ordinary shares of Macred India Private Limited, India (e)  -  - 

In other companies

Equity shares (fully paid-up)

Ordinary shares of Roubles 1,000 each of Biomed Russia Limited, Russia (b)  66 66

200,000 (previous year: 200,000) ordinary shares of ` 10/- each of Altek Engineering Limited, India  2  2 

8,859 (previous year: 8,859) equity shares of ` 100/- each of Jeedimetla Effluent Treatment Limited, India  1  1 

24,000 (previous year: 24,000) equity shares of ` 100/- each of Progressive Effluent Treatment Limited, India  2  2 

20,250 (previous year: 20,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Shivalik Solid Waste Management Limited,  
India (d)

 -  - 

 71  71 

Less: Provision for decline, other than temporary, in the value of non current investments (f)  (69)  (69)

Total Unquoted trade investments in equity shares of other companies, net  2  2 

Total unquoted non current investments (II)  22,704  24,617 

Total Non current investments, net (I + II)  22,707  24,620 

Aggregate cost of quoted investments  3  3 

Aggregate cost of unquoted investments  26,160  26,148 

Market value of quoted investments  25  33 

(a)	 In respect of shares of State Bank of India, the share certificates were misplaced during transfer/lost in transit. The Company has initiated necessary legal action at 

the appropriate courts.

(b)	 Shares held in Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Co. Limited, China (Reddy Kunshan), OOO JV Reddy Biomed Limited, Russia, OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories 

Limited, Russia, Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories ILAC TICARET Limited SIRKETI, Turkey and Biomed Russia Limited, Russia are not denominated in number of shares as per 

the laws of the respective countries.

(c)	 Represents equity shares of Dr.Reddy’s Laboratories ILAC TICARET Limited SIRKETI, Turkey amounting to ` 161 thousands (previous year: ` 161 thousands) (rounded 

off in millions in the note above).

(d)	 Represents 20,250 (previous year: 20,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Shivalik Solid Waste Management Limited, India amounting to ` 202 thousands (previous 

year: ` 200 thousands) (rounded off in millions in the note above).

(e)	 Represents Nil (previous year: 9,999) ordinary shares of Macred India Private Limited, India amounting to ` Nil (previous year: ` 100 thousands) (rounded off in 

millions in the note above). During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had sold 80% of its stake in Macred India Private Limited and accordingly 

was classified as an associate. Further, during the current year ended 31 March 2012, the Company has sold the balance 20% stake in Macred India Private 

Limited.

(f)	 During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had converted its advance to Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda, Brazil to equity and a 

corresponding provision of ` 499 for decline other than temporary, in the value of long term investment. Further, the Company had provided ` 58 for decline other 

than temporary, in the value of investment of Reddy Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong and ` 2 had been written off on dissolution of partnership in 

Globe Enterprises, India.

(g)	 During the current year ended 31 March 2012, there have been certain significant changes in the German generics market which are likely to cause an adverse 

impact on the price realization of some of the company’s products. Pursuant to such adverse market developments, the Company has created a provision of 

` 2,100 for diminution, other than temporary, in value of long term investments in Lacock Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the company. Further, 

an amount of ` 175 representing a provision created in earlier years for decline in the long-term investment in Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Co. Limited, 

a joint venture company, was reversed owing to its improved business performance.

Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.8 : 	 Non current investments ( continued )
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.9 : Long term loans and advances

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Unsecured)

Considered good

Security Deposits  330  292 

Capital advances for purchase of fixed assets  200  244 

Loans to wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiary companies, joint venture and associates  5,775  8,571 

Others

Other advances  13  10 

Considered doubtful

Loans and advances to a wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiaries, joint venture and 
associates

 76  67 

 6,394  9,184 

Less: Provision for doubtful loans and advances  (76)  (67)

 6,318  9,117 

Loans to wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiary companies, joint ventures and associates comprise:

Balance as at 

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India  -  9 

DRL Investments Limited, India  2,549  2,712 

Cheminor Investments Limited, India (b)  -  - 

Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands  264  232 

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil  232  231 

Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India (b)  -  - 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa  10  9 

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus  695  3,687 

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA de C.V., Mexico  1,604  1,463 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty Limited, Australia  475  275 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Romania SRL, Romania  22  20 

 5,851  8,638 

(a)   The settlement of loans and advances to wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiary companies, joint venture and associates is neither palnned 
nor likely to occur in the next twelve months.  Loans given to Reddy Antilles N. V., Netherlands, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Romania, SRL, Romania. Cheminor 
Investments Limited, India and  Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India are interest free. Other loans carry the following rates of interest : 

Loan to Interest rate per annum

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa 6%

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus 4.75%

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, S.A.de.C.V. (Falcon) MXN TIIE 28d plus 1.5%

DRL Investments Limited, India 2%

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty Limited, Australia
NAB Overdraft rate till December 2011 and 6% 
thereafter

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil 6%

(b)   Amounts in ` Thousands (rounded off in millions in the note above)

Balance as at

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Cheminor Investments Limited, India  7  7 

Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India  485  - 

 492  7 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.10 : Current investments

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

Current Investments at cost or fair value whichever is less

Quoted investments

In Mutual Fund

910,106.56 (previous year: Nil) units of BSL Cash Manager Institutional Plan  155  - 

347,674.86 (previous year: Nil) units of UTI Market Fund  415  - 

30,289,629.44 (previous year: Nil) units of IDFC Money Manager Fund  500  - 

19,212,000.58 (previous year: Nil) units of Reliance Liquid Fund  500  - 

22,536,633.30 (previous year: Nil) units of Reliance Medium Term Fund  500  - 

Total quoted current investments  2,070  - 

Market value of quoted investments 2,080 --

2.11 :  Inventories

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Valued on weighted average basis)

Raw materials  5,746  4,253 

Goods-in-transit  21  70

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (461)  (343)

Net  5,306  3,980 

Work-in-progress  4,954  4,056

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (492)  (478)

Net  4,462  3,578 

Finished goods  2,042  1,962

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (105)  (159)

Net  1,937  1,803 

Stock-in-trade (in respect of goods acquired for trading)  650  580 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (119)  (77)

Net  531  503 

Stores and spares  450  277 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (52)  (36)

Net  398  241 

Packing materials  717  594 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (83)  (67)

Net  633  527 

 13,267  10,632 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.12 : Trade Receivables

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Unsecured)

Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months 

           Considered good  169  308 

           Considered doubtful  202  139 

Other debts

           Considered good  19,266  17,397 

 19,637  17,844 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (202)  (139)

 19,435  17,705 

2.13 : Cash and bank balances

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

                 

Cash on hand  4  5 

Bank balances

    In current accounts  794  614 

    In EEFC accounts  102  22 

    In term deposit accounts  500  - 

Cash and cash equivalents (A)  1,400  641 

    In unclaimed dividend accounts  23  20 

    In unclaimed fractional share pay order accounts  1  1 

    In unclaimed debenture interest account  7  - 

    In term deposit accounts  7,059  - 

Other bank balances (B)  7,090  21 

Total cash and bank balances (A+B)  8,490  662 

(a)   Term Deposits in other bank balances include ` 9 (previous year: ` 0.3)  representing margin money for letters of credit and bank guarantees.

2.14 : Short term loans and advances

As at
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

(Unsecured)

Considered good

Advances to material suppliers  525  386 

Staff loans and advances  148  124 

Advance tax (net of provision for income taxes ` 13,107; previous year: ` 9,663)  523  32 

MAT credit entitlement  -  831 

Balances with statutory / government authorities  3,765  4,029 

Prepaid expenses  151  164 

Other Advances  186  212 

Considered doubtful

Other advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  58  47 

 5,356  5,825 

Less: Provision for doubtful loans and advances  (58)  (47)

 5,298  5,778 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.15 : Other current assets

As at
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

Considered good

Claims receivable  66  92 

Interest accrued but not due  34  - 

Derivative financial asset  -  777 

Other receivables from wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiary companies, joint venture and 
associates

 577  881 

Considered doubtful

Advance towards investment  8  248 

 685  1,998 

Less: Provision for doubtful advances  (8)  (248)

 677  1,750 

Other receivables from wholly owned subsidiary companies, step down subsidiary companies, joint ventures and associates comprise:

 Balance as at 

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India  41  67 

Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands  15  14 

Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India  69  69 

APR LLC, USA  -  380 

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA de C.V., Mexico (a)  10  - 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland  344  512 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty Limited, Australia  85  74 

Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited, India  4  4 

Dr. Reddy’s SRL, Italy  8  - 

Chirotech Technology Limited, U.K.  1  - 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (U.K.) Ltd., U.K.  -  1 

Dr.Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited,India (a)  -  - 

 577  1,121 

(a)  Amounts in ` Thousands (rounded off in millions in the note above)

 Balance as at 

3 1  Ma  r c h  2 0 1 2 3 1  Ma  r c h  2 0 1 1

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA de C.V., Mexico  -  285 

Dr. Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited, India  -  175 

 -  460 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.16 : Other operating revenue

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Sale of spent chemicals  381  254 

Scrap sales  100  78 

Royalty income from subsidiary  53  13 

Miscellaneous income  185  209 

 719  554 

2.17 : Other income

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Interest income

          On fixed deposits  303  83 

          On loans to subsidiaries and joint venture  301  362 

          On other deposits  10  10 

Dividend from mutual fund units  2  58 

Profit on sale of current investments, net  158  10 

Foreign exchange gain, net  -  574 

Miscellaneous income  44  99 

 818  1,196 

2.18 : Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Net (increase) / decrease in stock

Opening

Work-in-progress 3,578 3,508 

Finished goods 1,802 1,219 

Stock in trade 503 5,883 366 5,093 

Closing

Work-in-progress 4,462 3,578 

Finished goods 1,938 1,802 

Stock in trade 531 6,931 503 5,883 

Net (increase) (1,048) (790)
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.19 : Employee benefits expense

For the year  ended
31 March 2012

For the year  ended
31 March 2011

Salaries, wages and bonus  7,156  5,920 

Contribution to provident and other funds  353  398 

Staff welfare expenses  749  688 

Amortisation of deferred stock compensation expense  403  268 

 8,661  7,274 

2.20 : Finance costs

For the year  ended
31 March 2012

For the year  ended
31 March 2011

Interest expense

Interest on packing credit loan  159  38 

Interest on debentures  470  10 

 629  48 

Other borrowing costs  7  5 

 636  53 

2.21 : Research and development expenses

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Personnel costs  1,512  1,341 

Clinical trial expenses  1,281  1,194 

Consumables / spares  1,728  1,562 

Legal and professional charges  143  181 

Power and fuel  101  86 

Other expenses  1,048  764 

 5,813  5,128 
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Note 2 :  Notes to Accounts ( continued )

2.22 : Other expenses

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Consumption of stores and spare parts  767  834 

Advertisements  597  210 

Commission on sales  215  155 

Carriage outward  2,004  1,594 

Other selling expenses  3,434  2,811 

Repairs and maintenance

              Buildings  127  45 

              Plant and machinery  1,126  1,019 

              Others  535  540 

Power and fuel  1,775  1,446 

Legal and professional  1,545  1,412 

Travelling and conveyance  602  527 

Non Executive Directors’ remuneration  54  21 

Directors’ sitting fees (previous year: ` 409 thousands, rounded off in millions)  1  - 

Foreign exchange loss, net  779  - 

Communication  232  210 

Rent  157  140 

Rates and taxes  107  138 

Donations  163  130 

Printing and stationery  95  90 

Insurance  120  76 

Bank charges  56  46 

Loss on sale of fixed assets, net  33  12 

Auditors’ remuneration

           Audit fees  11  9 

           Out of pocket expenses  3  2 

Provision for doubtful debts, net 103  (2)

Provision for doubtful advances, net  (87)  (438)

Miscellaneous 570  440 

 15,124  11,467 

2.23 : Income taxes

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Current taxes

Domestic taxes  3,444  2,159 

MAT credit utilisation/ (entitlement)  831  (831)

Total current taxes  4,275  1,328 

Deferred taxes

Domestic taxes  (807)  257 

Total deferred taxes  (807)  257 

 3,468  1,585 
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Note 2: Notes to the  accounts ( continued )

2.24 :	C ommitments and contingent liabilities

As at 
31 March 2012

As at 
31 March 2011

i) Commitments / contingent liabilities: 

(a) Guarantees issued by banks 154 119

(b) Guarantees issued by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries, associates and  joint venture 17,039 11,070

(c) Letters of credit outstanding 714 437

(d) Contingent consideration payable in respect of subsidiaries acquired - 12

ii) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts in respect of:

(a) Income tax matters, pending decisions on various appeals made by the Company and by the Depart-

ment

432 431

(b) Excise matters (including service tax), under dispute 250 127

(c) Custom matters, under dispute - 97

(d) Sales tax matters, under dispute 237 170

(e) The company has received demand for payment to the credit of the Drug Prices Equalisation Account under Drugs (Price Control) Order, 1995 for few of its 

products which are being contested. based on its best estimate, the Company has made a provision in its books of accounts towards the potential liability 

related to the principal and interest amount demanded under the aforesaid order and believes that possibility of any liability that may arise on account of 

penalty on this demand is remote.

iii) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (net of 

advances)

 2,231 3,365

iv)   Commitment under Export Promotion Capital Goods (EPCG) scheme 3,982 9,054

v)   The Company is also involved in other lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including patent and commercial matters, which arise in the ordinary course 

of business. However, there are no material claims on such cases.

2.25 :	D eferred taxation

Deferred tax liability, net included in the balance sheet comprises of the following:

As at 
31 March 2012

As at 
31 March 2011

Deferred tax assets

Trade receivables 56 -

Other long term liabilities and current liabilities 747 222

Short term loans and advances 18 15

821 237

Deferred tax liability

Trade receivables - (194)

Fixed Assets (1,021) (1,051)

(1,021) (1,245)

Deferred tax liability, net (200) (1,008)
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2.26 : 	Earnings per share (EPS)

	 The computation of eps is set out below:

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Earnings

Net profit for the year 9,124 8,934

Shares         

Number of shares at the beginning of the year 169,252,732 168,845,385

Add: Equity shares issued on exercise of vested stock options 307,614 407,347

Total number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 169,560,346 169,252,732

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year – Basic 169,470,729 169,128,649

Add: Weighted average number of equity shares arising out of outstanding stock options (net of the stock 
options forfeited) that have dilutive effect on the EPS

861,213 993,394

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year – Diluted 170,331,942 170,122,043

Earnings per share of par value ` 5/- – Basic (`) 53.83 52.82

Earnings per share of par value `  5/- – Diluted (`) 53.56 52.51

2.27 :	R elated party disclosures

a.	 Related parties where control exists or where significant influence exists and with whom transactions have taken place during the current and previous 

year:

	 Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries

	   1.	 DRL Investments Limited, India;

	   2.	 Reddy Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong;

	   3.	 OOO Alfa, Russia (formerly OOO JV Reddy Biomed Limited);

	   4.	 Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands;

	   5.	 Reddy Netherlands BV, Netherlands;

	   6.	 Reddy US Therapeutics Inc., USA;

	   7.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA;

	   8.	 Reddy Cheminor S.A., France;

	   9.	 Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil;

	 10.	 Cheminor Investments Limited, India;

	 11.	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India;

	 12.	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Inc., USA;

	 13.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, UK;

	 14.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (UK) Limited, UK;

	 15.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa;

	 16.	 OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia;

	 17.	 Promius Pharma LLC (formerly Reddy Pharmaceuticals LLC, USA);

	 18.	 Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India;

	 19.	 Globe Enterprises (a partnership firm in India) (dissolved on 1 July 2010);

	 20.	 Trigenesis Therapeutics Inc., USA;

	 21.	 Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA.de.C.V., Mexico;

	 22.	 betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany;

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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	 23.	 beta Healthcare Solutions GmbH, Germany;

	 24.	 beta institute fur sozialmedizinische Forschung und Entwicklung GmbH, Germany;

	 25.	 Reddy Holding GmbH, Germany;

	 26.	 Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus;

	 27.	 Reddy Pharma Iberia SA, Spain;

	 28.	 Reddy Pharma Italia SPA, Italy;

	 29.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty. Limited, Australia;

	 30.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland;

	 31.	 Eurobridge Consulting B.V., Netherlands;

	 32.	 OOO DRS LLC, Russia;

	 33.	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd;

	 34.	 Dr. Reddy’s New Zealand Limited, New Zealand (formerly Affordable Health Care Limited);

	 35.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories ILAC TICARET Limited SIRKETI, Turkey;

	 36.	 Dr. Reddy’s SRL, Italy (formerly Jet Generici SRL);

	 37.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Lousiana LLC, USA;

	 38.	 Chirotech Technology Limited, UK;  

	 39.	 Dr. Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited, India;

	 40.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories International SA, Switzerland;

	 41.	 Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited, India (from 30 June 2010);

	 42.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Romania SRL, Romania (from 7 June 2010);

	 43.	 I-Ven Pharma Capital Limited, India (from 6 October 2010); 

	 44.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Tennessee, LLC, USA (from 7 October 2010);

	 45.	 Dr. Reddy’s Venezuela, C.A., Venezuela (from 20 October 2010);

	 46.	 Macred India Private Limited, India (till 18 July 2010);

	 47.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Canada) Inc, Canada (from 11 June 2010)

	 48.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories New York, Inc, USA (from 24 May 2011); and

	 49.	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, LLC Ukraine (from 11 May 2011)

Associates

n	 APR LLC, USA (till 8 July 2011)	 100% Holding in class ‘B’ equity shares

n	 Macred India Private Limited, India 	 20% Holding in equity shares

	 (from 19 July 2010 till 24 February 2012)		

	 Joint venture 

n	 Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical	 Enterprise over which the Company exercises 

	 Company Limited (“Reddy Kunshan”), China	 joint control with other joint venture partners and holds 51.33 % equity stake.	

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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	 Enterprises where principal shareholders have control or significant influence (“Significant interest entities”)

n	 Dr. Reddy’s Research Foundation	 Enterprise over which the principal shareholders have significant influence

	 (“Research Foundation”)	

n	 Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited	 Enterprise owned by principal shareholders

n	 Institute of Life Sciences	 Enterprise over which principal shareholders have significant influence

n	 Ecologic Technologies Limited	 Enterprise over which principal shareholders have significant influence

	 Others

n	 Green Park Hotels and Resorts Limited	 Enterprise owned by relative of a director

	 (formerly Diana Hotels Limited)

n	 Ms. K Samrajyam	 Spouse of Chairman

n	 Ms. G Anuradha	 Spouse of Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

n	 Ms. Deepthi Reddy	 Spouse of Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer

n	 Dr. Reddy’s Foundation for Human and 	 Enterprise where principal shareholders are 

	 Social development	 trustees

n	 S R Enterprises	 Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence 

	 n	 K K Enterprises	 Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence 

	 n	 A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited	 Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence		

	 Key Management Personnel represented on the Board

	 n	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

	 n	 Mr. G V Prasad 	 Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

	 n	 Mr. K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer

	 Non-Executive and Independent Directors on the Board	 	

	 n	 Dr. Omkar Goswami

	 n	 Mr. Ravi Bhoothalingam

	 n	 Mr. Anupam Puri

	 n	 Dr. J P Moreau

	 n	 Ms. Kalpana Morparia

	 n	 Dr. Bruce L A Carter

	 n	 Dr. Ashok Sekhar Ganguly

	 n	 Sridar Iyenger (from 22 August 2011)

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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b.	 Particulars of related party transactions

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions:

 
 

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

     i. Sales to:    

  Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:  

  Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 20,498 13,280

  OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia 4,491 3,659

  Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (UK) Limited, UK 1,612 1,407

  Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 5,087 3,687

  betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany 1,151 1,342

  Others 1,620 851

  Total 34,459 24,226

  Others:  

  A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited  640 391

  Macred India Private Limited 4 -

  Total 644 391

ii. Interest income from subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus 88 166

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, S.A.de.C.V., Mexico 105 97

DRL Investments Limited, India 52 26

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda, Brazil 13 37

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty. Limited, Australia 43 27

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland - 9

Total 301 362

iii. Royalty income from subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa - 13

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 53 -

Total 53 13

iv. Service income from:

Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 193 134

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (U.K.) Limited, U.K. - 1

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, U.K. - 6

Chirotech Technology Limited, UK 18 -

Total 211 141

Others:

Ecologic Technologies limited 1 -

Note 2 : Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

v. Licence fees, net from subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 16 2

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 30 -

Total 46 2

vi. Commission on Guarantee from subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 61 24

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 18 -

Total 79 24

vii. Rent from Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India  17 -

Total  17 -

viii. Purchases from:

Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 84 344

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, UK  25 37

Others 20 12

 Total 129 393

Others:

A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 1,020 486

Others - 1

Total 1,020 487

ix. Royalty

 I-VEN Pharma Capital Limited 247 200

x. Operating expenses paid / reimbursed to Subsidiaries:

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil 18 -

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA                                            586 945

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 2 163

Promius Pharma LLC 39 212

OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia 368 -

Chirotech Technology Limited, UK 145 21

Reddy US Therapeutics Inc., USA 14 22

Others 12 41

Total 1,184 1,404

xi. Contributions made to others for social development:

Dr. Reddy’s Foundation for Human and Social development 79 88

Total 79 88

xii. Contribution made to subsidiaries and others for research and development:

Institute of Life Sciences 48 37

Total 48 37

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

xiii. Hotel expenses paid to:

Green Park Hotels & Resorts Limited (formerly Diana Hotels Limited) 19 20

xiv. Rent paid to:

Key management personnel:

Mr. K Satish Reddy 14 14

Total 14 14

Others:

Ms. G Anuradha 12 12

Ms. Deepthi Reddy 3 2

Ms. K Samrajyam 1 1

Total 16 15

xv. Executive Directors’ remuneration 271 262

Directors’ sitting fees (previous year: ` 409 thousands, rounded off in millions) 1 -

xvi. Investment in subsidiaries, joint venture and associates during the year:

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus - 718

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda, Brazil - 536

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa - 512

Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited, India - 1,447

Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands 27 -

Total 27 3,213

xvii. Provision for other than temporary diminution in the value of long-term investments:

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda, Brazil - 499

Reddy Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong - 58

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus 2,100 -

Total 2,100 557

xviii. Reversal of provision for decline in the value of long-term investments:

Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Limited (“Reddy Kunshan”), China 175 -

xix. Provision for decline in the value of long-term investments written off:

Globe Enterprises (a partnership firm in India) - 2

xx. Provision for loans given to subsidiary and associate:

APR LLC, USA - 133

xxi. Reversal of provision for loans given to subsidiary and associate:

APR LLC, USA 240 -

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil - 581

xxii. Provision created towards dues from subsidiaries / including step down subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures (included in sundry debtors)

OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia - 2

Reddy Cheminor S.A., France - 5

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

xxiii. Guarantee given / (released) on behalf of a subsidiary / joint venture:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 601 8,795

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 2,470 -

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus - (14,388)

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India (180) -

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited,  UK - 83

betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany 3,054 -

Others (7) 53

Total 5,938 (5,457)

xxiv. Reimbursement of operating and other expenses by subsidiary / associate: 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 1,608 866

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 32 11

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India 137 9

betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany 40 -

Others 48 13

Total 1,865 899

xxv. Advances given to / (repaid by) subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures (including interest charged) :

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, India (9) (316)

Reddy Antilles N.V., Netherlands - (1)

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda., Brazil (29) (526)

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA - (9)

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa - 1

APRLLC, USA - 260

Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus (3,111) 46

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA de C.V., Mexico 44 41

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland - (1,600)

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty Limited, Australia 147 128

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, UK - (16)

Chirotech Technologies Limited, UK - (15)

DRL Investments Limited, India (163) 2,703

Dr. Reddy’s Bio-sciences Limited, India - 7

Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited, India - 4

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Romania SRL, Romania 2 20

Total (3,119) 727

2.27 :	 Related party disclosures  ( continued )
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Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.27 :	R elated party disclosures  ( continued )

c.	 The Company has the following amounts dues from / to related parties:

 
 

Particulars
as at

31 March 2012
as at

31 March 2011

i. Due from related parties:

Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (included in trade 
receivables):

betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany 833 643

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland - 1,965

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (U.K.) Limited, U.K. 189 242

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 7,543 6,587

OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia 2,621 1,572

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa 340 264

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico, SA de C.V., Mexico 617 28

Others 315 346

Total 12,458 11,647

Others (included in trade receivables):

A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 214 114

Ecologic Technologies limited 1 -

Total 215 114

ii. Provision outstanding at the end of the year towards dues from subsidiaries including step down 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (included in trade receivables):

OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, Russia 9 9

Reddy Cheminor S.A., France 5 5

Total 14 14

iii. Due to related parties (included in trade payables and other current liabilities):

Subsidiaries including step down subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures:

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, Switzerland 2,174 1,944

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., USA 706 634

Promius Pharma LLC, USA 12 62

Reddy US Therapeutics Inc., USA 25 23

I-VEN Pharma Capital Limited, India 86 147

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, UK - 43

Chirotech Technologies Limited, UK 106 -

betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH, Germany 168 1

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa 204 4

Others 20 74

Total 3,501 2,932

Significant interest entities:

Dr. Reddy’s Research Foundation 20 21

Others:

A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 95 81

Equity held in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture has been disclosed under “Non current investments” (Note 2.8). Loans and advances to subsidiaries, joint venture 
and associates have been disclosed under “Long term loans and advances” (Note 2.9). Other receivables from subsidiaries, associates and joint venture have been 
disclosed under “Other current assets” (Note 2.15)
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Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended 

31 March 2011

Audit feesa)	 11 9

b) 	 Other charges

      Taxation matters* - -

      Other matters 1 -

c)	 Reimbursement of out of pocket expenses 3 2

15 11

* represents amount of ` 400 thousands, rounded off in millions above

2.29 : 	Interest in joint venture

The Company has 51.33 percent interest in Reddy Kunshan, a joint venture in China. Reddy Kunshan is engaged in manufacturing and marketing of active 

pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates and formulations in China. The contractual arrangement between shareholders of Reddy Kunshan indicates joint 

control as the minority shareholders, along with the Company, have significant participating rights such that they jointly control the operations of Reddy Kunshan. 

The aggregate amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the Company’s share in Reddy Kunshan as at and for the year ended 31 March 2012 

are given below:

Particulars
as at

31 March 2012
as at 

31 March 2011

Balance Sheet

Short term borrowings 48 39

Fixed assets, net 116 85

Deferred tax assets, net 6 4

Inventories 95 77

Trade receivables 138 106

Cash and bank balances 28 22

Short term loans and advances 145 52

Current liabilities 227 141

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (net of 

advances)
2 1

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.28 :	 Auditor’s remuneration
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Particulars
For the year ended

 31 March 2012
For the year ended

 31 March 2011

Statement of Profit and Loss

Income

Sales 636 420

Other income  6 3

Expenditure

Material costs 172 116

Employee benefits expense 153 103

Operating and other expenses 242 186

Research and development 7 5

Finance costs 4 2

Depreciation 3 4

Profit before taxation 61 7

Provision for taxation

- Deferred tax expense (8) (4)

Profit after taxation 53 3

2.30 :	E mployee stock option scheme 

Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Plan‑2002 (the DRL 2002 Plan): The Company instituted the DRL 2002 Plan for all eligible employees in pursuance 

of the special resolution approved by the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting held on 24 September 2001. The DRL 2002 Plan covers all employees 

of DRL and its subsidiaries and directors (excluding promoter directors) of DRL and its subsidiaries (collectively, “eligible employees”). Under the Scheme, the 

Compensation Committee of the Board (‘the Committee’) shall administer the Scheme and grant stock options to eligible directors and employees of the 

Company and its subsidiaries. The Committee shall determine the employees eligible for receiving the options, the number of options to be granted, the exercise 

price, the vesting period and the exercise period. The vesting period is determined for the options issued on the date of the grant. The options issued under the 

DRL 2002 plan vests in periods ranging between one and four years and generally have a maximum contractual term of five years.

The DRL 2002 Plan was amended on 28 July 2004 at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders to provide for stock options grants in two categories:

Category A: 1,721,700 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 

underlying equity shares on the date of grant; and

Category B: 573,778 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having an exercise price equal to the par value of the underlying 

equity shares (i.e., ` 5/- per option). 

The DRL 2002 Plan was further amended on 27 July 2005 at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders to provide for stock option grants in two categories:

Category A: 300,000 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 

underlying equity shares on the date of grant; and

Category B: 1,995,478 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having exercise price equal to the par value of the underlying 

equity shares (i.e., ` 5/- per option).

The fair market value of a share on each grant date falling under Category A above is defined as the average closing price (after adjustment of Bonus issue) for 

30 days prior to the grant, in the stock exchange where there is highest trading volume during that period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compensation 

Committee may, after getting the approval of the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting, grant options with a per share exercise price other than fair market 

value and par value of the equity shares.

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )
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After the issue of bonus shares by the Company in August 2006, the DRL 2002 Plan provides for stock options granted in the above two categories as follows:

Particulars
Number of options 

under Category A
Number of options 

under Category B
Total

Options reserved under original plan 300,000 1,995,478 2,295,478

Options exercised prior to stock dividend date (A) 94,061 147,793 241,854

Balance of Shares that can be allotted on exercise of Options (B) 205,939 1,847,685 2,053,624

Options arising from Stock dividend (C) 205,939 1,847,685 2,053,624

Options reserved after stock dividend (A+B+C) 505,939 3,843,163 4,349,102

As the number of shares that an individual employee is entitled to receive and the price of the option are known at the grant date, the scheme is considered as 

a fixed grant.

In the case of termination of employment, all unvested options would stand cancelled. Options that have vested but have not been exercised can be exercised 

within the time prescribed under each option agreement by the Committee or if no time limit is prescribed, within three months of the date of employment 

termination, failing which they would stand cancelled. 

During the current year, the Company under the DRL 2002 Plan has issued 262,520 category B options to eligible employees. The vesting period for the options 

granted varies from 12 to 48 months.

The date of grant, number of options granted, exercise price fixed by the Compensation Committee for respective options and the market price of the shares of 

the Company on the date of grant is given below:

Date of grant Number of options granted Exercise price (` )
Market price (` )

(As per SEBI Guidelines)

12 May 2011 251,920 5.00 1,598.90

13 May 2011 9,600 5.00 1,598.55

7 June 2011 1,000 5.00 1,607.40

Stock option activity under the DRL 2002 Plan for the two categories of options was as follows:

Category A – Fair Market Value Options Year ended 31 March 2012

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices

Weighted-average 
exercise price

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 21,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 444.45 67

Grants during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year - - - -

Exercised during the year (10,000) 448.00 448.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 11,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 441.23 65

Exercisable at the end of the year 1,000 ` 373.50 ` 373.50 19
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Category A – Fair Market Value Options Year ended 31 March 2011

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 100,000 ` 362.50-531.51 ` 403.02 38

Grants during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year (9,000)       373.50- 531.51  443.73 -

Exercised during the year (70,000)  362.50-442.50 385.36 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 21,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 444.45 67

Exercisable at the end of the year 11,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 441.23 55

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March 2012

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year     697,161 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 72

Granted during the year 262,520  5.00  5.00 91

Forfeited during the year (61,842) 5.00 5.00 -

Exercised during the year (254,683) 5.00 5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 643,156 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 70

Exercisable at the end of the year 70,551 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 38

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March 2011

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year     785,007      ` 5.00 ` 5.00 72

Granted during the year 284,070  5.00 5.00 91

Forfeited during the year (78,620) 5.00 5.00 -

Exercised during the year (293,296) 5.00 5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year     697,161 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 72

Exercisable at the end of the year      52,106 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 41

Dr. Reddy’s Employees ADR Stock Option Plan‑2007 (“the DRL 2007 Plan”): 

The Company instituted the DRL 2007 Plan for all eligible employees in pursuance of the special resolution approved by the shareholders in the Annual General 

Meeting held on 27 July 2005. The DRL 2007 Plan came into effect on approval of the Board of Directors on 22 January 2007. The DRL 2007 Plan covers all 

employees of DRL and its subsidiaries and directors (excluding promoter directors) of DRL and its subsidiaries (collectively, “eligible employees”). Under the DRL 

2007 Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) shall administer the DRL 2007 Plan and grant stock options to eligible 

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Compensation Committee shall determine the employees eligible for receiving the options, the number of 

options to be granted, the exercise price, the vesting period and the exercise period. The vesting period is determined for all options issued on the date of the 

grant. The options issued under the DRL 2007 plan vest in periods ranging between one and four years and generally have a maximum contractual term of five 

years.  

During the current year, the Company under the DRL 2007 Plan has issued 56,060 options to eligible employees. The vesting period for the options granted varies 

from 12 to 48 months.
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The date of grant, number of options granted, exercise price fixed by the Committee for respective options and the market price of the shares of the Company 

on the date of grant is given below:

Date of grant Number of options granted Exercise price (` )
Market price (Rupees)

(As per SEBI Guidelines)

12 May 2011 48,860 5.00 1,598.90

13 May 2011 7,200 5.00 1,598.55

Stock option activity under the DRL 2007 Plan was as follows:

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March 2012

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 124,559 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Granted during the year 56,060  5.00 5.00 89

Forfeited during the year (19,789) 5.00 5.00 -

Exercised during the year (42,931) 5.00 5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 117,899 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 73

Exercisable at the end of the year 6,564 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 47

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March 2011

PARTICULARS
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 112,390 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Granted during the year 58,660 5.00 5.00 89

Forfeited during the year (2,440) 5.00 5.00 -

Exercised during the year (44,051) 5.00 5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 124,559 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Exercisable at the end of the year 3,364 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 49

The Company has followed intrinsic method of accounting based on which a compensation expense of ` 403 (previous year: ` 268) has been recognized in the 

statement of profit and loss (Refer Note 2.19).  
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2.31 :	D etails of imported and indigenous raw materials, spare parts, chemicals, packing materials and components consumed

Particulars

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Value
% of total 

consumption
Value

% of total 
consumption

Raw material, packing material and chemicals

Imported 4,704 27% 6,927 52%

Indigenous 12,683 73% 6,424 48%

17,386 13,351

Stores and spares

Imported 47 6% 50 6%

Indigenous 719 94% 784 94%

767 834

2.32 :	CIF  value of imports  

PARTICULARS
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

Raw materials 6,914 5,337

Capital equipment (including spares and components) 2,285 2,773

9,199 8,110

2.33 :	E arnings in foreign currency

PARTICULARS
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended 

31 March 2011

Exports on FOB basis 48,405 36,718

Interest on loan to subsidiaries 249 336

Service income and license fees 581 310

Royalty income 53 13

Guarantee Commission 79 24

Others - 76

49,367 37,477

2.34	 Expenditure in foreign currency

PARTICULARS
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

Travelling 78 51

Legal and professional fees 946 1,131

Bio-studies expenses 396 229

Interest on Loan 228 75

Others 4,445 3,617

6,093 5,103
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2.35 :	H edges of foreign currency risks and Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to exchange rate risk which arises from its foreign exchange revenues and expenses, primarily in U.S. dollars, British pound sterling, 

Russian roubles and Euros, and foreign currency debt in U.S. dollars, Russian roubles and Euros. 

The Company uses forward contracts and option contracts (derivatives) to mitigate its risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, the Company 

uses non-derivative financial instruments as part of its foreign currency exposure risk mitigation strategy.

During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Company adopted the Accounting Standard (AS)-32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” as issued by ICAI, 

to the extent that the adoption does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements, Company law and 

other regulatory requirements. The objective of this standard is to provide information relating to various financial instruments that the Company holds along 

with the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed to. Further, the standard requires disclosure for the risk 

management strategies that management adopts to address the specific risk factors to the extent they are considered to be material.

Hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions

The Company classifies its derivative contracts that hedge foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges and 

measures them at fair value. The effective portion of such cash flow hedges is recorded as part of reserves and surplus within the Company’s “hedging reserve”, 

and re-classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions. The ineffective portion 

is immediately recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

The Company also designates certain non-derivative financial liabilities, such as foreign currency borrowings from banks, as hedging instruments for the hedge 

of foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions and, accordingly, applies cash flow hedge accounting for such relationships. 

Re-measurement gain / loss on such non-derivative financial liabilities is recorded as part of reserves and surplus within the Company’s “hedging reserve”, and  

re-classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions.

In respect of the aforesaid hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions, the Company has recorded, in reserves and surplus, a net loss of ` 28 and a net 

loss of ` 242 for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Company also recorded, as part of revenue, a net loss of ` 344 and a net gain of 

 ` 263 during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The net carrying amount of the Company’s “hedging reserve” was a loss of ` 3 as at 31 March 2012, as compared to a gain of ` 25 as at 31 March 2011.

The table below summarises the periods when the forecasted cash flows associated with hedging instruments are expected to occur : 

PARTICULARS
As at

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

Cash flows in U.S. Dollars (figures in equivalent rupee millions)

Not later than one month - 669

Later than one months and not later than three months - 758

Later than three months and not later than six months - 1,115

- 2,542

Cash flows in Euro (figures in equivalent rupee millions)

Not later than one month 237 -

Later than one month and not later than three months 204  380

Later than three months and not later than six months - 571

411 951    
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Hedges of recognized assets and liabilities

Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and for which no hedge accounting 

is applied are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. The changes in fair value of such derivative contracts as well as the foreign exchange gains and losses 

relating to the monetary items are recognized as part of foreign exchange gains and losses. 

Fair values of foreign exchange derivative contracts are determined under the Black Scholes Merton technique by using inputs from market observable data and 

other relevant terms of the contract with counter parties which are banks or financial institutions.

In respect of the aforesaid foreign exchange derivative contracts and the ineffective portion of the derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges, the 

Company has recorded, as part of foreign exchange gains and losses, a net loss of ` 1,582 and a net gain of ` 858 for the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, 

respectively.

The following are the outstanding foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into by the Company: 

As at 31 March 2012

Category Currency Cross Currency Amounts in millions Buy / Sell Purpose

Forward Contract USD INR USD 480 Sell Hedging

Forward Contract EUR INR EUR 10 Sell Hedging

Option Contract USD INR USD 374 Sell Hedging

As at 31 March 2011 

Category Currency Cross Currency Amounts in millions Buy / Sell Purpose

Forward Contract USD INR USD 4.5 Buy Hedging

Forward Contract USD INR USD 232 Sell Hedging

The year-end significant foreign currency exposures that have not been hedged by a derivative instrument or otherwise are given below: 

Un-hedged significant foreign currency exposure as on 31st March 2012

Particulars Currency
Foreign Currency in 

millions
Exchange rate `  Millions

Trade Receivables

RUB 758 1.73 1,311

EUR 4 67.87 271

GBP 3 81.46 244

Long term, short term loans and advances 

and other current assests

USD 13 50.88 661

EUR 11 67.87 747

MXN 16 3.99 64

RUB 16 1.73 28

Trade payables, other liabilities  

and provisions

USD 81 50.88 4,121

EUR 5 67.87 339

GBP 2 81.46 163

RUB 72 1.73 125

Short term borrowings (Packing Credit loan) USD 137 50.88 6,971
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Un-hedged significant foreign currency exposure as on 31st March 2011

Particulars Currency
Foreign Currency 

in millions
Exchange rate `  Millions

Trade Receivables
RUB 809 1.57 1,270

GBP 4 71.80 287

Long term, short term loans and advances 
and other current assests

USD 31 44.60 1,382

EUR 3 63.38 190

MXN 19 3.74 71

Trade payables, other liabilities and provisions

USD 89 44.60 3,969

EUR 3 63.38 127

GBP 2 71.80 144

Short term borrowings (Packing Credit loan ) USD 21 44.60 937

2.36 :	F inancial risk management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s primary risk management focus 

is to minimize potential adverse effects of market risk on its financial performance. The Company’s risk management assessment and policies and processes are 

established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor such risks and compliance with the 

same. Risk assessment and management policies and processes are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The 

Board of Directors and the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing Company’s risk assessment and management policies and processes.  

a.	C redit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and 

arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers. Credit risk is managed through credit approvals, establishing credit limits and continuously 

monitoring the credit worthiness of customers to which the Company grants credit terms in the normal course of business. The Company establishes an 

allowance for doubtful debts and impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables and investments. 

Trade and other receivables

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the customer, including 

the default risk of the industry and country, in which the customer operates, also has an influence on credit risk assessment. Credit risk is managed through 

credit approvals, establishing credit limits and continuously monitoring the creditworthiness of customers to which the Company grants credit terms in the 

normal course of business. As at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 the maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to trade and other receivables is ̀  19,435 

and ` 17,705 respectively (net of allowances).

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 

None of the Company’s cash equivalents, including time deposits with banks, are past due or impaired. Trade receivables amounting to ` 16,684 and  

` 14,196 were neither past due nor impaired as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 respectively.

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired 

The Company’s credit period for customers generally ranges from 20 – 180 days. The age analysis of the trade receivables has been considered from the due 

date of the invoice. The ageing of trade receivables that are past due, net of allowance for doubtful receivables, is given below: 

Period (in days)
As at

31 March 2012
As at 

31 March 2011

1 – 90 2,582  3,232

91 –180 - 208

More than 180 169 69

Total 2,751  3,509
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Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

Financial assets that are impaired

The age analysis of the trade receivables that are impaired is given below:

Period (in days)
As at 

31 March, 2012
As at 

31 March ,  2011

1 – 90 -  -

91 – 180 - -

More than 180 202 139

Total 202  139

Loans and advances 

Loans and advances are predominantly given to subsidiaries for the purpose of working capital and capital expansions; and the Company does not consider any 

significant exposure to credit risks associated with such financial assets.

Reconciliation of the allowance account for credit losses

The details of changes in provision for doubtful debts during the year ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 are as follows: 

Particulars 2011-12 2010-11

Balance as at 1 April 139  229

Provision made during the year 132 -

Trade receivable written off during the year (40) (88)

Provision reversed during the year (29) (2)

Balance as at 31 March 202  139

The details of changes in provision for doubtful loans and advances to subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 are as follows: 

Particulars 2011-12 2010-11

Balance as at 1 April 315 763

Provision made during the year - 133

Loans and advances written off during the year (140) -

Provision reversed during the year (88) (581)

Balance as at 31 March 87 315
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b.	L iquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by 

ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risk to the Company’s reputation. 

As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, the Company had unutilized credit limits from banks of ` 14,290 and ` 13,089, respectively.  

As at 31 March 2012, the Company had working capital of ` 18,614 including cash and bank balances of ` 8,490 and current investments of ` 2,070.  

As at 31 March 2011, the Company had working capital of ` 10,490, including cash and bank balances of ` 662. 

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities (other than provisions for employee benefits expense 

which have been disclosed in Note 2.5, obligations under Bonus Debentures which have been disclosed in Note 2.40 and finance leases which have been 

disclosed in Note 2.44).

As at 31 March 2012

Particulars 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Trade payables 7,334  -  -  -  - 7,344

Short term borrowings 10,204 - - - - 10,204

Other liabilities and provisions 12,993 25 2 - - 13,020

As at 31 March 2011

Particulars 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Trade payables  8,069    -  -  -  - 8,069

Short term borrowings 9,311 - - - - 9,311

Other liabilities and provisions 8,495 36 25 2 - 8,558

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees disclosed in Note 2.24 have been provided as counter corporate guarantees to financial institutions and banks that have extended credits 

and other financial assistance to the Company’s subsidiaries. In this regard, the Company does not foresee any significant credit risk exposure.

c. 	M arket risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctuate because of change in market prices. Market risk may arise 

as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other market changes that affect market risk-sensitive instruments. Market 

risk is attributable to all market risk-sensitive financial instruments including foreign currency receivables and payables and long-term debt. The Company is 

exposed to market risk primarily related to foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and the market value of its investments. Thus, the Company’s exposure 

to market risk is a function of investing and borrowing activities and revenue generating and operating activities in foreign currencies.

Foreign exchange risk

The Company’s exchange risk arises from its foreign operations, foreign currency revenues and expenses (primarily in U.S. dollars, British pound sterling and 

Euros) and foreign currency borrowings (in U.S. dollars, Euros and Roubles). A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are in these foreign currencies, 

while a significant portion of its costs are in Indian rupees. As a result, if the value of the Indian rupee appreciates relative to these foreign currencies, 

the Company’s financial performance gets adversely impacted. The exchange rate between the Indian rupee and these foreign currencies has changed 

substantially in recent periods and may continue to fluctuate substantially in the future. Consequently, the Company uses derivative financial instruments, 

such as foreign exchange forward and option contracts, to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates in respect of its forecasted cash 

flows and trade receivables.
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The details in respect of the outstanding foreign exchange forward and option contracts are given in Note 2.35 above.

In respect of the Company’s derivative contracts a 10% decrease/increase in the respective exchange rates of each of the currencies underlying such contracts 

would have resulted in an approximately ` Nil increase/decrease in the Company’s hedging reserve and an approximately ` 3,870 increase/decrease in the 

Company’s net profit as at 31 March 2012.

In respect of the Company’s derivative contracts and non-derivative financial liabilities, a 10% decrease/increase in the respective exchange rates of each of the 

currencies underlying such contracts would have resulted in an approximately ` 349 increase/decrease in the Company’s hedging reserve and an approximately 

` 1,014 increase/decrease in the Company’s net profit as at 31 March 2011.

The following table analyzes foreign currency risk from financial instruments as at 31 March 2012:

U.S. Dollars Euro Others(1) Total

Assets:

Cash and bank balances 102 - 139 241

Trade receivables 12,281 1,863 4,287 18,431

Long term, short term loans and advances and other current assets 1,846 773 470 3,089

Total 14,229 2,636 4,896 21,761

Liabilities:

Trade payables 1,763 108 109 1,980

Long term and short term borrowings 6,949 1,323 1,943 10,215

Other liabilities and provisions 2,375 227 449 3,051

Total 11,087 1,658 2,501 15,246

(1)	 Others include currencies such as Russian roubles, British pound sterlings, Australian dollars, Venezuela bolivars, etc.

The following table analyzes foreign currency risk from financial instruments as at 31 March 2011: 

U.S. Dollars Euro           Others(1) Total

Assets:

Cash and Bank Balances  58 -  54  112

Trade receivables 12,691 1,490 2,050 16,231

Long term, short term loans and advances and other current assets 1,382 187 307 1,876

Total  14,131  1,677  2,411  18,219

Liabilities:

Trade payables  2,567  139  228  2,934

Long term and short term borrowings 3,285 1,521 - 4,806

Other liabilities and provisions 1,584 72 430 2,086

Total  7,436  1,732  658  9,826 

(1) Others includee currencies such as Russian roubles, British pound sterlings, Australian dollars, Venezuela bolivars, etc.  

For the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, every 10% depreciation/appreciation in the exchange rate between the Indian rupee and the respective currencies 

in the above mentioned financial assets/liabilities would affect the Company’s net loss/profit by approximately ` 652 and ` 839 respectively.
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Interest rate risk

As at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011, the Company had foreign currency loans of ` 6,665 carrying a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 100-150 bps and 

` 5,758 carrying a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 52-80 bps respectively. Also as at 31 March 2011 the company had an INR loan of ` 950 carrying an interest 

rate of 8.75%. Since these are short term loans, the Company does not consider any significant changes in the interest rates and hence, has not entered into any 

interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

For the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, every 10% increase or decrease in the floating interest rate component (i.e. LIBOR) of its short-term loans from 

banks would affect the Company’s net loss/profit by approximately ` 5 and ` 16, respectively.

The Company’s investments in time deposits with banks and short-term liquid mutual funds are for short durations, and therefore do not expose the Company 

to significant interest rates risk.

Commodity rate risk

Exposure to market risk with respect to commodity prices primarily arises from the Company’s purchases and sales of active pharmaceutical ingredients, including 

the raw material components for such active pharmaceutical ingredients. These are commodity products, whose prices may fluctuate significantly over short 

periods of time. The prices of the Company’s raw materials generally fluctuate in line with commodity cycles, although the prices of raw materials used in the 

Company’s active pharmaceutical ingredients business are generally more volatile. Cost of raw materials forms the largest portion of the Company’s operating 

expenses. Commodity price risk exposure is evaluated and managed through operating procedures and sourcing policies. The Company has historically not 

entered into any derivative financial instruments or futures contracts to hedge exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices.

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans

2.37.1 Gratuity Plan of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

In accordance with applicable Indian laws, the Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan (the “Gratuity Plan”) covering certain categories 

of employees in India. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement or termination of employment. The amount of payment 

is based on the respective employee’s last drawn salary and the years of employment with the Company. Effective September 1, 1999, the Company established 

the Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Gratuity Fund (the “Gratuity Fund”). Liabilities in respect of the Gratuity Plan are determined by an actuarial valuation, based upon 

which the Company makes contributions to the Gratuity Fund. Trustees administer the contributions made to the Gratuity Fund. Amounts contributed to the 

Gratuity Fund are invested in specific securities as mandated by law and generally consist of federal and state government bonds and debt instruments of Indian 

government-owned corporations.

The following table sets out the status of the aforesaid funded gratuity plan as required under AS-15 (Revised):

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Particulars
For the year ended                 

31 March 2012
For the year ended                 

31 March 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 584 452

Current service cost 81 58

Interest cost 50 36

Actuarial losses / (gain) (10) 81

Benefits paid (59) (43)

Closing defined benefit obligation 646 584
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Change in the fair value of assets

Particulars
For the year ended                 

31 March 2012
For the year ended                 

31 March 2011

Opening fair value of plan assets 490 449

Expected return on plan assets 36 33

Actuarial gains / (losses) 6 5

Contributions by employer 151 46

Benefits paid (59) (43)

Closing fair value of plan assets 624 490

Amount recognized in balance sheet

Particulars
As at 

   31 March 2012
As at 

   31 March 2011

Present value of funded obligations 646 584

Fair value of plan assets (624) (490)

Net Liability 22 94

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for gratuity 22 94

Net liability / (asset) 22 94

Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss

Particulars
For the year ended                 

31 March 2012
For the year ended                 

31 March 2011

Current service cost 81 58

Interest on defined benefit obligation 50 36

Expected return on plan assets (36) (33)

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in year (16) 77

Amount included in employee benefit expense 79 138

Actual return on plan assets 43 38

Asset information

Category of Assets
As at 

   31 March 2012
As at 

   31 March 2011

Government of India securities - -

Corporate bonds - -

Insurer managed funds 99% 99%

Others 1% 1%

Total 100% 100%

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans ( continued )
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The approximate market value of the assets as at 31 March 2012 was ` 624 (Previous Year: ` 490), a breakup of the same is as follows:

Category of Assets
As at 

   31 March 2012
As at 

   31 March 2011

Government of India securities - -

Corporate bonds - -

Insurer managed funds 619 483

Others 5 7

Total 624 490

Summary of actuarial assumptions

Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

For the year ended             
31 March 2012

For the year ended                 
31 March 2011

Discount Rate 8.60% p.a.          7.95% p.a.

Expected Rate of Return on Plan Assets 8.60% p.a.          7.50% p.a.

Salary Escalation Rate 9% p.a. for first 

year and 8% 

thereafter

9% p.a. for next 

2 years & 8% p.a. 

thereafter

Discount Rate:  The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 

of the obligations.

Expected Rate of Return on Plan Assets: This is based on the expectation of the average long-term rate of return expected on investments of the fund during 

the estimated term of the obligations. 

Salary Escalation Rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

Experience adjustments

Particulars
For the year ended 31 March

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 646 584 452 398 319

Plan assets 624 490 449 334 289

Surplus / (deficit) (22) (94) (3) (64) (30)

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities 23 28 27 18 36

Experience adjustment on plan assets 6 5 27 (7) 14

2.37.2   Long service award benefit plan of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company introduced a new post-employment unfunded defined benefit plan under which all eligible employees 

of the Company who have completed the specified service tenure with the Company would be eligible for a “Long Service Cash Award” at the time of their 

employment separation. The amount of such cash payment would be based on the respective employee’s last drawn salary and the specified number of years of 

employment with the Company. Accordingly the Company has valued the liability through an independent actuary.

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans ( continued )
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The following table sets out the status of the aforesaid Long term service award benefit plan as required under AS-15 (Revised):

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Particulars
For the year ended                 

31 March 2012
For the year ended                 

31 March 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 69 53

Current service cost 9 6

Interest cost 6 4

Actuarial losses / (gain) (4) 8

Benefits paid (4) (2)

Closing defined benefit obligation 76 69

Amount recognized in balance sheet

Particulars
As at 

   31 March 2012
As at 

   31 March 2011

Present value of funded obligations - -

Fair value of plan assets - -

Present value of unfunded obligations 76 69

Net Liability 76 69

Amounts in the balance sheet

Net liability / (asset) 76 69

Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss

Particulars
For the year ended                 

31 March 2012
For the year ended                 

31 March 2011

Current service cost 9 6

Interest on defined benefit obligation 6 4

Expected return on plan assets - -

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in year (4) 8

Past service cost - -

Amount included in employee benefit expense 11 18

Actual return on plan assets - -

Summary of actuarial assumptions

Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

For the year ended             
31 March 2012

For the year ended                 
31 March 2011

Discount Rate 8.60% 7.95% p.a.

Salary Escalation Rate 9% p.a. for first 

year and 8%  

thereafter 

9% p.a. for first 2 

years and 8% p.a. 

thereafter

Discount Rate:  The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 

of the obligations.

Salary Escalation Rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans ( continued )
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Experience adjustments

Particulars
For the year ended 31 March

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 76 69 53 - -

Plan assets - - - - -

Surplus / (deficit) (76) (69) (53) - -

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities - 1 - - -

Experience adjustment on plan assets - - - - -

2.38 :	 Dividend remittance in foreign currency

The Company does not make any direct remittances of dividends in foreign currencies to American Depository Shares (ADS) holders. The Company remits the 

equivalent of the dividends payable to the ADS holders in Indian Rupees to the depositary bank, which is the registered shareholder on record for all owners of 

the Company’s ADS. The depositary bank purchases the foreign currencies and remits dividends to the ADS holders. 

2.39 :	R esearch and development arrangements

I-Ven Pharma arrangement 

During the year ended 31 March 2005, the Company had entered into an agreement with I-VEN Pharma Capital Limited (“I-VEN”) for the joint development 

and commercialization of a portfolio of 36 generic drug products. As per the terms of the agreement, I-VEN has a right to fund up to 50% of the project costs 

(development, registration and legal costs) related to these products and the related U.S. Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDA”) filed or to be filed, subject 

to a maximum contribution of U.S.$ 56 millions. Upon successful commercialization of these products, the Company is required to pay I-VEN a royalty on net sales 

at agreed rates for a period of 5 years from the date of commercialization of each product. 

As per the agreement, in April 2010 and upon successful achievement of certain performance milestones specified in the agreement (e.g. successful 

commercialization of a specified number of products, and achievement of specified sales milestones), I-VEN has a one-time right to require the Company to pay 

I-VEN a portfolio termination value amount for such portfolio of products. In the event I-VEN exercises this portfolio termination value option, then it will not be 

entitled to the sales-based royalty payment for the remaining contractual years. 

The Company and I-VEN reached an agreement to settle the portfolio termination value option available to I-VEN at a consideration of ` 2,680 to be paid by the 

Company.

On 1 October 2010, the Company, DRL Investments Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s) and I-VEN entered into an agreement regarding the 

medium of settlement for the portfolio termination value. Pursuant to such an arrangement, controlling interest in I-VEN was acquired by DRL Investments Limited; 

thereby making I-VEN a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as of 1 October 2010. In connection with the transaction, the Company had advanced an 

amount of ` 2,680 to DRL Investments Limited out of which an amount of ` 2,549 is outstanding and disclosed as part of ‘Long term loans and advances’ as of 

31 March 2012.

2.40 :	I ssuance of Bonus Debentures

Pursuant to a scheme of arrangement sanctioned by the High Court of Andhra Pradesh, Hyderabad, India on 19 July 2010 and subsequent approval 

of the Reserve Bank of India (on 18 January 2011) and no-objection from the Indian income-tax authorities (on 1 February 2011), the Company had, on  

24 March 2011, allotted 1,015,516,392, 9.25% Unsecured Redeemable Non-convertible Bonus Debentures (aggregating to ` 5,078) in the ratio of 6 debentures 

of the face value of ` 5 each fully paid up for every equity share of ` 5 each held as on the record date i.e. 18 March 2011. The interest is payable at the end of 

12, 24 and 36 months from the initial date of issuance. The bonus debentures are redeemable at the end of 36 months from the initial date of issuance. These 

debentures have been listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited.

In terms of the scheme, the Company delivered the aggregate value of the debentures to an on-shore escrow account of a merchant banker appointed by the 

Board of Directors. The merchant banker received the aforesaid amount in the escrow account for and on behalf of and in trust for the members entitled to receive 

the debentures as deemed dividend within the meaning of section 2 (22) of the Income-tax Act, 1961. The merchant banker had also immediately following 

the receipt of funds in the escrow account, for and on behalf of the members, paid by way of subscription for allotment of the requisite number of debentures 

issued under the scheme.  

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans ( continued )
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During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, in terms of accounting treatment set out in the scheme, the issuance of the aforesaid debentures (with an 

aggregate face value of ` 5,078) and the dividend distribution tax paid thereon (aggregating to ` 843) had been reflected by transferring the corresponding 

amounts from the General Reserve of the Company and the costs associated in relation to the aforesaid scheme (primarily comprising directly attributable 

transaction costs aggregating to ` 51) had been expensed along with a corresponding transfer from the General Reserve account.  

Pursuant to the scheme and as per the requirements of the Companies Act, 1956, the Company has also created a Debenture Redemption Reserve aggregating 

to ` 867 and ` 19 as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 respectively.

2.41 :	 Research and Development Fixed assets (included in Note 2.7)

DESCRIPTION

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK

As at
1 April 

2011
Additions Deletions

As At
31 March 

2012

As at
1 April 

2011

For the 
year

Deletions
As At

31 March 
2012

As At
31 March 

2012

As At
31 March 

2011

Land – freehold 70 - - 70 - - - - 70 70

Buildings 797 17 - 814 142 30 - 172 642 655

Plant and machinery 1,138 113 31 1,220 611 119 10 740 480 527

Electrical equipment 212 12 - 224 109 21 - 130 94 103

Laboratory equipment 1,687 258 32 1,913 934 178 3 1,109 804 753

Furniture and fixtures 166 12 - 178 106 25 - 131 47 120

Office equipment 150 17 10 157 90 35 7 118 39 -

Vehicles 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - - -

Grand Total 4,231 430 84 4,577 2,003 408 31 2,400 2,176 2,228

Previous year 3,608 790 167 3,608 1,811 329 137 2,003 2,228

2.42 :	 Provision for other than temporary diminution in the value of long term investments

	 Investments include an investment of ̀  16,146 in Lacock Holdings Limited, Cyprus (‘Lacock’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company participates 

in the German generics business through step-down subsidiaries of Lacock, i.e. Reddy Holdings GmbH and betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH (‘betapharm’).  

		 There have been significant changes in the German generics market such as decrease in the reference prices of products, increase in discounts offered to State 

Healthcare Insurance (“SHI”) funds, and announcement of a large competitive bidding sale process from several SHI funds in Germany, and more recently in the 

current year with the reference price cuts and announcement of large sales tender from other key SHI funds.

		 In view of the above, Management has reassessed the value attributable to its investment in Lacock and based on future cash flows expected from the business 

(in Lacock), believes that there is a decline, other than temporary, in the value of investment. Accordingly, an amount of ` 2,100 has been recorded as provision 

for diminution in the value of investment during the year ended 31 March 2012. 

 	
2.43 :	S egment information

In accordance with AS-17 “Segment Reporting”, segment information has been given in the consolidated financial statements of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited 

and therefore no separate disclosure on segment information is given in these financial statements.

2.44 :	F inance lease

	 The Company has acquired vehicles and other assets on finance lease. The future minimum lease payments and their present values as at 31 March 2012 are as 

follows:

Present value of minimum 
lease payments

Future interest Minimum lease payments

Not later than 1 year 18 6 24

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 5 8 13

Total 23 14 37

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.40 :	I ssuance of Bonus Debentures ( continued )
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The future minimum lease payments and their present values as at 31 March 2011 are as follows:

Present value of minimum 
lease payments

Future interest Minimum lease payments

Not later than 1 year 4 2 6

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3 5 8

Total 7 7 14

2.45 :	O perating Lease

The Company has taken vehicles on non-cancellable operating lease. The total future minimum lease payments under this non-cancellable lease are as follows:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Not later than 1 year 58 48

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 91 79

Total 149 127

Lease rentals on the said lease amounting to ` 51 (previous year: ` 41) has been charged to the statement of profit and loss. Lease rent under cancellable lease 

amounts to ` 157 (previous year: ` 99).

2.46 :	V enezuela Currency Devaluation

The Company’s Venezuela operations are conducted as an extension of the parent company. On 30 December 2010, the Foreign Exchange Administration 

Commission of Venezuela (commonly referred to as the “CADIVI”) enacted a decree (exchange agreement No.14) to unify the official exchange rates at a single 

rate of 4.3 Venezuela Bolivars (“VEB”) per U.S.$ by abolishing the preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ effective from 1 January 2011. 

Further, on 13 January 2011, the CADIVI issued another decree to interpret the transitional requirements for the use of the new official exchange rate and 

described that if the following conditions were to be satisfied, the use of the pre-devaluation rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ would be permissible:

l	 For fund repatriation – to the extent the CADIVI has issued approvals in the form of approvals of Autorización de Liquidación de Divisas (‘ALD’) and which 

have been sent to and received by the Banco Central de Venezuela by 31 December 2010;

l	 For foreign currency acquisition – to the extent the CADIVI had issued an Authorization of Foreign Currency Acquisition (‘AAD’) by 31 December 2010 and 

the approval relates to imports for the health and food sectors or certain other specified purposes.

Based on the authorizations received by the Company, and in light of the above announcements, the Company believes that it is eligible for the usage of the 

preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ in relation to some of its monetary items denominated in VEB as on 31 March 2011. Accordingly, those monetary items in 

the Company’s Venezuelan operations are translated into the reporting currency at the preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$. as at 31 March 2011.

2.47 :	C omparative figures

On applicability of revised Schedule VI from current year, the Company has reclassified previous year figures to conform to this year’s classification. The adoption 

of revised Schedule VI does not impact recognition and measurement principles followed for preparation of the financial statements. However, it significantly 

impacts presentation and disclosures made in the financial statements, particularly presentation of Balance Sheet.
 

Note 2: Notes to the  accounts  ( continued )

2.44 :	F inance lease ( continued )

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	D r. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	: Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 : 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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1.	 We have audited the attached Consolidated Balance Sheet of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 

“Dr. Reddy’s Group”) as at 31 March 2012 and also the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 

on that date, annexed thereto. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

2.	 We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, examining on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.

3.	 We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of certain subsidiaries, which have been audited by other auditors whose reports have 

been furnished to us, and our opinion is based on the report of other auditors. The attached consolidated financial statements include net assets of ` 3,992 million 

as at 31 March 2012, revenues of ` 16,111 million and net cash inflows amounting to ` 1,231 million in respect of the aforementioned subsidiaries for the year 

then ended.

4.	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s management in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standard 21– 

Consolidated Financial Statements, Accounting Standard 23 - Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting 

Standard 27 - Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures, issued by the Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules, 2006.

5.	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the said consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 

in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

	 (i)	 in the case of the Consolidated Balance Sheet, of the consolidated state of affairs of Dr. Reddy’s Group as at 31 March 2012;

	 (ii)	 in the case of Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, of the profit for the year ended on that date; and

	 (iii)	 in the case of Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, of the consolidated cash flows of Dr. Reddy’s Group for the year ended on that date.

for B S R & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna

Partner

Membership No.: 032815

Place	:	 Hyderabad

Date	:	 11 May 2012

Auditors’ Report to The Board of Directors of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited on the
Consolidated Financial Statements of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited and its Subsidiaries



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

A NN  U A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 1 – 1 2   |   L i f e .  resear      c h .  h o p e 157

NOTE
as at

31 march 2012
as at

 31 March 2011

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds

Share capital 2.1  848  846 

Reserves and surplus 2.2  49,042  39,473 

 49,890  40,319 

Non current liabilities

Long term borrowings 2.3  16,419  5,372 

Deferred tax liabilities, net  191  999 

Other long term liabilities 2.4  495  568 

Long term provisions 2.5  333  288 

 17,438  7,227 

Current liabilities   

Short term borrowings 2.3  15,888  18,319 

Trade payables 2.6  7,566  6,345 

Other current liabilities 2.4  17,492  13,289 

Short term provisions 2.5  4,968  4,132

 45,914  42,085 

Total  113,242  89,631 

ASSETS

Non current assets

Fixed assets

    Tangible assets 2.7  25,732  23,266 

    Intangible assets 2.7  8,385  10,589

    Capital work-in-progress  7,085  5,752 

Non current investments 2.8  9  9 

Deferred tax assets, net  1,340  1,224 

Long term loans and advances 2.9  701  641 

 43,252  41,481 

Current assets

Current investments 2.10  2,070  -   

Inventories 2.11  19,433  15,992 

Trade receivables 2.12  25,368  17,611 

Cash and bank balances 2.13  16,061  5,751 

Short term loans and advances 2.14  6,629  8,284 

Other current assets 2.15  429  512 

 69,990  48,150 

Total  113,242  89,631 

Significant accounting policies 1

Notes to accounts 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements

Consolidated Balance Sheet

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	:	Hyderabad 	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 :	11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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NOTE
for the year ended

31 march 2012
for the year ended

31 march 2011

INCOME

Sales, gross  94,734  72,724 

Less: Excise duty  (405)  (356)

Sales, net  94,329  72,368 

Service income  2,336  1,741 

License fees  421  124 

Other operating revenue 2.16  1,059  736 

Revenue from operations  98,145  74,969 

Other income 2.17  1,323  523 

Total revenue  99,468  75,492 

Expenses

Cost of material consumed (including packing material consumed)  19,493  14,745 

Purchase of stock-in-trade (traded goods)  7,182  7,194 

Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 2.18  (1,526)  (1,645)

Conversion charges  2,278  962 

Excise duty  534  617 

Employee benefits expense 2.19  15,912  13,048 

Finance costs 2.20  1,056  246 

Depreciation and amortization expense 2.7  5,181  3,981 

Research and development  5,952  5,077 

Other expenses 2.21  24,009  19,439 

Total expenses  80,071  63,664 

Profit before exceptional and extraordinary items and tax  19,397  11,828 

Exceptional items

   - Impairment of goodwill  46  -   

   - Impairment of intangibles  1,307  -   

Profit before extraordinary items and tax  18,044  11,828 

Extraordinary items - -

Profit before tax  18,044  11,828 

Tax expense 2.22

  Current tax  5,248  2,106 

  Deferred tax (credit)  (213)  (267)

Profit for the year  13,009  9,989 

Earnings per share

Basic - Par value  `  5/- per share  76.76  59.06 

Diluted - Par value  `  5/- per share  76.37  58.72 

Number of shares used in computing earnings per share  

Basic - Par value ` 5/- per share  169,470,729  169,128,649 

Diluted - Par value  `  5/- per share  170,331,942  170,122,043 

Significant accounting policies 1

Notes to accounts 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	:	 Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 :	 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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Consolidated Cash flow statement

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Cash Flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation  18,044  11,828 
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization expense  5,181  3,981 
Provision for wealth tax  3  1 
Profit on sale of current investments, net  (158)  (10)
Dividend from mutual fund units  (2)  (58)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) / loss, net  663  (992)
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles  1,353  - 
Amortization of deferred stock based compensation expense, net  403  268 
Allowance for sales returns  1,335  730 
Interest income  (377)  (105)
Finance costs  1,056  246 
Cost of issuance of bonus debentures  -  51 
(Profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets, net  9  (251)
Inventory write-downs  1,473  1,237 
Provision for doubtful debts, net  168  159 
Provision for doubtful advances, net  467  44 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  29,618  17,129 
Increase in trade receivables  (6,951)  (4,675)
Increase in inventories  (4,497)  (3,535)
Increase in trade payables  980  1,188 
Increase in other assets and liabilities, net  1,530  435 

Cash generated from operations  20,680  10,542 
Income taxes paid, net  (4,554)  (2,988)

Net cash provided by operating activities  16,126  7,554 
Cash flows from / (used in) investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets  (8,814)  (11,539)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  186  348 
Purchase of investments  (13,690)  (8,963)
Proceeds from sale of investments  11,780  12,602 
Interest received  332  127 
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired  -  (1,038)
Acquisition of minority interest  -  (525)

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (10,206)  (8,988)
Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of share capital  6  29 
Proceeds / (repayment) from long term borrowings, net  10,737  (3,560)
Proceeds / (repayment) from short term borrowings, net  (3,525)  12,475 
Interest paid  (1,111)  (307)
Cost of issuance of bonus debentures  -  (51)
Dividend paid  (2,216)  (8,141)

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities  3,891  445 
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and bank balances  9,811  (989)

Cash and bank balances at the beginning of the year (refer note 2.13)  5,751  6,600 
Effect of exchange gain on cash and bank balances  499  140 

Cash and bank balances at the end of the year (refer note 2.13)  16,061  5,751 

As per our report of even date attached

for B S R & Co.	 for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna	 Dr. K Anji Reddy	 Chairman

Partner	 G V Prasad	 Vice Chairman & CEO

Membership No.: 032815	 K Satish Reddy	 Managing Director & COO

Place	:	Hyderabad	 Umang Vohra	 Chief Financial Officer

Date	 : 11 May 2012	 Sandeep Poddar	 Company Secretary
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Significant accounting policies

a)	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and presented in accordance with the Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) under 

the historical cost convention on the accrual basis. GAAP comprises mandatory accounting standards notified by the Central Government of India under Section 211 

(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956, the provisions of Companies Act, 1956 and guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India.

b)	U se of estimates 

	 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities on the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses for the year. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Any revision to 

accounting estimates is recognised prospectively in the current and future periods.

c)	P rinciples of consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited (“DRL or the Company”), the parent company and all of its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group” or “Dr. Reddy’s Group”), in which the Company has more than one-half of the voting power of an enterprise or 

where the Company controls the composition of the board of directors. In accordance with AS 27 – “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures”, issued under 

Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, the Group has accounted for its proportionate share of interest in a joint venture by the proportionate consolidation 

method. The joint venture arrangement has been more fully described in Note 2.27 below.  

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the following basis:

•	 The financial statements of the parent company and the subsidiaries have been combined on a line-by-line basis by adding together the book values of like items 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses after eliminating intra-group balances / transactions and resulting unrealised profits in full. Unrealised losses resulting 

from intra-group transactions have also been eliminated except to the extent that recoverable value of related assets is lower than their cost to the group. 

The amounts shown in respect of reserves comprise the amount of the relevant reserves as per the balance sheet of the parent company and its share in the  

post-acquisition increase in the relevant reserves of the subsidiaries.

•	 The Group accounts for investments by the equity method of accounting where it is able to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies 

of the investee. Inter company profits and losses have been proportionately eliminated until realised by the investor or investee. 

•	 Pursuant to the adoption of AS 27 “Financial Reporting of Interest in Joint Ventures”, the Group does not consolidate entities where, regardless of the share of 

capital contributions, the minority shareholders have significant participating rights jointly with the Group, that provide for effective involvement in significant 

financial and operating decisions in the ordinary course of business.

•	 The proportionate share of Group’s interest in Joint Ventures is combined on a line-by-line basis by adding together the book values of like items of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses after eliminating intra-group transactions and resulting unrealised profits, to the extent it pertains to the Group.

•	 The excess / deficit of cost to the parent company of its investment in the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates over its portion of equity at the respective 

dates on which investment in such entities were made is recognised in the financial statements as goodwill / capital reserve. The parent company’s portion of 

equity in such entities is determined on the basis of the book values of assets and liabilities as per the financial statements of such entities as on the date of 

investment and if not available, the financial statements for the immediately preceding period adjusted for the effects of significant transactions, up to the date 

of investment. Goodwill / capital reserve arising on the acquisition of an associate by the parent company is included in the carrying amount of investment in 

the associate but is disclosed separately.

•	 The consolidated financial statements are presented, to the extent possible, in the same format as that adopted by the parent company for its separate financial 

statements.

•	 The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.

d)	F ixed assets and depreciation 

	 Fixed assets are carried at the cost of acquisition or construction, less accumulated depreciation. The cost of fixed assets includes non-refundable taxes, duties, freight 

and other incidental expenses related to the acquisition and installation of the respective assets. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction 

of those fixed assets which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised. 

	 Depreciation on fixed assets is provided using the straight-line method at the rates specified in schedule XIV to the Companies’ Act, 1956 or based on the useful lives 

of the assets as estimated by Management, whichever is higher. Depreciation is calculated on a pro-rata basis from the date of installation till the date the assets are 

sold or disposed off. Individual assets costing less than ` 5,000/- are depreciated in full in the year of acquisition.  



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

A NN  U A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 1 – 1 2   |   L i f e .  resear      c h .  h o p e 161

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Significant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

	 The Management’s estimates of the useful lives for various categories of fixed assets are given below:

YEARS

Buildings  

Factory and administrative buildings 20 to 50

Ancillary structures 3 to 15

Plant and machinery 3 to 15

Electrical equipment 5 to 15

Laboratory equipment 4 to 10

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment (other than computer equipment) 3 to 5

Computer equipment 3

Vehicles 3 to 5

	 Assets acquired on finance leases are depreciated over the period of the lease agreement or the useful life, whichever is shorter.

e)	I ntangible assets and amortization 

	 Intangible assets are recorded at the consideration paid for acquisition. Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, 

commencing from the date the asset is available to the Group for its use. The management’s estimates of the useful lives for various categories of intangible assets 

are as follows:

YEARS

Goodwill 5 to 20

Patents, trademarks, etc. (including marketing/distribution rights) 3 to 16

Customer related intangibles 2 to 11

Technology related intangibles 3 to 13

No-competition arrangements 1.5 to 10

f)	I nvestments

	 Non-current investments, other than investments in associates, are stated at cost. A provision for diminution is made to recognise a decline, other than temporary, 

in the value of long-term investments. Current investments are carried at the lower of cost and fair value. The comparison of cost and fair value is done separately 

in respect of each category of investment.

	 Investments in associates, accounted under the equity method of accounting, are initially recorded at cost, identifying any goodwill / capital reserve at the time of 

acquisition. The carrying amount of such investments is adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of net assets of the investee unless 

there is an agreement to the contrary. The carrying amount of investment in an associate is reduced to recognise a decline, other than temporary, in the value of the 

investment, such reduction being determined and made for each investment individually.

g)	I nventories

	 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, cost of conversion and other costs incurred 

in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  

	 Effective as of 1 April 2011, the Group has changed its policy on valuation of inventory from the first-in first-out method to the weighted average cost method. 

Under the prior policy, the cost of all categories of inventories, except stores and spares, had been based on the first-in first-out method. Stores and spares 

consists of packing materials, engineering spares (such as machinery spare parts) and consumables (such as lubricants, cotton waste and oils), which are used in 

operating machines or consumed as indirect materials in the manufacturing process, had been valued at cost based on a weighted average method. Effective as of  

1 April 2011, the cost of all categories of inventory is based on a weighted average cost method. Using the weighted average method will produce more accurate, 

reasonable and relevant information on the amounts of inventory reported in the balance sheet and, in turn, more accurate material consumption reported in the 

statement of profit and loss. The effect of this change in the methodology of valuation of inventory is immaterial and, accordingly, no further disclosures have been 

made in these consolidated financial statements.



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

D R .  R E D D Y ’ S  L A B O R AT O R I E S  LT D   |   i g aa  p  c o n solidated         f i n a n c ial    state   m e n ts 162

h) 	 Research and development

	 Expenditures on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding are recognized in the statement 

of profit and loss when incurred.

	 Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized 

only if: 

•	 development costs can be measured reliably, 

•	 the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, 

•	 future economic benefits are probable and ascertainable, and 

•	 the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and has the ability to use or sell the asset.

	 Expenditure incurred on fixed assets used for research and development is capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the depreciation policy of the Group.

i)	E mployee benefits

	 Defined contribution plan 

	 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or 

constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to recognized provident funds and approved superannuation schemes which are 

defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in the statement of profit and loss as and when the services are received from the 

employees. 

	 Defined benefit plans 

	 A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of an approved gratuity 

plan, which is a defined benefit plan, and certain other defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit 

that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized 

past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on risk free government bonds that have 

maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. 

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.  

	 Contributions payable to an approved gratuity fund determined by an independent actuary at the balance sheet date are charged to the statement of profit and loss.  

All actuarial gains and losses arising during the year are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Provision for compensated absences is made on the basis of actuarial valuation at the balance sheet date.

	 Employee stock option schemes

	 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India guidelines, the excess of the market price of shares, at the date of grant of options under the Employee 

stock option schemes, over the exercise price is treated as employee compensation and amortised over the vesting period.

 j)	F oreign currency transactions, balances and translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and joint venture

	 Foreign currency transactions

	 Foreign currency transactions are recorded using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the respective transactions. Exchange differences arising on foreign 

currency transactions settled during the year are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet date are translated at year-end rates. The resultant exchange differences 

are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are not translated.

	 Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that, in substance, forms part of an enterprise’s net investment in a non-integral foreign operation are accumulated 

in a foreign currency translation reserve in the enterprise’s financial statements. Such exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the 

event of disposal of the net investment.

	 Foreign operations

	 The financial statements of the foreign integral subsidiaries, representative offices and branches collectively referred to as the ‘foreign integral operations’ are 

translated into Indian rupees as follows:

•	 Items of income and expenditure are translated at the respective monthly average rates;

•	 Monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

Note 1: Significant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

•	 Non-monetary items are translated using the monthly average rate which is expected to approximate the actual rate on the date of transaction; and

•	 The net exchange difference resulting from the translation of items in the financial statements of foreign integral operations is recognised as income or as 

expense for the year.

	 The following consolidated foreign subsidiaries and joint venture have been identified as non-integral operations in accordance with the requirements of   

AS –11(Revised 2003):

•	 Reddy US Therapeutics Inc; 

•	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited; 

•	 Dr. Reddy’s SRL (formerly Jet Generici SRL);

•	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Inc; 

•	 Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A.de.C.V.; 

•	 Reddy Holding GmbH;

•	 betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH;

•	 beta institut fur sozialmedizinische Forschung und Entwicklung GmbH;

•	 beta Healthcare Solutions GmbH;

•	 Lacock Holdings Limited;

•	 Reddy Pharma Iberia SA;

•	 Reddy Pharma Italia SpA; 

•	 Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Company Limited; 

•	 Chirotech Technology Limited;

•	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Louisiana LLC;

•	 Promius Pharma LLC (formerly Reddy Pharmaceuticals LLC);

•	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Tennessee, LLC; and

•	 Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories New York, Inc. 

	 In accordance with AS – 11 (Revised 2003) “The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange rates”, the financial statements of such non-integral foreign operations are 

translated into Indian rupees as follows:

•	 All assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, are translated using the closing rate;

•	 Income and expense items are translated at the respective monthly average rates.

•	 The resulting net exchange difference is credited or debited to a foreign currency translation reserve.

k)	 Derivative instruments and hedge accounting

	 The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts and option contracts (derivatives) to mitigate its risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and does not 

use them for trading or speculative purposes.

	 The premium or discount on foreign exchange forward contracts is amortized as income or expense over the life of the contract. The exchange difference is 

calculated and recorded in accordance with AS – 11 (revised). The exchange difference on such a forward exchange contract is calculated as the difference of the 

foreign currency amount of the contract translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date, or the settlement date where the transaction is settled during the 

reporting period and the corresponding foreign currency amount translated at the later of the date of inception of the forward exchange contract and the last 

reporting date. Such exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the reporting period in which the exchange rates change. The changes 

in the fair value of foreign currency option contracts are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as they arise. Fair value of such option contracts is determined 

based on the appropriate valuation techniques considering the terms of the contract.

	 Pursuant to ICAI Announcement “Accounting for Derivatives’’ on the early adoption of Accounting Standard AS–30 ‘’Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement’’, the Group has adopted the Standard to the extent that the adoption does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and other 

authoritative pronouncements, Company law and other regulatory requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

	 Cashflow hedges

	 The Group classifies its option and forward contracts that hedge foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges 

and measures them at fair value. The effective portion of such cash flow hedges is recorded as a part of reserves and surplus within the Group’s “hedging reserve”, 

and re-classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions. The ineffective portion is 

immediately recorded in the statement of profit and loss. Fair value of foreign currency option contracts is determined based on the appropriate valuation techniques 

considering the terms of the contract.

	 The Group also designates certain non-derivative financial liabilities, such as foreign currency borrowings from banks, as hedging instruments for the hedge 

of foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions and, accordingly, applies cash flow hedge accounting for such relationships.  

Re-measurement gain / loss on such non-derivative financial liabilities is recorded as a part of reserves and surplus within the Group’s “hedging reserve”, and re-

classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions.

	 If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, gets expired or is sold, terminated or exercised before the occurrence of the forecasted 

transaction, the hedge accounting on such transaction is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in hedging reserve continues 

to remain there until the forecasted transaction occurs. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the balance in hedging reserve is recognized 

immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Fair value hedges

	 The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair value of firm commitment contracts and measures them at fair value. 

Any amount representing changes in the fair value of such derivative financial instruments is recorded in the statement of profit and loss. The corresponding gain / 

loss representing the changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to hedged risk is also recognized in the statement of profit and loss.  

l) 	 Revenue recognition

	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards in respect of ownership of products are transferred to customers. Revenue from 

domestic sales of generic products is recognized upon delivery of products to stockists by clearing and forwarding agents of the Group. Revenue from domestic sales 

of active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates is recognized on delivery of products to customers, from the factories of the Group. Revenue from export 

sales is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of products are transferred to the customers, which is based upon the terms of the applicable 

contract.

	 Revenue from product sales is stated exclusive of returns, sales tax and applicable trade discounts and allowances.

	 Accrual for chargeback, rebates, discounts and medicaid payments are estimated and provided for in the year of sales and recorded as reduction of revenue.  

A chargeback claim is a claim made by the wholesaler for the difference between the price at which the product is initially invoiced to the wholesaler and the net 

price at which it is agreed to be procured from the Group. Accrual for such chargeback is accrued and estimated based on historical average chargeback rate actually 

claimed over a period of time, current contract prices with wholesalers / other customers and estimated inventory holding by the wholesaler. Such provisions are 

presented as a reduction of trade receivable.

	 The Group from time to time enters into marketing arrangements with certain business partners for the sale of its products in certain markets. Under such 

arrangements, the Group sells its products to the business partners at a price agreed upon in the arrangement and is also entitled to a profit share which is over 

and above the agreed price. The profit share is typically dependent on the business partner’s ultimate net sale proceeds or net profit, subject to any reductions or 

adjustments that are required by the terms of the arrangement. Such arrangements typically require the business partner to provide confirmation of units sold and 

net sales or net profit computations for the products covered under the arrangement.  

	 Revenue in an amount equal to the agreed price is recognized on these transactions upon delivery of products to the business partners. The additional amount 

representing the profit share component is recognized as revenue in the period which corresponds to the ultimate sales made by business partners only when the 

collectability of the profit share becomes probable and a reliable measure of the profit share is available. In arriving at this conclusion and in measuring the amount of 

profit share revenue to be recognized for such period, the Group uses all available information and evidences relating to the amounts owed to the Group under these 

arrangements, such as confirmations provided by business partners, including those made available on or before the date of approval of financial statements.

	 Returns primarily relate to expired products, which the customer has the right to return for a period of 12 months following the expiration date. Such returned 

products are destroyed and credit notes are issued to the customer for the products returned. The Group accounts for sales returns accrual by recording an allowance 

for sales returns concurrent with the recognition of revenue at the time of a product sale. This allowance is based on the Group’s estimate of expected sales 

returns. The Group deals in various products and operates in various markets. Accordingly, estimate of sales returns is determined primarily by the Group’s historical 

Note 1: Significant accounting policies (CONTINUED)
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experience in the markets in which the Group operates. With respect to established products, the Group considers its historical experience of sales returns, levels of 

inventory in the distribution channel, estimated shelf life, product discontinuances, price changes of competitive products, and the introduction of competitive new 

products, to the extent each of these factors impact the Group’s business and markets. With respect to new products introduced by the Group, such products have 

historically been either extensions of an existing line of product where the Group has historical experience or in therapeutic categories where established products 

exist and are sold either by the Group or the Group’s competitors. 

	 Service Income

	 Revenue from services rendered, which primarily relate to contract research, is recognized in the statement of profit and loss as the underlying services are performed.  

Upfront non-refundable payments received under these arrangements are deferred and recognised as revenue over the expected period over which the related 

services are expected to be performed.  

	 License fee

	 The Group enters into certain dossier sales, licensing and supply arrangements with certain third parties. These arrangements include certain performance obligations 

by the Group. Revenue from such arrangements is recognized in the period in which the Group completes all its performance obligations.

	 Dividend and interest income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the unconditional right to receive the income is established. Income from interest on deposits, loans and interest bearing 

securities is recognised on the time proportionate method.

	 Export entitlements

	 Export entitlements are recognised as reduction from material consumption when the right to receive credit as per the terms of the scheme is established in respect 

of the exports made and where there is no significant uncertainty regarding the ultimate collection of the relevant export proceeds.

m)	I ncome tax expense

	 Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax charge or credit.

	 Current tax

	 The current charge for income taxes is calculated in accordance with the relevant tax regulations applicable to the entities in the Group.

	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax charge or credit reflects the tax effects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable income for the period. The deferred tax charge or 

credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognised using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet 

date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent there is reasonable certainty that the assets can be realised in future; however, where there is unabsorbed 

depreciation or carry forward of losses, deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is a virtual certainty of realisation of such assets.  

	 Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and written-down or written-up to reflect the amount that is reasonably or virtually certain (as the case 

may be) to be realised.

	 The break-up of the major components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date have been arrived at after setting off deferred tax assets 

and liabilities where the Group has a legally enforceable right to set-off assets against liabilities, and where such assets and liabilities relate to taxes on income levied 

by the same governing taxation laws.

n)	E arnings per share

	 The basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing the net profit after tax for the year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during 

the year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, net profit after tax for the year and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 

the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. The dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the year, 

unless they have been issued at a later date. The diluted potential equity shares have been adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the shares been actually issued 

at fair value (i.e. the average market value of the outstanding shares).

Note 1: Significant accounting policies (CONTINUED)
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Note 1: Significant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

o)	I mpairment of assets

	 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less 

than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the statement 

of profit and loss. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that if a previously assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed 

and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount subject to a maximum of depreciated historical cost.

p) 	P rovisions and contingent liabilities 

	 The Group creates a provision when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event that probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but 

probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where there is possible obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources 

is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

q)	G overnment grants 

	 The Group recognizes government grants only when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to them will be complied with, and the grants will 

be received. Government grants received in relation to assets are presented as a reduction to the carrying amount of the related asset. Grants related to revenue are 

deducted in reporting the related expense.

r)	L eases

	 The lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, at the inception of the lease, based on the substance of the lease arrangement. 

	 Finance leases 

	 A finance lease is recognized as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also capitalized and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 

accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of 

the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. 

	 Operating leases 

	 Other leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognized on the Group’s statements of financial position. Payments made under operating leases 

are recognized in the statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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Note 2: Notes to accounts

2.1 :  Share capital

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Authorised

240,000,000 (previous year: 240,000,000) equity shares of ` 5/- each 1,200 1,200

Issued

169,560,546 (previous year: 169,252,932) equity shares of ` 5/- each fully paid-up 848 846

Subscribed and paid-up

169,560,346 (previous year: 169,252,732) equity shares of ` 5/- each fully paid-up               848 846

Add:  Forfeited share capital (e)                    -                             848 - 846

848 846

(a)	 Reconciliation of the equity shares outstanding is set out below:

Particulars

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

No. of equity 
shares

Amount
NO. of equity 

shares
Amount

Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year 169,252,732 846 168,845,385 844

Share issued during the year 307,614 2 407,347 2

Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year 169,560,346 848 169,252,732 846

(b) 	T erms/rights attached to equity shares

The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 5/- per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. The company 

declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing 

Annual General Meeting. During the year ended 31 March 2012, the amount of per share dividend recognized as distributions to equity shareholders is ` 13.75/- 

 (31 March 2011: ` 11.25/-).					   

(c)	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

PARTICULARS

AS AT
31 MARCH 2012

AS AT
 31 MARCH 2011

NO. OF EQUITY 
SHARES HELD

% OF EQUITY 
SHARES HELD

NO. OF EQUITY 
SHARES HELD

% OF EQUITY 
SHARES HELD

 Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited 39,729,284 23.43 39,128,328 23.12

 Life Insurance Corporation of India and its associates 11,439,458 6.75 13,579,378 8.02

(d)	 654,156 (previous year : 718,161) stock options are outstanding to be issued by the Company on exercise of the vested stock options in accordance with the terms 

of exercise under the “Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Plan, 2002” and 117,899 (previous year : 124,559) stock options are outstanding to be issued by the 

Company on exercise of the vested stock options  in  accordance with the terms of exercise under the “Dr. Reddy’s Employees ADR Stock Option Plan 2007”.

(e)	 Represents 200 (previous year: 200) equity shares of ` 5/- each, amount paid-up ` 500/- (rounded off in millions in the note above) forfeited due to non-payment 

of allotment money.	

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Note 2: Notes to accounts (CONTINUED)

2.2 :  Reserves and surplus

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Capital reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  274  274 

Additions / (deductions) during the year  -    - 

 274  274 

Securities premium account

Balance at the beginning of the year  18,279  18,038 

Add : Received during the year on exercise of employee stock options  253  241 

 18,532  18,279 

Employee stock options outstanding

Balance at the beginning of the year  716  573 

Add : Options granted during the year  508  424 

Less : Options forfeited during the year  (85)  (67)

Less : Options excercised during the year  (249)  (214)

Balance at the end of the year (A)  890  716 

Deferred stock compensation cost

Balance at the beginning of the year  311  223 

Add : Options granted during the year  508  424 

Less : Amortization during the year, net of forfeiture  (403)  (268)

Less : Options forfeited during the year  (77)  (68)

Balance at the end of the year (B)  339  311 

(A - B)  551  405 

General reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  8,979  14,058 

Add : Transferred from surplus  945  893 

Less : Transferred to surplus  -    5,972 

 9,924  8,979 

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,898  2,535 

Movement during the year  775  363 

 3,673  2,898 

Hedging reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  546  508 

Movement during the year  (1,902)  38 

 (1,356)  546 

Debenture redemption reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  19  -   

Add : Transferred from surplus  848  19 

 867  19 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

Surplus

Balance at the beginning of the year  8,073  1,162 

Add: Transfer from general reserve (refer note 2.41)  -    5,972 

 8,073  7,134 

Add: Current year profit  13,009  9,989 

Amount available for appropriations  21,082  17,123 

Less: Appropriations:

Proposed dividend on equity shares  2,331  1,904 

Tax on proposed dividend  378  309 

Dividend of previous years  3  4 

Debenture redemption reserve  848  19 

Bonus debentures as per court approved scheme (refer note 2.41)  -    5,078 

Dividend distribution tax on distribution (refer note 2.41)  -    843 

Transferred to general reserve  945  893 

Balance carried forward  16,577  8,073 

 49,042  39,473

Note 2 : Notes to accounts (CONTINUED)

2.2 : Reserves and surplus  ( continued )
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Note 2: Notes to accounts (CONTINUED)

2.3 : Borrowings

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

A) Long term borrowings

Secured

Long term maturities of finance lease obligations (a)  261  244 

Unsecured

Debentures

9.25% Redeemable Non-convertible Debentures of ` 5/- each (b) 5,078 5,078

Deferred payment liabilities

Sales tax deferment loan from the Government of Andhra Pradesh (interest free) (c) 47 50

Long term loans from banks (d) 11,033 -

 16,419  5,372 

(a)	 Finance lease obligations represent present value of minimum lease rental payable for the building, vehicles and other assets taken by the Company and its subsidiary 

companies.				  

(b)	 Bonus debentures are redeemable at the end of 36 months from the initial date of issuance (24 March 2011). The interest is payable at the end of 12, 24 and 36 

months from the initial date of issuance (refer note 2.41).				  

(c)	 Sales tax deferment loan is repayable in 10 instalments, with the last instalment due on 31 March 2019.				  

(d)	 Long term loan taken by subsidiary from Citibank carrying interest rate of LIBOR plus 145 bps and is repayable in eight equal quarterly instalments starting from 

December 2014 and ending in September 2016.	

as at
31 march 2012

as at
 31 March 2011

B) Short term borrowings

Secured

Loan from banks (a) 47 39

Unsecured

Bank overdraft (b) - 69

Packing credit loans (c) 10,204 9,242

Other short term loans (d) 5,637 8,969 

 15,888  18,319 

(a)	 Loan from Kunshan Rural Commercial Bank taken by Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Reddy Kunshan”), a consolidated joint venture 

carries an average interest rate of 7.21% per annum (previous year: 5.045% – 5.757% per annum) and is secured by Reddy Kunshan’s land and building. Previous 

year loan taken from State Bank of India carries an interest rate of 3.793% per annum, secured by Reddy Kunshan’s plant and machinery, was repaid during the 

year.

(b)	 Bank overdraft is Nil for current year. Bank overdraft in the previous year was on current accounts with various banks carrying interest rates of 10.50% to 12.00% 

per annum.				  

(c)	 Packing Credit loans for the current year comprised of Foreign Currency Packing Credit loans carrying interest rates of LIBOR plus 100 – 150 bps or fixed rate of 

2.21% – 3.06% per annum and are repayable within 1 to 6 months from the date of drawdown.  Packing Credit loans for the previous year comprised of Foreign 

Currency Packing Credit loans carrying interest rates of LIBOR plus 52 – 80 bps or fixed rate of interest of 1.120% – 2.085% per annum and are repayable within 

1 to 6 months from the date of drawdown. Further, previous year loans included a Rupee packing credit loan taken from State Bank of India carrying interest rate 

of 8.75% per annum with a term of 6 months.				  

(d)	 Short term loan represents borrowings by subsidiaries of EUR 45 Mn from Royal Bank of Scotland carrying interest rate of LIBOR plus 100 bps and USD 50 Mn from 

JP Morgan carrying interest rate of LIBOR plus 125 bps per annum. Previous year loans included borrowings by subsidiaries from Citibank carrying interest rates 

of 1.95% – 8% per annum,  from Bank of America carrying interest rate of 1.61% – 1.79% per annum and from Royal Bank of Scotland carrying interest rate of 

5.38% per annum, which were repaid during the current year.				 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to accounts  (CONTINUED)

2.4 : Other liabilities

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

A)	O ther long term liabilities

	 Deferred revenue income  343  341 

Other liabilities  152  227 

 495  568 

B)	O ther current liabilities

	 Current maturities of long term borrowings

 Sales tax deferment loan from the Government of Andhra Pradesh  (interest free)  2  3

Current maturities of finance lease obligations  30  13 

Due to capital creditors  1,295  1,256 

Interest accrued but not due on term loans  63  11 

	 Unclaimed dividends and debenture interest *  30  20 

	 Provision for expenses  6,012  7,478 

	 Salary and bonus payable  1,443  905 

	 Derivative financial instrument liability  1,821  -   

	 Due to statutory authorities  258  158 

	 Other current liabilities  6,538  3,445 

 17,492  13,289 

* Unclaimed amounts are transferred to Investor Protection and Education Fund after seven years from the due date. 

(a)	 Finance lease obligations represent present value of minimum lease rentals payable before 31 March 2013 for assets leased by the Group.		

(b)	 The figures reflected for Sales tax deferment loan are for instalments payable before 31 March 2013.				  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to accounts (CONTINUED)

2.5: Provisions

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

A) Long term provisions

Provision for employee benefits

          Long service award benefit plan  66  60 

          Pension, seniority and severence indemnity plans  114  89 

Compensated absences  153  139 

 333  288 

B) Short term provisions

Provision for employee benefits

         Gratuity  50  119 

         Long service award benefit plan  10  9 

         Pension, seniority and severence indemnity plans  6  6 

         Compensated absences  107  46 

Other provisions

Taxation, net of advance taxes                                                                                                   745  759 

          Allowance for sales returns  1,341  980 

          Proposed dividend  2,331  1,904 

          Tax on proposed dividend  378  309 

 4,968  4,132 

2.6 : Trade Payables

 As at 
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

Trade Payables

          Due to micro, small and medium enterprises  1  230 

          Others  7,565  6,115 

 7,566  6,345 

(a)	 The principal amount paid and that remaining unpaid as at 31 March 2012 in respect of enterprises covered under the “Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

Development Act, 2006” (MSMDA) are ` 3,405 (previous year: ` 2,215) and ` 1 (previous year: ` 218) respectively. The interest amount computed based on 

the provisions under Section 16 of the MSMDA ` 0.03 (previous year: ` 12) is remaining unpaid as of 31 March 2012. The interest that remained unpaid as at 

31 March 2011 was paid to the extent of ` 12 during the current year. 

(b)	 The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but 

without adding the interest specified under this Act is ` Nil (previous year: ` Nil).

(c) 	 The list of undertakings covered under MSMDA was determined by the Company on the basis of information available with the Company and has been relied 

upon by the auditors. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to accounts (CONTINUED)

2.8 : Non current investments

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

I. Quoted investments

Other

(a) Equity shares (fully paid-up)

12,000 (previous year: 12,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of State Bank of India (a)  3 3

Total quoted long term investments ( I )  3  3 

II. Unquoted investments

Trade

In associates

Nil (previous year : 9,999) ordinary shares of Macred India Private Limited, India (b)  -  - 

In other companies

Ordinary shares of Roubles 1,000 each of Biomed  Russia Limited, Russia (c) 66 66

200,000 (previous year: 200,000) ordinary shares of ` 10/- each of Altek Engineering Limited, India  2 2

8,859 (previous year: 8,859) equity shares of ` 100/- each of Jeedimetla Effluent Treatment Limited, India  1 1

24,000 (previous year: 24,000) equity shares of ` 100/- each of Progressive Effluent Treatment Limited, India  2 2

20,250 (previous year: 20,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Shivalik Solid Waste Management Limited, 
India (d)

 -  - 

Total unquoted long term investments ( II )  71  71 

Total Non current investments (I+II)  74  74 

Less: Provision for decline, other than temporary, in the value of long term investments  (65)  (65)

Total Non current investments, net  9  9 

Aggregate cost of quoted investments  3  3 

Aggregate cost of unquoted investments  71  71 

Market value of quoted investments  25  33 

(a)	 In respect of shares of State Bank of India, the share certificates were misplaced during transfer/lost in transit. The Company has initiated necessary legal action at 
the appropriate courts.

(b)	 Represents Nil (previous year: 9,999) ordinary shares of Macred India Private Limited, India amounting to ` Nil (previous year: ` 100 thousands) (rounded off in 
millions in the note above). During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had sold 80% of its stake in Macred India Private Limited and accordingly 
was classified as an associate. Further, during the current year ended 31 March 2012, the Company has sold the balance 20% stake in Macred India Private 
Limited.

(c)	 Shares held in Biomed  Russia Limited, Russia are not denominated in number of shares as per the laws of the country.

(d)	 Represents 20,250 (previous year: 20,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each of Shivalik Solid Waste Management Limited, India amounting to ` 202 thousands (previous 
year: ` 200 thousands) (rounded off in millions in the note above).

2.9 : Long term loans and advances

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Unsecured)

Considered good

Capital advances for purchase of fixed assets  218  293 

Security Deposits  483  348 

 701  641 
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2.10 : Current investments

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

Current Investments at cost or fair value whichever is less

Quoted investments

In Mutual Fund

910,106.56 (previous year: Nil) units of BSL Cash Manager Institutional Plan  155  -   

347,674.86 (previous year: Nil) units of UTI Market Fund  415  -   

30,289,629.44 (previous year: Nil) units of IDFC Money Manager Fund  500  -   

19,212,000.58 (previous year: Nil) units of Reliance Liquid Fund  500  -   

22,536,633.30 (previous year: Nil) units of Reliance Medium Term Fund  500  -   

Total quoted current investments  2,070  - 

Market value of quoted investments 2,080 --

2.11 : Inventories

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Valued on weighted average basis)

Raw materials  7,265  5,285 

Goods-in-transit  94  82 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (759)  (486)

Net  6,600  4,881 

Work-in-progress  5,630  4,572 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (644)  (481)

Net  4,986  4,091 

Finished goods  3,808  3,765 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (1,612)  (1,199)

Net  2,196  2,566 

Stock-in-trade (in respect of goods acquired for trading)  4,463  3,421 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (119)  (77)

Net  4,344  3,344 

Stores and spares  575  392 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (14)  (11)

Net  561  381 

Packing materials  903  810 

Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving  (157)  (81)

Net  746  729 

 19,433  15,992 

2.12 : Trade Receivables

 As at 
31 March 2012

 As at 
31 March 2011

(Unsecured)

Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months 

           Considered good  704  641 

           Considered doubtful  537  494 

Other debts

           Considered good  24,664  16,970 

 25,905  18,105 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (537)  (494)

 25,368  17,611 
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2.13 : Cash and bank balances

 A s  a t 
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 2

 A s  a t 
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 1

Cash on hand 5 6

Bank balances

    In current accounts 4,607 5,150

    In EEFC accounts 110 25

    In term deposit accounts 2,640 549

Cash and cash equivalents (A) 7,362 5,730

    In unclaimed dividend accounts 23 20

    In unclaimed fractional share pay order accounts  1  1   

    In unclaimed debenture interest account 7  - 

    In term deposit accounts  8,668  -   

Other bank balances (B) 8,699 21

Total cash and bank balances (A+B)  16,061  5,751 

(a)   Term Deposits in other bank balances include ` 43 (previous year: ` 0.3)  representing margin money for letters of credit and bank guarantees.

2.14 : Short term loans and advances

 A s  a t 
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 2

 A s  a t 
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 1 1

(Unsecured)

Considered good

Advances to material suppliers  672  481 

Staff loans and advances  42  44 

Advance tax, net of provision for income taxes  741  95 

MAT credit entitlement  -  831 

Balances with statutory / government authorities  4,142  3,120 

Prepaid expenses  513  652 

Other Advances  519  3,061 

Considered doubtful

Other advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  102  47 

 6,731  8,331 

Less: Provision for doubtful loans and advances  (102)  (47)

 6,629  8,284 
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2.15 : Other current assets

As at
31 March 2012

As at
31 March 2011

Considered good

Claims receivable  169  28 

Interest accrued but not due  45  -

Derivative financial asset  7  -   

Others  208  484 

Considered doubtful

Advance towards investment  8  8 

 437  520 

Less: Provision for advance towards investment  (8)  (8)

 429  512 

2.16 : Other operating revenue

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Sale of spent chemicals  382  254 

Scrap sales  111  102 

Royalty income  57  71 

Miscellaneous income  509  309 

 1,059  736 

2.17 : Other income

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Interest income

          On fixed deposits  353  86 

          Others  24  19 

Profit on sale of fixed assets, net  31    251 

Dividend from mutual fund units  2  58 

Profit on sale of current investments, net  158  10 

Foreign exchange gain, net  711  -   

Miscellaneous income 44 99

 1,323  523 
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2.18 : Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Net (increase) / decrease in stock

Opening

Work-in-progress 4,091 3,901 

Finished goods 2,566 1,504 

Stocks acquired on acquisition (a) 146  -   

Stock-in-trade 3,197 10,000 2,950 8,355 

Closing

Work-in-progress 4,986 4,091 

Finished goods 2,196 2,566 

Stocks acquired on acquisition (a)  -   146 

Stock-in-trade 4,344 11,526 3,197 10,000 

Net (increase) (1,526) (1,645)

(a)  Stock added on acquisition represents stocks pertaining to acquisition of GSK’s manufacturing facility in Bristol, Tennessee, during the previous year (refer note 2.28).

2.19 : Employee benefits expense

For the year  ended
31 March 2012

For the year  ended
31 March 2011

Salaries, wages and bonus  13,679 11,086 

Contribution to provident and other funds  672 657 

Staff welfare expenses  1,158  1,037 

Amortization of deferred stock compensation expense  403  268 

 15,912  13,048 

2.20 : Finance costs

For the year  ended
31 March 2012

For the year  ended
31 March 2011

Interest expense

Interest on packing credit loans  159  38 

Interest on long term borrowings  283  99 

Interest on short term borrowings  124  87 

Interest on debentures  470  10 

 1,036  234 

Other borrowing costs  20  12 

 1,056  246 
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2.21 : Other expenses

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Consumption of stores and spare parts  1,837  1,694 

Advertisements  1,288  851 

Commission on sales  433  338 

Carriage outward  3,036  2,025 

Other selling expenses  5,087  4,235 

Legal and professional  2,394  2,345 

Power and fuel  2,259  1,833 

Repairs and maintenance

Buildings  181  56 

Plant and machinery  1,382  1,193 

Others  740  877 

Insurance  376  265 

Travelling and conveyance  1,098  963 

Rent  523  419 

Communication  557  330 

Rates and taxes  416  300 

Printing and stationery  154  136 

Donations  177  132 

Provision for doubtful debts, net  168  159 

Provision for doubtful advances, net  467  44 

Directors’ sitting fees (previous year: ` 409 thousands, rounded off in millions)  1  - 

Non Executive Directors’ remuneration  54  21 

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fees  12  9 

Out of pocket expenses  3  2 

Bank charges  85  77 

Loss on sale of fixed assets, net  40  -   

Foreign exchange loss, net  -    46 

Miscellaneous  1,241  1,089 

 24,009  19,439 

2.22 : Income taxes

For the year ended
31 March 2012

For the year ended
31 March 2011

Current taxes

Domestic taxes  3,636  2,253 

MAT credit utilisation / (entitlement)  862  (862)

Foreign taxes  750  715 

Total current taxes  5,248  2,106 

Deferred taxes

Domestic taxes  (217)  213 

Foreign taxes  4  (480)

Total deferred taxes  (213)  (267)

 5,035  1,839 
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2.23 :  Description of the Group

	 Dr. Reddy’s Group is a leading India-based pharmaceutical group headquartered in Hyderabad, India. The Group’s principal areas of operation are pharmaceutical 

services and active ingredients, global generics and proprietary products. The Group’s principal research and development facilities are located in Andhra Pradesh, 

India; its principal manufacturing facilities are located in Andhra Pradesh, India, Himachal Pradesh, India, Cuernavaca-Cuautla, Mexico, Mirfeild, the United 

Kingdom and Louisiana, the United States; and its principal marketing facilities are located in India, Russia, the United States, the United Kingdom and Germany.  

The Group’s shares trade on the Bombay Stock Exchange and the National Stock Exchange in India and, since 11 April 2001, also on the New York Stock Exchange 

in the United States. The Group debentures are listed on Bombay Stock Exchange and National Stock Exchange since 7 April 2011.

	 Dr. Reddy’s subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are listed below:

Entity Country of incorporation
Percentage 

holding (%)

Subsidiaries

OOO Alfa, Russia (formerly OOO JV Reddy Biomed Limited) A Company organised under the laws of Russia 100

Reddy Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited A Company organised under the laws of Hong Kong 100

Reddy Cheminor S.A. A Company organised under the laws of Chartres, France 100

Reddy Antilles N.V. (“RANV”) A Company organised under the laws of Antilles, Netherlands 100

Dr. Reddy’s Farmaceutica Do Brasil Ltda. A Company organised under the laws of Brazil 100

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited A Company organised under the laws of India 100

Cheminor Investments Limited A Company organised under the laws of India 100

DRL Investments Limited A Company organised under the laws of India 100

OOO Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited A Company organised under the laws of Russia 100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Proprietary) Limited A Company organised under the laws of the Republic of South Africa 100

Dr. Reddy’s Bio-Sciences Limited A Company organised under the laws of India 100

Trigenesis Therapeutics Inc. A Company organised under the laws of New Jersey, USA 100

Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A.de.C.V.(“Falcon”) A Company organised under the laws of Mexico 100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (Australia) Pty. Limited A Company organised under the laws of Australia 100

Reddy Pharma Iberia SA A Company organised under the laws of Spain 100

Lacock Holdings Limited (“Lacock”)        A Company organised under the laws of Cyprus 100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA A Company organised under the laws of Switzerland 100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories ILAC TICARET Limited SIRKETI A Company organised under the laws of Turkey 100

Dr. Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited A Company organised under the laws of India 100

Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited (from 30 June 2010) A Company organised under the laws of India 100

Step-down subsidiaries

Reddy Netherlands B.V. A subsidiary of Reddy Antilles N.V., organised under the laws of 
Netherlands

100

Reddy US Therapeutics Inc. (“Reddy US”) A subsidiary of Reddy Antilles N.V., organised under the laws of 
Atlanta, USA

100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. (“DRLI”) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA, organised under the laws of 
New Jersey, USA

100

Promius Pharma LLC (formerly Reddy Pharmaceuticals LLC) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc., organised under the laws 
of  Delaware, USA

100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited (“DREU”) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s laboratories SA, organised under the laws of 
United Kingdom

100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (UK) Limited (“DRUK”) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited, organised under 
the laws of the United Kingdom

100
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Entity Country of incorporation
Percentage 

holding (%)

Aurigene Discovery Technologies Inc. (“AI”). A subsidiary of Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, organised 
under the laws of Massachusetts, USA

100

Reddy Holding GmbH (“RHG”) A subsidiary of Lacock Holdings Limited organised under the laws of 

Germany
100

betapharm Arzneimittel GmbH A subsidiary of Reddy Holding GmbH organised under the laws of 

Germany
100

beta Healthcare Solutions GmbH A subsidiary of Reddy Holding GmbH organised under the laws of 

Germany
100

beta institut fur sozialmedizinische Forschung und Entwicklung 

GmbH

A subsidiary of Reddy Holding GmbH organised under the laws of 

Germany
100

Reddy Pharma Italia SPA A subsidiary of Lacock Holdings Limited organised under the laws of 

Italy
100

Eurobridge Consulting B V A subsidiary of Reddy Antilles NV organised under the laws of 

Netherlands
100

OOO DRS LLC A subsidiary of Eurobridge Consulting B V organised under the laws of 

Russia
100

Aurigene Discovery Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn bhd A subsidiary of Aurigine Discovery Technologies Limited organised 

under the laws of Malaysia
100

Dr. Reddy’s New Zealand Limited (formerly Affordable Health Care 

Limited)

A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under laws of 

New Zealand
100

Dr. Reddy’s  SRL (formerly Jet Generici SRL) A subsidiary of Reddy Pharma Italia SPA organised under the laws of 

Italy

100

Chirotech Technology Limited A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories (EU) Limited organised under 

the laws of United Kingdom
100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Louisiana LLC A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. organised under the laws 

of New Jersey, USA

100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories International SA A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under laws of 

Switzerland 
    100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Romania –SRL (from 7 June 2010) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under laws of 

Romania 
100

I-VEN Pharma Capital Limited (from 6 October 2010) A subsidiary of DRL Investments Limited organised under laws of India 100

Dr. Reddy’s Venezuela, C.A. (from 20 October 2010) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under laws of 

Venezuela 
100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Tennessee, LLC (from 7 October 2010) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. organised under the laws 

of Bristol, USA

    100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Canada, Inc. (from 11 June 2010) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under the laws 

of USA
100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, LLC Ukraine (from 11 May 2011) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories SA organised under the laws of 

Ukraine
100

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories New York, Inc. (from 24 May 2011) A subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories International SA organised 

under the laws of USA
100

Joint Venture

Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Company Limited  (“Reddy 

Kunshan” or “KRRP”), China

A Company organised under the laws of China
51.33

Associates

APR LLC, USA (till 8 July 2011) Enterprise over which the Group had significant influence, through 

100% of Class B interest

Macred India Private Limited, India (from 19 July 2010 till 24 

February 2012)

20% Holding in equity shares
20

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.23	: 	 Description of the Group (CONTINUED)
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2.24 :	C ommitments and contingent liabilities

Particulars
As at

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

(i) Commitments / contingent liabilities:

(a) Guarantees issued by banks                                                                                           154 119

(b) Letters of credit outstanding 714 437

(c) Contingent consideration payable in respect of subsidiaries acquired - 12

(ii) Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts in respect of:

(a) Income tax matters, pending decisions on various appeals made by the Group and by the 

Department	
432 431

(b) Excise matters (including service tax), under dispute 250 127
(c) Customs matters, under dispute - 97
(d) Sales tax matters, under dispute 237 170

(e) The Group has received demands for payment to the credit of the Drug Prices Equalisation Account under Drugs (Price Control) Order, 1995 for few 

of its products which are being contested. based on its best estimate, the Group has made a provision in its books of account towards the potential 

liability related to the principal and interest amount demanded under the aforesaid order and believes that possibility of any liability that may arise on 

account of penalty on this demand is remote.

(iii) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (net 

of advances)

2,353 3,460

(iv) Commitment under Export Promotion Capital Goods (EPCG) Scheme 3,982 9,054

(v) In April 2006, the Group launched its fexofenadine hydrochloride 30 mg, 60 mg and 180 mg tablet products, which are generic versions of  

Sanofi-Aventis’ (“Aventis”) Allegra® tablets. The Group is presently defending patent infringement actions brought by Aventis and Albany Molecular Research 

(“AMR”) in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey.  There are three formulation patents, three methods of use patents, and three 

synthetic process patents which are at issue in the litigation. The Group has obtained summary judgment with respect to two of the formulation patents. 

Teva Pharmaceuticals Industries Limited (“Teva”) and Barr Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Barr”) were defending a similar action in the same court. In September 

2005, pursuant to an agreement with Barr, Teva launched its fexofenadine hydrochloride 30 mg, 60 mg and 180 mg tablet products, which are AB-rated 

(bioequivalent) to Aventis’ Allegra® tablets. Aventis brought patent infringement actions against Teva and its active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) supplier 

in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey. There were three formulation patents, three use patents, and two API patents at issue in the 

litigation. Teva obtained summary judgment in respect of each of the formulation patents. On 27 January 2006, the District Court denied Aventis’ motion for a 

preliminary injunction against Teva and its API supplier on the three use patents, finding those patents likely to be invalid, and one of the API patents, finding that 

patent likely to be not infringed. The issues presented during Teva’s hearing are likely to be substantially similar to those which will be presented with respect to 

the Group fexofenadine hydrochloride tablet products. Subsequent to the preliminary injunction hearing, Aventis sued Teva and Barr for infringement of a new 

patent claiming polymorphic forms of fexofenadine.

The Group utilizes an internally developed polymorph and has not been sued for infringement of the new patent. On 18 November 2008, Teva and Barr 

announced settlement of their litigation with Aventis. On 9 September 2009, AMR added a new process patent to the litigation. This new process patent 

is related to the manufacturing of the active ingredient contained in the group of tablets being sold under the Allegra® franchise (which include Allegra®, 

Allegra-D 12® and Allegra-D 24®). Subsequent to the receipt of the U.S. FDA approval in March 2010 for the Group’s ANDA relating to fexofenadine-

pseudoephedrine higher strength (the generic version of Allegra-D 24®), AMR and Aventis sought a preliminary injunction against the Group in the District 

Court of New Jersey to withhold the launch of the Group’s product.

Subsequent to the receipt of the U.S. FDA approval in March 2010 for the Group’s ANDA relating to fexofenadine-pseudoephedrine higher strength (the generic 

version of Allegra-D 24®) AMR and Aventis sought a preliminary injunction against the Group in the District Court of New Jersey to withhold the launch of the 

Group’s generic version of Allegra D24® product in the U.S. market, arguing that they were likely to prevail on their claim that the Group infringed AMR’s U.S. 

Patent No. 7,390,906. In June 2010, the District Court of New Jersey issued the requested preliminarily injunction against the Group.  Sanofi-Aventis and AMR 

posted security of U.S.$40 with the District Court of New Jersey towards the possibility that  the injunction had been wrongfully granted. The security posted 

shall remain in place until further order of the Court. Pending the final outcome of the case, the Group has not recorded any asset in the consolidated financial 

statements in connection with this product in the United States.
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2.24 :		 Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued) 

On 28 January 2011, the District Court of New Jersey ruled that, based on Sanofi-Aventis and AMR’s likely inability to prove infringement by the Group’s 

products, the preliminary injunction issued in June 2010 should be dissolved. Additionally, the court adopted the Group’s proposed claim construction for the 

7,390,906 patent. Aventis and AMR appealed the 28 January 2011 decisions of the District Court of New Jersey to the Federal Circuit of the United States Court 

of Appeals. The Group subsequently launched sales of its generic version of Allegra-D 24®. Although the preliminary injunction was removed, all such sales are 

at risk pending final resolution of the litigation. Additionally, on 27 April 2011 a trial was held regarding two of the listed formulation patents 6,039,974 and 

5,738,872 (on Allegra-D and Allegra-D12 products) that were asserted against the Group. The Group presented non-infringement and invalidity arguments for 

both and is awaiting a decision on this trial. In September 2011, Aventis withdrew its complaints regarding 7 of the 9 patents asserted against the Group – only 

two of the patents (numbers 750,703 and 7,390,906) remain in dispute. In December 2011 and in March 2012, the Federal Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals 

heard the arguments regarding the claim construction adopted by the District Court for the ‘906 patent. The Group is awaiting the judgment from the Federal 

Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals. Subsequent to this, the Group would proceed to trial on the issues of infringement and validity. 

If Aventis and AMR are ultimately successful in their allegations of patent infringement, the Group could be required to pay damages related to fexofenadine 

hydrochloride and fexofenadine-pseudoephedrine tablet sales made by the Group, and could also be prohibited from selling these products in the future.

(vi) The Group supplies certain generic products, including olanzapine tablets (the generic version of Eli Lilly’s Zyprexa® tablets), to Pharmascience, Inc. for sale in 

Canada. Several generic pharmaceutical manufacturers have challenged the validity of the Zyprexa® patents in Canada. In June 2007, the Canadian Federal 

Court held that the invalidity allegation of one such challenger, Novopharm Ltd., was justified and denied Eli Lilly’s request for an order prohibiting sale of 

the product. Eli Lilly responded by suing Novopharm for patent infringement. Eli Lilly also sued Pharmascience for patent infringement, but that litigation was 

dismissed after the parties agreed to be bound by the final outcome in the Novopharm case.   As reflected in Eli Lilly’s regulatory filings, the settlement allows 

Pharmascience to market olanzapine tablets subject to a contingent damages obligation should Eli Lilly be successful in its litigation against Novopharm. The 

Group’s agreement with Pharmascience includes a provision under which the Group shares a portion of all cost and expense incurred as a result of settling 

lawsuits or paying damages that arise as a consequence of selling the products.

For the preceding reasons, the Group is exposed to potential damages in an amount that may equal the Group’s profit share derived from sale of the product. 

During October 2009, the Canadian Federal Court decided, in the Novopharm case, that Eli Lilly’s patent for Zyprexa was invalid.  This decision was, however, 

reversed in part by the Canadian Federal Court of Appeal on 21 July 2010 and remanded for further consideration. In November 2011, the Canadian Federal 

Court again found the Eli Lilly Zyprexa patent invalid. Eli Lilly has filed an appeal to this decision.  Pending resolution of such appeal, the Group continues to 

sell the product to Pharmascience and remains exposed to potential damages in an amount that may equal the Group’s profit share derived from sale of the 

product.

(vii) Additionally, the Group is involved in other disputes, lawsuits, claims, governmental and/or regulatory inspections, inquiries, investigations and proceedings, 

including patent and commercial matters that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business.  The Group believes that there are no such pending 

matters that are expected to have any material adverse effect on its financial statements in any given accounting period.  

2.25 :		 Agreement with Teva

	 On 23 October 2011, the Group received an approval and was awarded a 180-day period of marketing exclusivity from the U.S. FDA for olanzapine 20 mg 

tablets (generic version of Eli Lilly’s Zyprexa®20 mg) for sale in the United States. The U.S. FDA has also awarded a 180-day period of marketing exclusivity to 

Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva”) for its olanzapine tablets in 2.5 mg, 5 mg, 7.5 mg, 10 mg and 15 mg dosages.  

	 On 12 April 2011, the Group entered into a commercialization, manufacture and supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Teva for the sale of 

olanzapine 20 mg tablets in the United States. Pursuant to the Supply Agreement, the Group supplies the required quantities of olanzapine 20 mg to Teva, and 

Teva markets the same in the United States. Accordingly, on 24 October 2011, sales of the olanzapine 20 mg tablets along with other strengths were launched 

by Teva in the United States in accordance with the Supply Agreement. 

	 In consideration for such supply of olanzapine, Teva is required to pay, in addition to a base purchase price, a profit share to the Group computed based on the 

ultimate net sale proceeds realized by Teva, subject to any reductions or adjustments that are required by the terms of the Supply Agreement. Accordingly, a 

profit share amount of ` 4,500 (U.S. $ 100.7) has been recognized as revenue in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012. The 

aforesaid profit share amount is net of the losses recorded on account of cash flow hedges which the Group used to mitigate its foreign exchange exposure on 

profit share revenues accrued for sales of this product in the United States.

2.26 :		 Accounting for associates

		  APR is a development stage Company in the process of developing an active pharmaceutical ingredient. On 30 January 2004, the Group invested ` 21 in 

the Class B Interest of APR. In accordance with a Development and Supply Agreement between the Group and APR, the Group had agreed to fund APR’s 

development expenses, provided certain milestones are achieved. Such funding was repayable by APR upon successful commercialisation of the product in the 

future. In addition to its equity investment of ` 21 the Group had advanced ` 380 to APR upto 31 March 2011. Till 8 July 2011 the Group exercised significant 

influence over the financial and operating policy decisions of this entity and accordingly the entity is accounted under AS – 23 “Accounting for investments in 

associates in the consolidated financial statements”.  
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2.26 :		 Accounting for associates (CONTINUED)

	 	 On 8 July 2011, the group entered into an asset purchase agreement and a Development, Intellectual Property Transfer and Royalty Agreement which effectively 

terminates the earlier agreement entered in 2004.  As per the agreement, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories New York, Inc, a consolidated subsidiary shall pay ` 140 (USD 

2.85) to acquire the facility, inventories, tangible assets, machinery and equipment, spare parts etc. and Intellectual Property (patent) from APRLLC.  Also, the 

Group relinquished all the class B shares in APR LLC.  Consequently, APR ceased to be an “associate” from 9 July 2011.

2.27 :	 Accounting for interest in a joint venture (JV)

	 Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceuticals Company Limited (“Reddy Kunshan”)

	 The Group has 51.33 % interest in Reddy Kunshan, a joint venture (JV) in China. Reddy Kunshan is engaged in manufacturing and marketing of active 

pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates and formulations in China. The contractual arrangement between shareholders of Reddy Kunshan indicates joint 

control as the minority shareholders, along with the Group, have significant participating rights such that they jointly control the financial and operating policies 

of Reddy Kunshan in the ordinary course of business.

	 The Group has, in accordance with AS 27 “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures” issued under the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules 2006, 

accounted  for its 51.33% interest in the JV by the proportionate consolidation method. Thus the Group’s statement of profit and loss, balance sheet and cash 

flow statement incorporate the Group’s share of income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows of the JV on a line-by-line basis. 

	 The aggregate amount of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the Group’s share in the JV included in these financial statements as of and for 

the year ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 are given below:  	

Particulars
As at

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

Balance Sheet

Short term borrowings 48 39

Fixed assets, net 116 85

Deferred tax assets, net 6 4

Inventories 95 77

Trade receivables 138 106

Cash and bank balances 28 22

Short term loans and advances 145 52

Current liabilities 227 141

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (net of 
advances)

2 1

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

 31 March 2011

Statement of Profit and Loss

Income

Sales 636 420

Other income 6 3

Expenditure

Material costs 172 116

Employee benefits expense 153 103

Operating and other expenses 242 186

Research and development 7 5

Finance costs 4 2

Depreciation 3 4

Profit before taxation 61 7

Provision for taxation

- Deferred tax expense (8) (4)

Profit after taxation 53 3



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

A NN  U A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 1 – 1 2   |   L i f e .  resear      c h .  h o p e 185

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.28 :	 Acquisitions

 	 Acquisition of GlaxoSmithKline’s  (GSK) manufacturing facility in Bristol, Tennessee, U.S.A. and certain product rights

	 On 29 March 2011, the Group concluded an acquisition of GSK’s penicillin manufacturing facilities (the “Property plant and equipment”) in Bristol, Tennessee 

and the product rights for the Augmentin (branded and generic) and Amoxil brands in the United States (“U.S.”) for a total consideration of U.S. $20 million. 

The Group had also acquired certain raw material and finished goods inventory associated with Augmentin for U.S. $3.74 million. In addition to the above, the 

Group agreed to pay U.S. $2.9 millions towards transitional services to be provided by GSK upon successful completion of the acquisition.

	 The business involves manufacturing of penicillin based antibiotics (Augmentin and Amoxil) including single and bi-layer tablets, capsules, and oral suspensions. 

The acquisition will enable the Group to enter into the U.S penicillin-containing antibacterial market segment as well as scaling up and broadening the Group’s 

generics portfolio in North America.

	 Previous year and current year consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial results of this acquired business for the period from 29 March 

2011 to 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012, respectively. 

	 The details of the acquired assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Particulars
Recognized values on 

acquisition

Fixed assets ` 608

Intangible assets 284

Inventories 146

Consideration paid in cash ` 1,038

		  In addition to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as specified above, the Group agreed to pay an amount of ` 132 towards transitional services. 

		  The estimated useful lives of intangibles acquired are as follows:

		  Product-related intangibles 5 years

2.29 :	D eferred taxation

Particulars
As at 

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

Deferred Tax Asset (DTA)

Tax losses carried forward 361 495

Provisions 254 257

Inventories 174 94

Trade receivables 186 144

Other current assets 358 280

Current liabilities 1,124 208

2,457 1,478

Deferred Tax Liability (DTL)

Stock based compensation cost (119) (93)

Fixed assets (1,189) (1,160)

(1,308) (1,253)

Net DTA / (DTL) 1,149 225

		  The net DTA / (DTL) of ` 1,149 (previous year: ` 225) has the following breakdown:

	 Particulars
As at 

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

Deferred tax asset 1,340 1,224

Deferred tax liabilities (191) (999)

Net DTA / (DTL) 1,149 225
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2.30 :	E arnings per share (EPS)

		  The computation of EPS is set out below: 

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

Earnings

Net profit for the year 13,009 9,989

Shares

Number of shares at the beginning of the year 169,252,732 168,845,385

Add:  Equity shares issued on exercise of vested stock  options 307,614 407,347

Total number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 169,560,346 169,252,732

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year – Basic 169,470,729 169,128,649

Add: Weighted average number of equity shares arising out of outstanding stock options (net of the stock 
options forfeited) that have dilutive effect on the EPS

861,213 993,394

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year – Diluted 170,331,942 170,122,043

Earnings per share of par value ` 5/- – Basic (` ) 76.76 59.06

Earnings per share of par value ` 5/- – Diluted (` ) 76.37 58.72

2.31 :		 Related party disclosures

a.	 Related parties where control exists or where significant influence exists and with whom transactions have taken place during the current and previous 

year:

Associates

 APR LLC, USA (till 8 July 2011)
Enterprise over which the Group has significant influence, through 100% of 

Class B interest.

 Macred India Private Limited, India (from 19 July 2010 

to 23 February 2012)

20% Holding in equity shares

Joint Venture

 Kunshan Rotam Reddy Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Reddy 

Kunshan”), China   

Enterprise over which the group exercises joint control with other joint venture 

partners and holds 51.33% equity stake

Partnership Firm

 Globe Enterprises (dissolved on 1 July 2010) A partnership firm with Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited organised under the laws 

of India wherein the Company and Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited share the 

profits in the ratio of 95:5

Enterprises where principal shareholders have control or significant influence (“Significant interest entities”)

 Dr. Reddy’s Research Foundation (“Research Foundation”) Enterprise over which principal shareholders have significant influence

 Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited Enterprise owned by principal shareholders

 Institute of Life Sciences Enterprise over which principal shareholders have significant influence

 Ecologic Technologies Limited Enterprise over which principal shareholders have significant influence

Others

 Green Park Hotels and Resorts Limited (formerly Diana Hotels Limited) Enterprise owned by relative of a director

 Ms. K Samrajyam Spouse of Chairman

 Ms. G Anuradha Spouse of Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 Ms. Deepti Reddy Spouse of Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer

 Dr. Reddy’s Foundation for Human and  Social development Enterprise where principal shareholders are trustees

  S R Enterprises Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence

  K K Enterprises Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence

  A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited Enterprise in which relative of a director has significant influence

Key management personnel represented on the Board 

 Dr. K Anji Reddy Chairman

 Mr. G V Prasad Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 Mr. K Satish Reddy Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer
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2.31 :	 Related party disclosures (continued)

Non-Executive and Independent directors on the Board 

n	 Dr. Omkar Goswami;

n	 Mr. Ravi Bhoothalingam;

n	 Mr. Anupam Puri;

n	 Ms. Kalpana Morparia;  

n	 Dr. J P Moreau; 

n	 Dr. Bruce L A Carter; 

n	 Dr. Ashok Sekhar Ganguly; and

n	 Sridar Iyenger (from 22 August 2011)

b.	 Particulars of related party transactions

	 The following is a summary of significant related party transactions: 

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended  

31 March 2011

i.	 Sales  to:   

	 A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 640 391

	 Macred India Private Limited 4 -

ii.	 Service income from:

	 Ecologic Technologies Limited 1 -

iii.	 Purchases from:

	 A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 1,020 486

	 Others - 1

iv.	 Contributions made to others for social development:

	 Dr. Reddy’s Foundation for Human and Social development 79 88

v.	 Contribution made for research and development:

	 Institute of Life Sciences 48 37

vi.	 Hotel expenses paid to:

	 Green Park Hotel and Resorts Limited (formerly Diana Hotels Limited) 19 20

vii.	 Rent paid to:

	 Key management personnel

		  Mr. K  Satish Reddy 14 14

	 Others

		  Ms. G Anuradha 12 12

		  Ms. Deepti Reddy 3 2

		  Ms. K Samrajyam 1 1

viii.	 Executive Directors’ Remuneration 271 262

	 Directors’ sitting fees (previous year: ` 409 thousands, rounded off in millions) 1 -

ix.	 Provision for decline in the value of long-term investments written off:
	 Globe Enterprises (a partnership firm in India) - 2
x.	 Loss pick-up of associates - -

xi.	 Advance made to associate - 274

	 c. 	 The Group has the following amounts due from / to related parties:

Particulars
As at

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

i.	 Due from related parties (included in trade receivables and short-term loans and advances):       

-	 A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 214 114

-	 APR LLC, USA - 380

	 -	 Ecologic Technologies Limited 1 -

ii.	 Due to related parties (included in current  liabilities and trade payables):

-	 Dr. Reddy’s Research Foundation 20 21

	 -	 A.R. Life Sciences Private Limited 95 81



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

D R .  R E D D Y ’ S  L A B O R AT O R I E S  LT D   |   i g aa  p  c o n solidated         f i n a n c ial    state   m e n ts 188

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.32 :	S egment reporting

The primary and secondary reportable segments are business and geographic segments, respectively.

Business segments: 

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into the following businesses which are reportable segments:

•	 Pharmaceutical services and Active Ingredients (“PSAI”);

•	 Global Generics; and

•	 Proprietary Products.

	 Pharmaceutical Services and Active Ingredients: 

	 This segment includes active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediaries, also known as active pharmaceutical products or bulk drugs, which are the 

principal ingredients for finished pharmaceutical products. Active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediaries become finished pharmaceutical products 

when the dosages are fixed in a form ready for human consumption such as a tablet, capsule or liquid using additional inactive ingredients. This segment also 

includes contract research services and the manufacture and sale of active pharmaceutical ingredients and steroids in accordance with the specific customer 

requirements. This segment was formed by aggregating our former Active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates segment and Custom pharmaceutical 

services segment.

	 Global Generics:

	 This segment consists of finished pharmaceutical products ready for consumption by the patient, marketed under a brand name (branded formulations) or 

as generic finished dosages with therapeutic equivalence to branded formulations (generics). This segment includes the Company’s former formulations and 

generics segments.

	 Proprietary Products: 

	 This segment involves the discovery of new chemical entities for subsequent commercialization and out-licensing. It also involves the Company’s differentiated 

formulations business. 

	 Geographic segments:

	 The Group’s business is organised into five key geographic segments viz. India, North America, Russia and other CIS countries, Europe and Others. Revenues are 

attributable to individual geographic segments based on the location of the customer.

	 Segment revenues and expenses: 

	 All segment revenues and expenses are directly attributable to the segments.

	 Segment assets and liabilities: 

	 As certain assets of  the Group including manufacturing facilities, development facilities, and treasury assets and liabilities are often deployed interchangeably 

across segments, it is impractical to allocate these assets and liabilities to each segment.  

		 Inter‑segment transfers: 

	 Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment result include transfers between business segments. Inter-segment transfers are accounted for at cost to the 

transferring segment.  Such transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

	 Accounting policies: 

	 The accounting policies consistently used in the preparation of the financial statements are also applied to items of revenues and expenditure in individual 

segments.

	 Un-allocable and Head office expenses: 

	 General administrative expenses, head-office expenses, and other expenses that arise at the corporate level and relate to the Group as a whole, are shown as  

un-allocable items.
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2.32 :	 segment reporting (CONTINUED)

		S  egment information for the year ended 31 March 2012

PARTICULARS PSAI
GLOBAL 

GENERICS

PROPRIETARY 

PRODUCTS
OTHERS ELIMINATIONS

UN-

ALLOCABLE 

ITEMS

TOTAL

External sales (Gross) 23,081 70,578 1,075 - - - 94,734

Inter-segment sales 5,336 - - - (5,336) - -

Less:  Excise duty and other similar duties and taxes 
on sales

(209) (196) - - - - (405)

Total Sales 28,208 70,382 1,075 - (5,336) - 94,329

Income from services 730 - - 1,606 - - 2,336

License fees - 421 - - - - 421

Other operating revenues 550 427 47 35 - - 1,059

Segment revenues 29,488 71,230 1,122 1,641 (5,336) 98,145

Interest income - - - - - 377 377

Other unallocable income - - - - - 946 946

Total Revenues 99,468

Segment result 5,828 16,969 (2,135) 2,112 - - 22,774

Unallocated expense (3,674) (3,674)

Finance charges (1,056) (1,056)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 18,044

Income tax expense (5,035) (5,035)

Profit/(loss) before minority interest and equity in 
loss of associates

13,009

Equity in loss of associates -

Minority Interest -

Profit for the year 13,009

		S  egment information for the year ended 31 March 2011

PARTICULARS PSAI
GLOBAL 

GENERICS
PROPRIETARY 

PRODUCTS
OTHERS ELIMINATIONS

UN-
ALLOCABLE 

ITEMS
TOTAL

External sales (Gross) 19,043 53,159 522 - - - 72,724

Inter-segment sales 3,146 9 - - (3,155) - -

Less:  Excise duty and other similar duties and taxes 
on sales

(191) (165) - - - - (356)

Total Sales 21,998 53,003 522 - (3,155) - 72,368

Income from services 568 - - 1,173 - - 1,741

License fees - 124 - - - - 124

Other operating revenues 507 163 2 64 - - 736

Segment revenues 23,073 53,290 524 1,237 (3,155) - 74,969

Interest income 105 105

Other unallocable income 418 418

Total Revenues 75,492

Segment result 3,325 12,299 (1,857) 1,559 - - 15,326

Unallocated expense (3,252) (3,252)

Finance charges (246) (246)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 11,828

Income tax expense (1,839) (1,839)

Profit/(loss) before minority interest and equity in loss 
of associates

9,989

Equity in loss of associates -

Minority Interest -

Profit for the year 9,989
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2.32 :	 Segment reporting (continued)

		  Cost of tangible and intangible fixed assets acquired by business segments

Particulars
For the year ended 

31 March 2012
For the year ended 

31 March 2011

PSAI 2,821 1,580

Global Generics 2,902 8,605

Proprietary Products 16 1,993

Others 204 1,977

Total 5,943 14,155

		  Analysis of depreciation and amortization by business segments

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

PSAI 1,573 1,352

Global Generics 3,069 2,282

Proprietary Products 305 93

Others 234 254

Total 5,181 3,981

		  The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s sales by geographical markets, based on the location of the customer:

		S  ales by markets:

		S  ales by geographic markets (Gross of excise and other similar duties)

Particulars
For the year ended

31 March 2012
For the year ended

31 March 2011

India 14,800 12,961

North America 37,498 22,556

Russia and other CIS countries 13,260 10,858

Europe 17,189 15,774

Others 11,987 10,575

Total 94,734 72,724

		A  nalysis of assets by geography

Particulars
As at

31 March 2012
As at

31 March 2011

India 62,624 49,329

North America 22,198 19,615

Russia and other CIS countries 6,823 4,849

Europe 19,708 14,159

Others 1,889 1,679

Total 113,242 89,631

		C  ost of tangible and intangible fixed assets acquired by geography

Particulars
For the year ended  

31 March 2012
For the year ended  

31 March 2011

India 4,929 10,542

North America 476 2,901

Russia and other CIS countries 14 12

Europe 110 142

Others 414 558

Total 5,943 14,155
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2.33 :	  Employee stock option scheme

	 Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Plan‑2002 (“the DRL 2002 Plan”): 

	 The Company instituted the DRL 2002 Plan for all eligible employees in pursuance of the special resolution approved by the shareholders in the Annual General 

Meeting held on 24 September 2001. The DRL 2002 Plan covers all employees of DRL and its subsidiaries and directors (excluding promoter directors) of DRL 

and its subsidiaries (collectively, “eligible employees”). Under the Scheme, the Compensation Committee of the Board (‘the Committee’) shall administer the 

Scheme and grant stock options to eligible directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Committee shall determine the employees eligible 

for receiving the options, the number of options to be granted, the exercise price, the vesting period and the exercise period. The vesting period is determined 

for the options issued on the date of the grant. The options issued under the 2002 plan vests in periods ranging between one and four years and generally have 

a maximum contractual term of five years.

	 The DRL 2002 Plan was amended on 28 July 2004 at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders to provide for stock options grants in two categories:

		  Category A: 1,721,700 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having  an exercise price equal to the fair market value of 

the underlying equity shares on the date of grant; and

	 Category B: 573,778 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having an exercise price equal to the par value of the underlying 

equity shares (i.e., ` 5/- per option). 

	 The DRL 2002 Plan was further amended on 27 July 2005 at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders to provide for stock option grants in two categories:

 	 Category A: 300,000 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 

underlying equity shares on the date of grant; and

	 Category B: 1,995,478 stock options out of the total of 2,295,478 reserved for grant of options having exercise price equal to the par value of the underlying 

equity shares (i.e., ` 5/- per option).

	 The fair market value of a share on each grant date falling under Category A above is defined as the average closing price (after adjustment of Bonus issue) for 

30 days prior to the grant, in the stock exchange where there is highest trading volume during that period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compensation 

Committee may, after getting the approval of the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting, grant options with a per share exercise price other than fair 

market value and par value of the equity shares.

	 After the issue of bonus shares by the Company in August 2006, the DRL 2002 Plan provides for stock options granted in the above two categories as 

follows:

Particulars
Number of options 

under Category A
Number of options 

under Category B
Total

Options reserved under original plan 300,000 1,995,478 2,295,478

Options exercised prior to stock dividend date (A) 94,061 147,793 241,854

Balance of Shares that can be allotted on exercise of Options (B) 205,939 1,847,685 2,053,624

Options arising from Stock dividend (C) 205,939 1,847,685 2,053,624

Options reserved after stock dividend (A+B+C) 505,939 3,843,163 4,349,102

		  As the number of shares that an individual employee is entitled to receive and the price of the option are known at the grant date, the scheme is considered as 

a fixed grant.

		  In the case of termination of employment, all unvested options would stand cancelled. Options that have vested but have not been exercised can be exercised 

within the time prescribed under each option agreement by the Committee or if no time limit is prescribed, within three months of the date of employment 

termination, failing which they would stand cancelled. 

		  During the current year, the Company under the DRL 2002 Plan has issued 262,520 Category B options to eligible  employees. The vesting period for the options 

granted varies from 12 to 48 months.
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2.33 :	E mployee stock option scheme (CONTINUED)

	 	 The date of grant, number of options granted, exercise price fixed by the Compensation Committee for respective options and the market price of the shares 

of the Company on the date of grant is given below:

DATE OF GRANT NUMBER OF OPTIONS GRANTED EXERCISE PRICE (` )
MARKET PRICE (` )

(AS PER SEBI GUIDELINES)

12 May 2011 251,920 5.00 1,598.90

13 May 2011 9,600 5.00 1,598.55

7 June 2011 1,000 5.00 1,607.40

	 Stock option activity under the DRL 2002 Plan for the two categories of options was as follows:

Category A – Fair Market Value Options Year ended 31 March 2012

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices

Weighted average 
exercise price

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 21,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 444.45 67

Grants during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year - - - -

Exercised during the year (10,000) 448.00 448.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 11,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 441.23 65

Exercisable at the end of the year 1,000 ` 373.50 ` 373.50 19

Category A – Fair Market Value Options Year ended 31 March 2011

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise
prices 

Weighted average 
exercise price

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 100,000 ` 362.50-531.51 ` 403.02 38

Grants during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year (9,000)      373.50- 531.51 443.73 -

Exercised during the year (70,000) 362.50-442.50 385.36 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 21,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 444.45 67

Exercisable at the end of the year 11,000 ` 373.50-448.00 ` 441.23 55
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2.33 :	E mployee stock option scheme (CONTINUED)

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March  2012

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices

Weightedaverage 
exercise price

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year     697,161 ` 5.00 ` 5.00

Granted during the year 262,520  5.00  5.00

Forfeited during the year (61,842)  5.00  5.00

Exercised during the year (254,683)  5.00  5.00

Outstanding at the end of the year 643,156 ` 5.00 ` 5.00

Exercisable at the end of the year 70,551 ` 5.00 ` 5.00

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March  2011

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year     785,007      `  5.00 ` 5.00 72

Granted during the year 284,070  5.00  5.00 91

Forfeited during the year (78,620)  5.00  5.00 -

Exercised during the year (293,296)  5.00  5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year     697,161 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 72

Exercisable at the end of the year      52,106 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 41

		  Dr. Reddy’s Employees ADR Stock Option Plan‑2007 (“the DRL 2007 Plan”): 

		  The Company instituted the DRL 2007 Plan for all eligible employees in pursuance of the special resolution approved by the shareholders in the Annual General 

Meeting held on 27 July 2005. The 2007 Plan came into effect on approval of the Board of Directors on 22 January 2007. The DRL 2007 Plan covers all 

employees of DRL and its subsidiaries and directors (excluding promoter directors) of DRL and its subsidiaries (collectively,“eligible employees”). Under the DRL 

2007 Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) shall administer the DRL 2007 Plan and grant stock options to eligible 

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Compensation Committee shall determine the employees eligible for receiving the options, the number of 

options to be granted, the exercise price, the vesting period and the exercise period. The vesting period is determined for all options issued on the date of the 

grant. The options issued under the DRL 2007 plan vest in periods ranging between one and four years and generally have a maximum contractual term of five 

years.

		  The Compensation Committee may, after obtaining the approval of the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting, grant options with a per share exercise 

price other than fair market value and par value of the equity shares.

		  During the current year, the Company under the DRL 2007 Plan has issued 56,060 Category B options to eligible  employees. The vesting period for the options 

granted varies from 12 to 48 months.

		  The date of grant, number of options granted, exercise price fixed by the Committee for respective options and the market price of the shares of the Company 

on the date of grant is given below:

Date of grant Number of options granted Exercise price (` )
Market price (` )

(As per SEBI Guidelines)

12 May 2011 48,860 5.00 1,598.90

13 May 2011 7,200 5.00 1,598.55
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.33 :	 Employee stock option scheme (CONTINUED)

		  Stock option activity under the DRL 2007 Plan was as follows:

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March  2012

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 124,559 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Granted during the year 56,060  5.00  5.00 89

Forfeited during the year (19,789)  5.00  5.00 -

Exercised during the year (42,931)  5.00  5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 117,899 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 73

Exercisable at the end of the year 6,564 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 47

Category B – Par Value Options Year ended 31 March 2011

Particulars
Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

Weighted- average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 112,390 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Granted during the year 58,660  5.00  5.00 89

Forfeited during the year (2,440)  5.00  5.00 -

Exercised during the year (44,051)  5.00  5.00 -

Outstanding at the end of the year 124,559 ` 5.00 ` 5.00 74

Exercisable at the end of the year 3,364 ` 5.00 `5.00   49

	 The Company has not granted any options under Category A of ‘‘the DRL 2007 plan’’.

	 The Company has followed intrinsic method of accounting based on which a compensation expense of ` 403 (previous year: ` 268) has been recognized in the 

statement of profit and loss (Refer Note 2.19).  

	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Ltd. Employee Stock Option Plan (the “Aurigene ESOP Plan”):

	 In fiscal 2004, Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited (“Aurigene”), a consolidated subsidiary, adopted the Aurigene ESOP Plan to provide for issuance of stock 

options to employees. Aurigene has reserved 4,550,000 of its ordinary shares for issuance under this plan. Under the Aurigene ESOP Plan, stock options may be 

granted at a price per share as may be determined by the Compensation Committee. The options vest from a period ranging from 1 to 3 years, including certain 

options which vest immediately on grant. 

	 Stock option activity under the Aurigene ESOP Plan was as follows:

Particulars

Year ended 31 March  2012

Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

Weighted-average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,009,090    ` 10.00-14.99 ` 11.94 21

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year (1,009,090) - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year Nil - - -

Exercisable at the end of the year Nil - - -
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.33 :	 Employee stock option scheme (continued)

Particulars

Year ended 31 March  2011

Shares arising 
out of options

Range of exercise 
prices 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

Weighted-average 
remaining contractual 

life (months)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,012,332    ` 10.00-14.99 ` 11.95 34

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired / forfeited during the year (3,242) 10.00 - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 1,009,090 ` 10.00-14.99 `  11.94 21

Exercisable at the end of the year 1,009,090 ` 10.00-14.99 `  11.94           21

	 The plan was closed by a resolution of the shareholders in July 2011. Accordingly, as of 31 March 2012, there were no stock options outstanding under the 

Aurigene ESOP Plan.

	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Ltd. Management Group Stock Grant Plan (the “Management Plan”):

	 In fiscal 2004, Aurigene adopted the Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited Management Group Stock Grant Plan (the “Aurigene Management Plan”) to 

provide for issuance of stock options to management employees of Aurigene and its subsidiary Aurigene Discovery Technologies Inc.  Aurigene has reserved  

2,950,000 of its ordinary shares for issuance under this plan.  Under the Aurigene Management Plan, stock options may be granted at an exercise price as 

determined by Aurigene’s Compensation Committee.  The plan was closed by a resolution of the shareholders in January 2008.  Accordingly, as of 31 March 

2012, there were no stock options outstanding under the Aurigene Management Plan.  

	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Ltd. Employee Long term incentive plan (“the Aurigene LTI plan”):

	 During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited introduced a new long term employment defined benefit scheme 

under which all eligible employees of the company will be incentivized based on the year on year growth in the profitability of the Company. Payment to all 

the eligible employees will be made three years after they fall due. Accordingly the Company has valued the liability through an independent actuary. As on  

31 March 2012 the Company carried a liability of ` 21 (previous year: ` 40) under the scheme.

2.34 :	 	Research and development arrangement

	I-VEN Pharma arrangement

	During the year ended 31 March 2005, the Company had entered into an agreement with I-VEN Pharma Capital Limited (“I-VEN”) for the joint development 

and commercialization of a portfolio of 36 generic drug products. As per the terms of the agreement, I-VEN has a right to fund up to 50% of the project costs 

(development, registration and legal costs) related to these products and the related U.S. Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDA”) filed or to be filed, 

subject to a maximum contribution of U.S.$ 56 million. Upon successful commercialization of these products, the Company is required to pay I-VEN a royalty on 

net sales at agreed rates for a period of 5 years from the date of commercialization of each product. 

	As per the agreement, in April 2010 and upon successful achievement of certain performance milestones specified in the agreement (e.g. successful 

commercialization of a specified number of products, and achievement of specified sales milestones), I-VEN has a one-time right to require the Company to pay 

I-VEN a portfolio termination value  amount  for such portfolio of products.  In the event I-VEN exercises this portfolio termination value option, then it will not 

be entitled to the sales-based royalty payment for the remaining contractual years. 

	On 1 October 2010, the Company, DRL Investments Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Dr. Reddy’s) and I-VEN’s beneficial interest holders entered into an 

agreement restructuring the portfolio termination value option exercise. Pursuant to such agreement, the controlling interest in I-VEN was acquired by DRL 

Investments, as a result of which I-VEN became a wholly owned subsidiary of DRL Investments as of 1 October 2010. In consideration for such transfer of the 

controlling interest in I-VEN, the Company paid the I-VEN beneficial interest holders consideration in an aggregate amount of ` 2,680, including an amount of  

` 150 set aside in an escrow fund for a period of 15 months for the purpose of funding certain indemnification obligations of such beneficial interest holders.  

On completion of the aforesaid 15 month period, the amount of ` 150 was paid during the year ended 31 March 2012.  

	The amount of purchase consideration has been recorded as an addition to Goodwill as part of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 

March 2011.
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.35 :	 Operating lease

The Group leases offices, residential facilities and vehicles under operating lease agreements that are renewable on a periodic basis at the option of both the 

lessor and the lessee. Rental expense under those leases was ` 523 (previous year ` 419).

The schedule of future minimum rental payments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases is set out below:

PARTICULARS AS AT 31 MARCH 2012 AS AT 31 MARCH 2011

Not later than 1 year 236 216

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 403 415

Beyond 5 years - -

Total 639 631

2.36 :	F inance lease

The Company has taken buildings, vehicles and other assets under finance lease.  Future minimum lease payments under finance leases as at 31 March 2012 

are as follows: 

PARTICULARS
PRESENT VALUE OF 

MINIMUM LEASE 
PAYMENTS

FUTURE INTEREST
MINIMUM LEASE 

PAYMENTS

Not later than 1 year 31 4 35

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 65 3 68

Beyond 5 years 195 1 196

Total 291 8 299

		  Future minimum lease payments under finance leases as at 31 March 2011 are as follows: 

PARTICULARS
PRESENT VALUE OF 

MINIMUM LEASE 
PAYMENTS

FUTURE INTEREST
MINIMUM LEASE 

PAYMENTS

Not later than 1 year 12 2 14

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 51 6 57

Beyond 5 years 193 1 194

Total 256 9 265

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans

2.37.1 	 Gratuity Plan of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited

	 In accordance with applicable Indian laws, the Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan (the “Gratuity Plan”) covering its employees 

in India. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement or termination of employment. The amount of payment is based 

on the respective employee’s last drawn salary and the years of employment with the Company. Effective September 1, 1999, the Company established the 

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Gratuity Fund (the “Gratuity Fund”). Liabilities in  respect of the Gratuity Plan are determined by an actuarial valuation, based upon 

which the Company makes  contributions to the Gratuity Fund. Trustees administer the contributions made to the Gratuity Fund. Amounts contributed to the 

Gratuity Fund are invested in specific securities as mandated by law and generally consist of  central and state government bonds and debt instruments of Indian 

government-owned corporations.

	 The following table sets out the status of the aforesaid funded gratuity plan as required under AS-15 (Revised):

	 Reconciliation of opening and closing balance of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 584 452

Current service cost 81 58

Interest cost 50 36

Actuarial losses / (gains) (10) 81

Benefits paid (59) (43)

Closing defined benefit obligation 646 584
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :	 Employee Benefit Plans (CONTINUED)

		  Change in the Fair value of assets:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening fair value of plan assets 490 449

Expected return on plan assets 36 33

Actuarial gains / (losses) 6 5

Contributions by employer 151 46

Benefits paid (59) (43)

Closing fair value of plan assets 624 490

		  Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of funded obligations 646 584

Fair value of plan assets (624) (490)

Net liability 22 94

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for gratuity 22 94

Net liability / (asset) 22 94

		  Expense recognized in statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 81 58

Interest on defined benefit obligation 50 36

Expected return on plan assets (36) (33)

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the year (16) 77

Amount included in employee benefit expense 79 138

Actual return on plan assets 43 38

		  Asset information

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Government of India securities - -

Corporate bonds - -

Insurer managed funds 99% 99%

Others 1% 1%

Total 100% 100%

	 The approximate market value of the assets as at 31 March 2012 was ` 624 (previous year: ` 490), breakup of the same is as follows:

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Government of India securities - -

Corporate bonds - -

Insurer managed funds 619 483

Others 5 7

Total 624 490

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :  	E mployee Benefit Plans (continued)

	 Summary of actuarial assumptions

		  Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate 8.60% p.a. 7.95% p.a.

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.60% p.a. 7.50% p.a.

Salary escalation rate
9% p.a. for first year 

and 8% thereafter

9% p.a. for next 
2 years and 8% 

thereafter

	 Discount rate:  The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 

of the obligations.

	 Expected rate of return on plan assets: This is based on the expectation of the average long-term rate of return expected on investments of the fund during 

the estimated term of the obligations. 

	 Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

	 Experience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 646 584 452 398 319

Plan assets 624 490 449 334 289

Surplus / (deficit) (22) (94) (3) (64) (30)

Experience Adjustment on Plan Liabilities 23 28 27 18 36

Experience Adjustment on Plan Assets 6 5 27 (7) 14

2.37.2 	 Gratuity Plan of Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited

	 One of the group’s Companies, Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited, provides for an unfunded Gratuity plan. The disclosure particulars of aforesaid Gratuity 

plan are shown in the below tables:

	 Reconciliation of opening and closing balance of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 25 21

Current service cost 6 4

Interest cost 2 2

Actuarial losses / (gain) (2) (1)

Benefits paid (3) (1)

Closing defined benefit obligation 28 25

		  Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
AS AT

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of unfunded obligations 28 25

Net liability 28 25

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for gratuity 28 25

Net liability / (asset) 28 25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 : 	E mployee Benefit Plans (continued)

	 Expense recognized in statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 6 4

Interest on defined benefit obligation 2 2

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the year (2) (1)

Amount included in employee benefit expense 6 5

		  Summary of actuarial assumptions

		  Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate                8.60% p.a.                7.95% p.a.

Salary escalation rate                 8.00% p.a.                 8.00% p.a.

	 Discount rate:  The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 

of the obligations.

	 Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.  

	 Experience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 28 25 21 6 3

Plan assets - - - - -

Surplus / (deficit) (28) (25) (21) (6) (3)

Experience Adjustment of Plan Liabilities - - 2 - -

Experience Adjustment of Plan Assets - - - - -

2.37.3 	 Long service award benefit plan of Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited          

	 During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company introduced a new post-employment unfunded defined benefit plan under which all eligible employees 

of the Company who have completed the specified service tenure with the Company would be eligible for a “Long Service Cash Award” at the time of their 

employment separation. The amount of such cash payment would be based on the respective employee’s last drawn salary and the specified number of years 

of employment with the Company.  Accordingly the Company has valued the liability through an independent actuary.

	 The following table sets out the status of the aforesaid Long-term service award benefit plan as required under AS-15 (Revised):

	R econciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 69 53

Current service cost 9 6

Interest cost 6 4

Actuarial losses / (gain) (4) 8

Benefits paid (4) (2)

Closing defined benefit obligation 76 69

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated

D R .  R E D D Y ’ S  L A B O R AT O R I E S  LT D   |   i g aa  p  c o n solidated         f i n a n c ial    state   m e n ts 200

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :	 	E mployee Benefit Plans (continued)

	  	 Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
AS AT

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of funded obligations - -

Fair value of plan assets - -

Present value of unfunded obligations 76 69

Net liability 76 69

Amounts in the balance sheet

Net liability / (asset) 76 69

		  Expense recognized in statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 9 6

Interest on defined benefit obligation 6 4

Expected return on plan assets - -

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in year (4) 8

Past service cost - -

Amount included in employee benefit expense 11 18

Actual return on plan assets - -

		  Summary of actuarial assumptions

		  Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate 8.60%  p.a. 7.95%  p.a.

Salary escalation rate
9%  p.a. for first year 

and 8% p.a. thereafter

9%  p.a. for first 2 

years and 8% p.a. 

thereafter

		  Discount rate:  The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 

of the obligations.

		  Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.  

		  Experience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 76 69 53 - -

Plan assets - - - - -

Surplus / (deficit) (76) (69) (53) - -

Experience Adjustment of Plan Liabilities - 1 - - -

Experience Adjustment of Plan Assets - - - - -

2.37.4 	E mployee Benefit plan of Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A. de. C.V.

	 2.37.4 (a) Pension Plan

	 One of the Group’s Companies, Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A. de. C.V. (“Falcon”), provides funded defined benefit pension plan to its employees. 

The pension plan provides for payment to vested employees at retirement or termination of employment. This payment is based on the employee’s integrated 

salary and is paid in the form of a monthly pension over a period of 20 years computed based upon a pre-defined formula. Liabilities in respect of the pension 

plan are determined by an actuarial valuation, based on which the Company makes contributions to the pension plan fund. This fund is administered by a third 

party, who is provided guidance by a technical committee formed by senior employees of Falcon.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :	E mployee Benefit Plans  (CONTINUED)

	 The disclosure particulars of aforesaid pension plan are shown in the below tables:

	R econciliation of opening and closing balance of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 307 270

Current service cost 16 14

Interest cost 26 22

Actuarial losses / (gains) (18) 20

Benefits paid (94) (18)

Foreign exchange differences 35 (1)

Closing defined benefit obligation 272 307

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening fair value of plan assets 247 238

Expected return on plan assets 25 26

Actuarial gains / (losses) (10) (25)

Contributions by employer - 16

Benefits paid (94) (18)

Foreign exchange differences 18 10

Closing fair value of plan assets 186 247

		  Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of funded obligations 272 307

Fair value of plan assets (186) (247)

Net liability 86 60

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for pension 86 60

Net liability / (asset) 86 60

		  Expense recognized in statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 16 14

Interest on defined benefit obligation 25 22

Expected return on plan assets (25) (26)

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the year (7) 42

Amount included in employee benefit expense 9 52

Actual return on plan assets 17 3

		  Asset information

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Corporate bonds 47% 49%

Equity shares of listed companies 53% 51%

Total 100% 100%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :  	E mployee Benefit Plans (CONTINUED)

		  The approximate market value of the assets as at 31 March 2012 was ` 186 (previous year: ` 247), a breakup of the same is as follows:

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Corporate bonds 88 121

Equity shares of listed companies 98 126

Total 186 247

	 Summary of actuarial assumptions

	 Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate 7.50% p.a. 7.75% p.a.

Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.25% p.a. 9.75% p.a.

Salary escalation rate      4.50% p.a.      4.50% p.a.

	 Discount rate: The discount rate is based on the market yields prevailing in Mexico as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the obligations.

	 Expected rate of return on plan assets: This is based on our expectation of the average long-term rate of return expected on investments of the Fund during 

the estimated term of the obligations. 

	 Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

	 Experience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 272 307 270 209 189

Plan assets 186 247 238 168 203

Surplus / (deficit) (86) (60) (32) (42) (14)

Experience Adjustment of Plan Liabilities (33) 16 2 70 28

Experience Adjustment of Plan Assets (10) (23) 36 (38) (19)

2.37.4 	 (b) Seniority pay plans

	 One of the Group’s Companies, Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A. de. C.V. (“Falcon”), provides for seniority, a funded defined benefit retirement plan, 

covering certain catagories of employees.

	 The disclosure particulars of aforesaid Seniority plan are shown in the below tables:

	 Reconciliation of opening and closing balance of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 13 12

Current service cost 1 -

Interest cost 1 1

Actuarial losses / (gains) 3 -

Benefits paid (3) -

Foreign exchange differences - -

Closing defined benefit obligation 15 13
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 : 	E mployee Benefit Plans (CONTINUED)

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening fair value of plan assets 12 10

Expected return on plan assets 1 1

Actuarial gains / (losses) - -

Contributions by employer - 1

Benefits paid (3) -

Foreign exchange differences - -

Closing fair value of plan assets 10 12

		  Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of funded obligations 15 13

Fair value of plan assets (10) (12)

Net liability 5 1

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for seniority pay 5 1

Net liability / (asset) 5 1

		  Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 1 1

Interest on defined benefit obligation 1 1

Expected return on plan assets (1) (1)

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the year 2 -

Amount included in employee benefit expense 3 1

Actual return on plan assets 1               1       

		  Asset information

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Corporate bonds 47% 50%

Equity shares of listed Companies 53% 50%

Total 100% 100%

		  The approximate market value of the assets as at 31 March 2012 was ` 11 (previous year: ` 12), a breakup of the same is as follows:

CATEGORY OF ASSETS
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2012
AS AT 

31 MARCH 2011

Corporate bonds 5 6

Equity shares of listed Companies 5 6

Total 10 12

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :	 Employee Benefit Plans (CONTINUED)

	 Summary of actuarial assumptions

		  Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate 7.50% p.a. 7.75% p.a.

Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.25% p.a. 9.75% p.a.

Salary escalation rate 4.50% p.a. 4.50% p.a.

		  Discount rate: The discount rate is based on the market yields prevailing in Mexico as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the obligations.

		  Expected rate of return on plan assets: This is based on our expectation of the average long-term rate of return expected on investments of the Fund during 

the estimated term of the obligations. 

		  Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

		  Experience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 15 13 12 10 14

Plan assets 10 12 10 9 10

Surplus / (deficit) (5) (1) (2) 2 (4)

Experience Adjustment of Plan Liabilities 4 (1) (1) (3) 3

Experience Adjustment of Plan Assets - - (1) (2) (1)

2.37.4 (c) Severance Pay Plan

		  One of the Group’s Companies, Industrias Quimicas Falcon de Mexico S.A. de. C.V. (“Falcon”), provides for Severance pay plan, an unfunded defined benefit 

plan, applicable to the employees who are terminated from the services of the Company.

		  The disclosure particulars of aforesaid Severance pay plan are shown in the below tables: 

		  Reconciliation of opening and closing balance of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Opening defined benefit obligation 26 25

Current service cost 2 2

Interest cost 2 2

Actuarial losses / (gains) 4 (4)

Benefits paid (8) -

Foreign exchange differences 3 1

Closing defined benefit obligation 29 26

		  Amount recognized in balance sheet

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Present value of unfunded obligations 29 26

Net liability 29 26

Amounts in the balance sheet

Provision for severance pay 29 26

Net liability / (asset) 29 26
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.37 :	 Employee Benefit Plans (CONTINUED)

		  Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Current service cost 2 2

Interest on defined benefit obligation 2 2

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the year 4 (3)

Amount included in employee benefit expense 8 1

		  Summary of actuarial assumptions

		  Financial assumptions at the valuation date:

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2012
FOR THE YEAR ENDED                 

31 MARCH 2011

Discount rate 7.50% p.a. 7.75% p.a.

Salary escalation rate 4.50% p.a. 4.50% p.a.

		  Discount rate: The discount rate is based on the market yields prevailing in Mexico as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the obligations.

		  Salary escalation rate: The estimate of future salary increases considered takes into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

		E  xperience adjustments

PARTICULARS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation 29 26 25 25 50

Plan assets - - - - -

Surplus / (deficit) (29) (26) (25) (25) (50)

Experience Adjustment of Plan Liabilities 9 (4) (3) 6 9

Experience Adjustment of Plan Assets - - - - -

2.38 :	 Exceptional item - Impairment of Goodwill and Intangibles

	 During the year, there have been certain significant changes in the German generics market such as reference price cuts, announcement of large sales tender 

from one of the key SHI funds. Pursuant to such adverse market developments, the Group tested its carrying value of intangibles (primarily product related) 

and goodwill at the betapharm cash generating unit (CGU) for impairment. The recoverable value of these intangibles was determined to be the Value-In-Use 

(“ViU”).  The impairment testing indicated that the carrying value of certain product related intangibles was higher than its recoverable value and accordingly, 

the Group has recorded an impairment loss with respect to such intangible assets amounting to ` 1,288 as at 31 March 2012. Additionally, as regards goodwill, 

the carrying value of the betapharm CGU was also higher than the recoverable amount resulting in a goodwill impairment of ̀  46. The net cash flows for various 

product related intangibles and goodwill have been discounted based on a post-tax discount rate of 6.33% to 8.05% for product related intangibles and 6.96% 

for goodwill. The aforesaid impairment losses in the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year ended 31 March 2012 relate to the Group’s Global 

Generics segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.39 :	 HEDGES OF FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

	 The Group is exposed to exchange rate risk which arises from its foreign exchange revenues and expenses, primarily in U.S. dollars, British pounds sterling, 

Russian roubles and Euros, and foreign currency debt in U.S. dollars, Russian roubles and Euros.  

	 The Group uses forward contracts and option contracts (derivatives) to mitigate its risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, the Group uses 

non-derivative financial instruments as part of its foreign currency exposure risk mitigation strategy.

	 During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, the Group adopted the Accounting Standard (AS)-32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” as issued by ICAI, to 

the extent that the adoption does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements, Company law and other 

regulatory requirements. The objective of this standard is to provide information relating to various financial instruments that the Group holds along with the 

nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group is exposed to. Further, the standard requires disclosure for the risk management 

strategies that management adopts to address the specific risk factors to the extent they are considered to be material.

	 Hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions

	 The Group classifies its derivative contracts that hedge foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges and 

measures them at fair value. The effective portion of such cash flow hedges is recorded as part of reserves and surplus within the Group’s “hedging reserve”, 

and re-classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions. The ineffective 

portion is immediately recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

	 The Group also designates certain non-derivative financial liabilities, such as foreign currency borrowings from banks, as hedging instruments for the hedge 

of foreign currency risk associated with highly probable forecasted transactions and, accordingly, applies cash flow hedge accounting for such relationships. 

Re-measurement gain/loss on such non-derivative financial liabilities is recorded as part of reserves and surplus within the Group’s “hedging reserve”, and re-

classified in the statement of profit and loss as revenue in the period corresponding to the occurrence of the forecasted transactions.

	 In respect of the aforesaid hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions, the Group has recorded, as a part of reserves and surplus, a net loss of ` 2,483 

and a net gain of ` 38 for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Group also recorded, as part of revenue, a net loss of ` 1,219 and a net 

gain of  ` 497 during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively.

	 The net carrying amount of the Group’s “hedging reserve” in reserves and surplus before adjusting for tax impact was a loss of ` 1,936 as at 31 March 2012, 

as compared to a gain of ` 546 as at 31 March 2011.

		  The table below summarises the periods when the forecasted cash flows associated with hedging instruments are expected to occur.

AS AT
31 MARCH 2012

AS AT
31 MARCH 2011

Cash flows in U.S. Dollars (figures in equivalent rupee millions)

Not later than one month 2,544  1,784

Later than one month and not later than three months 5,087 2,988

Later than three months and not later than six months 6,614 4,460

Later than six months and not later than two years 15,771 13,601

30,016 22,833

Cash flows in Euro (figures in equivalent rupee millions)

Not later than one month 237 -

Later than one month and not later than three months 204  380

Later than three months and not later than six months - 571

441  951

	 Hedges of recognized assets and liabilities

	 Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and for which no hedge accounting 

is applied are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. The changes in fair value of such derivative contracts as well as the foreign exchange gains and 

losses relating to the monetary items are recognized as part of foreign exchange gains and losses. 

	 Fair values of foreign exchange derivative contracts are determined under the Black Scholes Merton technique by using inputs from market observable data and 

other relevant terms of the contract with counter parties which are banks or financial institutions.

	 In respect of the aforesaid foreign exchange derivative contracts and the ineffective portion of the derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges, the 

Group has recorded, as part of foreign exchange gains and losses, a net gain of ` 410 and a net gain of ` 355 for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, 

respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.39 :	HED GES OF FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

	 The following are the outstanding foreign exchange derivative contracts for hedges of recognized assets and liabilities: 

As at 31 March 2012

CATEGORY CURRENCY CROSS CURRENCY
AMOUNTS IN 

MILLIONS
BUY / SELL PURPOSE

Forward contract USD INR USD 70 Sell Hedging

Forward contract EUR INR EUR 10 Sell Hedging

Option contract USD INR USD 194 Sell Hedging

As at 31 March 2011

CATEGORY CURRENCY CROSS CURRENCY
AMOUNTS IN 

MILLIONS
BUY / SELL PURPOSE

Forward contract USD INR USD 4.5 Buy Hedging

Forward contract USD INR USD 232 Sell Hedging

Forward contract EUR USD EUR 5 Sell Hedging

The following are the outstanding foreign currency derivative contracts, which are classified as cash flow hedges and effective: 

As at 31 March 2012 

CATEGORY CURRENCY CROSS CURRENCY
NO OF 

CONTRACTS
AMOUNTS IN 

MILLIONS
GAIN / (LOSS)

Forward contract USD INR 19 USD 410 ` (1742)

Option contract USD INR 15 USD 180 ` 15

As at 31 March 2011 

CATEGORY CURRENCY CROSS CURRENCY
NO OF 

CONTRACTS
AMOUNTS IN 

MILLIONS
GAIN / (LOSS)

Option contract USD INR 9 USD 345 ` 508

2.40 :	FI NANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

	 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s primary risk management focus is 

to minimize potential adverse effects of market risk on its financial performance.  The Group’s risk management assessment and policies and processes are 

established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor such risks and compliance with the 

same. Risk assessment and management policies and processes are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The 

Board of Directors and the Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing Group’s risk assessment and management policies and processes.

	 a.  Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises 

principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment securities. Credit risk is managed through credit approvals, establishing credit limits and 

continuously monitoring the credit worthiness of customers to which the Group grants credit terms in the normal course of business. The Group establishes an 

allowance for doubtful debts and impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables and investments. 

	 Trade and other receivables

	 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the customer, including the 

default risk of the industry and country, in which the customer operates, also has an influence on credit risk assessment.  Credit risk is managed through credit 

approvals, establishing credit limits and continuously monitoring the credit worthiness of customers to which the Group grants credit terms in the normal course 

of business. As at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 the maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to trade and other receivables is ` 25,368 and ` 17,611 

respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.40 :	FI NANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

	 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 

	 None of the Group’s cash equivalents, including time deposits with banks, are past due or impaired.  Trade receivables amounting to `  20,697 and ` 13,598 

were neither past due nor impaired as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 respectively.

	 Financial assets that are past due but not impaired 

	 The Group’s credit period for customers generally ranges from 20 – 180 days.  The age analysis of the trade receivables has been considered from the due date 

of the invoice. The aging of trade receivables that are past due, net of allowance for doubtful receivables, is given below: 

 
PERIOD (IN DAYS)

AS AT 31 MARCH

2012 2011

1-90 3,697  3,158

91-180 270  214

More than 180 704 641

Total 4,671  4,013

	 Financial assets that are impaired

	 The age analysis of the trade receivables that are impaired is given below:

 
PERIOD (IN DAYS)

AS AT 31 MARCH

2012 2011

1-90  -  -

91-180 - -

More than 180 537 494

Total  537  494

	 Reconciliation of the allowance account for credit losses

	 The details of changes in provision for bad debts during the year ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 are as follows:

PARTICULARS 2011-12 2010-11

Balance as at 1 April  494  419

Provision made during the year 173 213

Trade receivables written off during the year    (130)    (138)

Balance as at 31 March  537  494

	 b. Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring, 

as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risk to the Group’s reputation. 

	 As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, the Group had unutilized credit limits from banks of ` 14,290 and ` 13,089, respectively.  

	 As at 31 March 2012, the Group had working capital of ` 24,076 including cash and bank balances of ` 16,061 and current investments of ` 2,070.  As at  

31 March 2011, the Group had working capital of  ` 6,065 including cash and bank balances of ` 5,751.  

	 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities (other than obligations under finance leases which have 

been disclosed in Note 2.36, Bonus Debentures which have been disclosed in Note 2.41 and provision for employee benefits which have been disclosed in Note 

2.5) as at 31 March 2012:

PARTICULARS 2013 2014 2015 2016 THEREAFTER TOTAL

Trade payables 7,566  -  -  -  - 7,566

Short term borrowings 15,888 - - - - 15,888

Long term borrowings - 19 2,811 5,603 2,647 11,080

Other liabilities and provisions 22,260 30 26 25 71 22,412
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.40 :	FI NANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

	 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities (other than obligations under finance leases which have 

been disclosed in Note 2.36 and Bonus Debentures which have been disclosed in Note 2.41 and provision for employee benefits which have been disclosed in 

Note 2.5) as at 31 March 2011: 

PARTICULARS 2012 2013 2014 2015 THEREAFTER TOTAL

Trade payables  6,345    -  -  -  -   6,345

Short term borrowings 18,319 - - - - 18,319

Long term borrowings 2 2 19 13 14 50

Other liabilities and provisions 17,220 -  - - 234 17,454

	 Financial guarantees

	 Financial guarantees disclosed in Note 2.24 have been provided as counter corporate guarantee to the financial institutions and banks that have extended credits 

and other financial assistance to the Company’s subsidiaries. The Group does not foresee any significant credit risk exposure.

	 a. Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings or fair values or future cash flows that may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of 

a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other market changes that affect market risk-

sensitive instruments.  Market risk is attributable to all market risk-sensitive financial instruments including foreign currency receivables and payables and long-

term debt. The Company is exposed to market risk primarily related to foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and the market value of its investments. Thus, 

the Group’s exposure to market risk is a function of investing and borrowing activities and revenue generating and operating activities in foreign currencies.  

	 Foreign exchange risk

	 The Group’s exchange risk arises from its foreign operations, foreign currency revenues and expenses, (primarily in U.S. dollars, British pounds sterling and Euros) 

and foreign currency borrowings (in U.S. dollars and euros). A significant portion of the Group’s revenues are in these foreign currencies, while a significant 

portion of its costs are in Indian rupees. As a result, if the value of the Indian rupee appreciates relative to these foreign currencies, the Group’s financial 

performance may get adversely impacted.  The exchange rate between the Indian rupee and these foreign currencies has changed substantially in recent periods 

and may continue to fluctuate substantially in the future. Consequently, the Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as foreign exchange forward and 

option contracts, to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates in respect of its forecasted cash flows and trade receivables.

	 The details in respect of the outstanding foreign exchange forward and option contracts are given in Note 2.39 above.

	 In respect of the Group’s derivative contracts, a 10% decrease/increase in the respective exchange rates of each of the currencies underlying such contracts 

would have resulted in an approximately ` 2,564 increase/decrease in the Group’s hedging reserve and an approximately ` 1,306 increase/decrease in the 

Group’s net profit as at 31 March 2012.

	 In respect of the Group’s derivative contracts, a 10% decrease/increase in the respective exchange rates of each of the currencies underlying such contracts 

would have resulted in an approximately ` 2,432 increase/decrease in the Group’s hedging reserve and an approximately ` 1,047 increase/decrease in the 

Group’s net profit as at 31 March 2011.

	 The following table analyzes foreign currency risk from financial instruments as at 31 March 2012: 

U.S. Dollars Euro           Others(1) Total

Assets:

Cash and bank balances 2,241 93 2,337 4,671

Trade receivables 11,173 1,668 6,872 19,713

Long term, short term loans and advances and other current assets 1,035 68 376 1,479

Total 14,449 1,829 9,585 25,863

Liabilities:

Trade payables 2,160 126 500 2,786

Long term borrowings 11,042 - 8 11,050

Short term borrowings 9,488 1,323 1,970 12,781

Other liabilities and provisions 2,957 233 1,797 4,987

Total 25,647 1,682 4,275 31,604

	 (1) Others include currencies such as Russian roubles, British pounds sterling, Swiss francs, New Zealand dollars, Venezuela bolivars, etc.
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.40 :	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

	 The following table analyzes foreign currency risk from financial instruments as at 31 March 2011:

U.S. DOLLARS EURO           OTHERS(1) TOTAL

Assets:

Cash and bank balances  3,022  49  976  4,047

Trade receivables 7,754 977 4,409 13,140

Long term, short term loans and advances and other current assets 75 8 186 269

Total  10,851  1,034  5,571  17,456 

Liabilities:

Trade payables  273  19  295  587

Long term borrowings 7 - - 7

Short term borrowings 9,977 1,521 2,271 13,769

Other liabilities and provisions 756 - 1,246 2,002

Total  11,013  1,540  3,812  16,365 

	 (1) Others include currencies such as Russian roubles, British pounds sterling, Swiss francs, New Zealand dollars, Venezuela bolivars, etc.

	 For the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, every 10% depreciation/appreciation in the exchange rate between the Indian rupee and the respective currencies 

in the above mentioned financial assets/liabilities would affect the Group’s net loss/profit by approximately ` 574 and ` 109 respectively.

	 Interest rate risk

	 As of 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011, the Group had foreign currency loans of ` 23,334 carrying a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 100 – 150 bps and  

` 5,758 carrying a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 52 – 80 bps, respectively. Also as at 31 March 2011 the Group had an INR loan of ` 950 carrying an interest 

rate of 8.75%. These loans expose the Group to risk of changes in interest rates.  The Group’s treasury department monitors the interest rate movement and 

manages the interest rate risk based on its policies, which include entering into interest rate swaps as considered necessary. As of 31 March 2012, the Group 

had not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk. 

	 For the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, every 10% increase or decrease in the floating interest rate component (i.e. LIBOR) applicable to its loans and 

borrowings would affect the Group’s net loss/profit by approximately ` 11 and ` 16, respectively.

	 The Group’s investments in time deposits with banks and short term liquid mutual funds are for short durations, and therefore do not expose the Group to 

significant interest rates risk. 

	 Commodity rate risk

	 Exposure to market risk with respect to commodity prices primarily arises from the Group’s purchases and sales of active pharmaceutical ingredients, including 

the raw material components for such active pharmaceutical ingredients. These are commodity products, whose prices may fluctuate significantly over short 

periods of time. The prices of the Group’s raw materials generally fluctuate in line with commodity cycles, although the prices of raw materials used in the 

Group’s active pharmaceutical ingredients business are generally more volatile. Cost of raw materials forms the largest portion of the Company’s operating 

expenses. Commodity price risk exposure is evaluated and managed through operating procedures and sourcing policies. The Group has historically not entered 

into any derivative financial instruments or futures contracts to hedge exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 2: Notes to the consolidated accounts (CONTINUED)

2.41 :	 Issuance of Bonus Debentures

	 Pursuant to a scheme of arrangement sanctioned by the High Court of Andhra Pradesh, Hyderabad, India on 19 July 2010 and subsequent approval of the 

Reserve Bank of India (on 18 January 2011) and no-objection from the Indian income-tax authorities (on 1 February 2011), the Company had, on 24 March 

2011, allotted 1,015,516,392, 9.25% Unsecured Redeemable Non-convertible Bonus Debentures (aggregating to ` 5,078) in the ratio of 6 debentures of the 

face value of ` 5 each fully paid up for every equity share of ` 5 each held as on the record date i.e. 18 March 2011. The interest is payble at the end of 12, 

24 and 36 months from the intial date of issuance. The bonus debentrues are redeemable at the end of 36 months from the initial date of issuance. These 

debentures have been listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited.

	 In terms of the scheme, the Company delivered the aggregate value of the debentures to an on-shore escrow account of a merchant banker appointed by 

the Board of Directors.  The merchant banker received the aforesaid amount in the escrow account for and on behalf of and in trust for the members entitled 

to receive the debentures as deemed dividend within the meaning of section 2 (22) of the Income-tax Act, 1961.  The merchant banker had also immediately 

following the receipt of funds in the escrow account, for and on behalf of the members, paid by way of subscription for allotment of the requisite number of 

debentures issued under the scheme.

	 During the previous year ended 31 March 2011, in terms of accounting treatment set out in the scheme, the issuance of the aforesaid debentures (with an 

aggregate face value of ` 5,078) and the dividend distribution tax paid thereon (aggregating to ` 843) had been reflected by transferring the corresponding 

amounts from the General Reserve of the Company and the costs associated in relation to the aforesaid scheme (primarily comprising directly attributable 

transaction costs aggregating to ` 51) had been expensed along with a corresponding transfer from the General Reserve account. 

	 Pursuant to the scheme and as per the requirements of the Companies Act, 1956, the Company has also created a Debenture Redemption Reserve aggregating 

to ` 867 and ` 19 as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 respectively.

2.42 :	 Venezuela Currency Devaluation

	 The Group’s Venezuela operations are conducted as an extension of the parent company. On 30 December 2010, the Foreign Exchange Administration 

Commission of Venezuela (commonly referred to as the “CADIVI”) enacted a decree (exchange agreement No.14) to unify the official exchange rates at a single 

rate of 4.3 Venezuela Bolivars (“VEB”) per U.S.$ by abolishing the preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ effective from 1 January 2011. 

	 Further, on 13 January 2011, the CADIVI issued another decree to interpret the transitional requirements for the use of the new official exchange rate and 

described that if the following conditions were to be satisfied, the use of the pre-devaluation rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ would be permissible:

	 •	 For fund repatriation – to the extent the CADIVI has issued approvals in the form of approvals of Autorización de Liquidación de Divisas (‘ALD’) and which 

have been sent to and received by the Banco Central de Venezuela by 31 December 2010; 

	 •	 For foreign currency acquisition – to the extent the CADIVI had issued an Authorization of Foreign Currency Acquisition (‘AAD’) by 31 December 2010 and 

the approval relates to imports for the health and food sectors or certain other specified purposes.

	 Based on the authorizations received by the Group, and in light of the above announcements, the Group believes that it is eligible for the usage of the 

preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$ in relation to some of its monetary items denominated in VEB as on 31 March 2011. Accordingly, those monetary items 

in the Group’s Venezuelan operations are translated into the reporting currency at the preferential rate of 2.6 VEB per U.S.$. as at 31 March 2011.

2.43 :	 Comparative figures

	 On applicability of revised Schedule VI from current year, the Group has reclassified previous year figures to conform to this year’s classification. The adoption 

of revised Schedule VI does not impact recognition and measurement principles followed for preparation of the financial statements. However, it significantly 

impacts presentation and disclosures made in the financial statements, particularly presentation of Balance Sheet.
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We have adopted IFRS as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for preparing our financial statements for the purpose of filings with SEC. We have 
furnished all our interim financial reports of fiscal 2012 with SEC which were prepared under IFRS. The Annual Report in Form 20-F will also be made available at the 
Company’s website. A hard copy of such Annual Report in Form 20-F will be made available to the shareholders, free of charge, upon request. For details visit www.
drreddys.com

The extract of the audited consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS has been provided here under.

all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , excep t share data and where otherwise stated

Particulars
As of 

31 March 2012

As of 

31 March 2011

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ` 7,379  ` 5,729

Other investments 10,773 33

Trade receivables, net 25,339 17,615

Inventories 19,352 16,059 

Derivative financial instruments 7 784

Current tax assets 584 442    

Other current assets 6,518 6,931

Total current assets ` 69,952 ` 47,593
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 33,246 29,642

Goodwill 2,208 2,180

Other intangible assets 11,321 13,066 

Investment in equity accounted investees 368 313

Deferred income tax assets 1,965 1,935  

Other non-current assets 417 276

Total non-current assets ` 49,525 ` 47,412  
Total assets ` 119,477 ` 95,005
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade payables ` 9,502  ` 8,480 

Derivative financial instruments 1,830 -
Current income tax liabilities 682 1,231

Bank overdraft - 69

Short-term borrowings 15,844 18,220

Long-term borrowings, current portion 31 12

Provisions 1,926 1,314

Other current liabilities 13,645 11,689

Total current liabilities ` 43,460 ` 41,015 
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans and borrowings, excluding current portion  ` 16,335 `  5,271

Provisions 47 41

Deferred tax liabilities 1,132 2,022

Other liabilities 1,059 666

Total non-current liabilities ` 18,573 ` 8,000
Total liabilities ` 62,033 ` 49,015
Equity

Share capital 	 ` 848 ` 846

Equity shares held by controlled trust (5) (5)

Share premium 20,934 20,683

Share based payment reserve 800 729

Debenture redemption reserve 865 19

Retained earnings 31,599 20,392 

Other components of equity 2,403 3,326 

Total equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company ` 57,444 ` 45,990 

Non-controlling interests - -
Total equity ` 57,444 ` 45,990 
Total liabilities and equity ` 119,477 ` 95,005



Profit And Loss Account  for the year ended 31 march 2011

all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , e xcep t share data and where otherwise stated
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2012

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2010

Revenues ` 96,737 ` 74,693 ` 70,277

Cost of revenues 43,432 34,430 33,937

Gross profit ` 53,305 ` 40,263 ` 36,340

Selling, general and administrative expenses 28,867 23,689 22,505

Research and development expenses 5,911 5,060 3,793

Impairment loss on other intangible assets     1,040 - 3,456

Impairment loss on goodwill - - 5,147

Other (income) / expense, net (765) (1,115) (569)

Total operating expenses, net ` 35,053 ` 27,634 ` 34,332

Results from operating activities 18,252 12,629 2,008

Finance expense (1,067) (362) (372)

Finance income 1,227 173 369

Finance (expense) / income, net 160 (189) (3)

Share of profit of equity accounted investees, net of income tax 54 3 48

Profit / (loss) before income tax 18,466 12,443 2,053

Income tax (expense)/benefit (4,204) (1,403) (985)

Profit / (loss) for the year ` 14,262 ` 11,040 ` 1,068

Attributable to:  

Equity holders of the Company 14,262 11,040 1,068

Non-controlling interests - - -  

Profit / (loss) for the year ` 14,262 ` 11,040 ` 1,068

Earnings / (loss) per share  

Basic ` 84.16 ` 65.28 ` 6.33

Diluted ` 83.81 ` 64.95 ` 6.30

Weighted average number of equity shares used in computing
earnings / (loss)  per equity share

Basic 169,469,888 169,128,649 168,706,977

Diluted 170,177,944 169,965,282 169,615,943

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2012

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2010

Profit / (loss) for the year ` 14,262 ` 11,040 ` 1,068
Other comprehensive income / (loss)  

Changes in fair value of available for sale financial instruments  ` 2  ` 8 ` 13 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 711 420 241

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net (2,496) 37 745

Income tax on other comprehensive income 860 (59) (102)

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of income tax ` (923) ` 406 ` 897
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year ` 13,339 ` 11,446 ` 1,965

   

Attributable to:    

Equity holders of the Company 13,339 11,446 1,965

Non-controlling interests - - -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year ` 13,339 ` 11,446 ` 1,965

all amount s in indian rupees mill ions , excep t share data and where otherwise stated
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Notice is hereby given that the 28th Annual General Meeting of the members of 

the Company will be held on Friday, 20 July 2012 at 11.30 A.M. at the Grand Ball 

Room, Hotel Taj Krishna, Road No. 1, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad - 500 034, Andhra 

Pradesh, India, to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1.	 To receive, consider and adopt the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2012 and the 

Profit & Loss Account of the Company for the year ended on that date along 

with the Reports of the Directors’ and Auditors’ thereon.

2.	 To declare dividend on the equity shares for the financial year 2011-12.

3.	 To appoint a Director in place of Dr. Omkar Goswami, who retires by rotation, 

and being eligible, seeks re-appointment.

4.	 To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Ravi Bhoothalingam, who retires by 

rotation, and being eligible, seeks re-appointment.

5.	 To appoint the Statutory Auditors and fix their remuneration. The retiring 

Auditors B S R & Co., Chartered Accountants are eligible for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

6.	 APPOINTMENT OF MR. SRIDAR IYENGAR AS A DIRECTOR OF THE 

COMPANY

	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, the 

following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

	 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 260 of the Companies 

Act, 1956 and Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company, 

Mr. Sridar Iyengar, who was appointed as an Additional Director at the 

meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company and who holds office upto 

the date of ensuing Annual General Meeting of the Company and in respect 

of whom the Company has received notice from a member under Section 257 

of the Companies Act, 1956 proposing his candidature, be and is hereby 

appointed as a Director of the Company, liable to retire by rotation.”

7.	 RE-APPOINTMENT OF MR. SATISH REDDY AS WHOLE TIME DIRECTOR 

DESIGNATED AS MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF OPERATING 

OFFICER OF THE COMPANY

	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, the 

following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

	 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 198, 269, 309, 310 

and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 1956 read 

with Schedule XIII of the said Act, including any statutory modification and 

re-enactment thereof for the time being in force, approval of the Company be 

and is hereby accorded to the re-appointment of Mr. Satish Reddy as Whole 

Time Director designated as Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer 

of the Company (not liable to retire by rotation) for a further period of 5 years 

with effect from 1 October 2012 to 30 September 2017, on the following 

terms and conditions and remuneration:

(A)  	SALARY:  Rs. 350,000 per month

(B)	 PERQUISITES:

Category A:

1.	 Housing: Rent Free Accommodation or House Rent Allowance of 

Rs. 175,000  per month.

Notice of Annual General Meeting

2.	 Medical Reimbursement for self and family as per the rules of the 

Company.

3.  	 Leave Travel Assistance as per the rules of the Company.

Category B:

1.	 Contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund, Annuity Fund or 

Gratuity as per the rules of the Company.

2.	 Encashment of leave as per the rules of the Company.

Category C:

Car, telephone at residence and mobile phone for use on Company’s 

business.

(C) 	 COMMISSION:

	 In addition to the above salary and perquisites, commission will also be 

paid annually upto 0.75% of the net profits of the Company, calculated 

in the manner referred to in Section 198 of the Companies Act, 1956, as 

may be decided by the Board of Directors of the Company every year.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and 

are hereby authorized to vary, alter or modify the different components of 

the above-stated remuneration as may be agreed to between the Board of 

Directors and Mr. Satish Reddy.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event of any loss or inadequacy of 

profits in any financial year during his tenure, the Company shall pay 

Mr. Satish Reddy, the remuneration by way of salary, perquisites, commission 

or any other allowances as specified above and in accordance with the limits 

specified under Schedule XIII of the Companies Act, 1956 or such other limits 

as may be prescribed by the Government from time to time in this regard, as 

minimum remuneration.’’

8.	 EXTENSION OF TERM OF DR. REDDY’S EMPLOYEES STOCK OPTION 

SCHEME, 2002

	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, the 

following resolution as a Special Resolution:

	 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Regulation 7 and other applicable provisions 

of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme 

and Employee Share Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 and Clause 20 of the 

Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2002 (the Scheme) and other 

applicable provisions, if any, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

stated in this regard in the existing Scheme of the Company, the approval of 

the Company be and is hereby accorded to the extension of the validity of 

the Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2002 for a further period of  

10 (ten) years with effect from 29 January 2012.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consequential amendment to the Clause 11(a) 

of the Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2002 be and is hereby 

approved.”

NOTES:

1.	 An explanatory statement pursuant to Section 173(2) of the Companies Act, 

1956 in respect of the special business is annexed hereto.
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2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy 

to attend and vote instead of himself / herself and the proxy need 

not be a member of the Company. The instrument of proxy in order 

to be effective, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the 

Company, duly completed and signed, not less than 48 hours before 

the meeting.

3.	 The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company will 

remain closed from Tuesday, 3 July 2012 to Friday, 6 July 2012 (both days 

inclusive).

4.	 The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 11 May 

2012 has recommended a dividend of Rs. 13.75 per share on equity share of  

Rs. 5/- each as final dividend for the financial year 2011-12. Dividend, if 

declared, at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid on or after 27 July 

2012.

5.	 Members are requested to intimate immediately, any change in their 

address or bank mandates to their depository participants with whom they 

are maintaining their demat accounts or to the Company’s Share Transfer 

Agent, M/s. Bigshare Services Private Limited, if the shares are held by them in 

certificate form.

6.	 Members, desiring any information relating to the accounts, are requested to 

write to the Company at an early date so as to enable the management to 

keep the information ready.

7.	 For the convenience of members and for proper conduct of the meeting, entry 

to the place of meeting will be regulated by attendance slip, which is a part 

of the annual report. Members are requested to sign at the place provided on 

the attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance to the venue.

8.	 Members are requested to kindly bring their copy of the Annual Report with 

them at the Annual General Meeting, as no extra copy of Annual Report 

would be made available at the Annual General Meeting.

9.	 Pursuant to Section 109A of the Companies Act, 1956, members are entitled 

to make a nomination in respect of shares held by them in physical form. 

Members desirous of making a nomination are requested to send their 

requests in Form No. 2B in duplicate (which will be made available on request) 

to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent of the Company.

10.	 The certificate from the Auditors of the Company certifying that the Company’s 

Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2002 and Employees ADR Stock Option 

Scheme, 2007 are being implemented in accordance with the Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock 

Purchase Scheme), Guidelines, 1999 and in accordance with the resolution of 

the members passed at the general meeting, will be available for inspection 

by the members at the Annual General Meeting.

11.	 The brief profile of the Directors proposed to be appointed / re-appointed is 

given in the section on Corporate Governance.

12.	 In terms of the circular Nos. 17/2011 and 18/2011, dated 21 and 29 April 2011,  

issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), Government of India, 

allowing paperless compliance by the companies under the ‘Green Initiative 

in Corporate Governance’, the Company vide its letter dated 30 July 2011, 

requested the members to register their e-mail address with the Company / 

depository participants, as the case may be.

	 The annual report for the financial year 2011-12 is available on our website, 

i.e. www.drreddys.com. The physical copy of the annual report has been sent 

to those members who have either opted for the same or have not registered 

their email addresses with the Company / depository participant. The members 

will be entitled to a physical copy of the annual report for the financial year 

2011-12, free of cost, upon sending a request to the Company Secretary at 

8-2-337, Road No. 3, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad – 500 034, Andhra Pradesh, 

India.

By Order of the Board

Place	:	 Hyderabad	 Sandeep Poddar

Date	 : 	 11 May 2012	 Company Secretary

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Explanatory statement pursuant to Section 173(2) of the Companies Act, 

1956

ITEM NO. 6

The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 22 August 2011 

had appointed Mr. Sridar Iyengar as an Additional Director of the Company. He is 

an independent mentor investor in early stage start-ups and companies. For more 

than 35 years, he has worked in the UK, US and India with a large number of 

companies, advising them on strategy and other issues.

Mr. Iyengar is the former President of Foundation for Democratic Reforms in India, 

a US-based non-profit organization. He is also an advisor to several venture and 

private equity funds in India.

Earlier, Mr. Iyengar was a senior partner with KPMG in the US and UK and served 

for three years as the Chairman and CEO of KPMG’s operations in India. He holds 

a Bachelor of Commerce (Hons) degree from the University of Calcutta and is a 

Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

As per the provisions of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956, he holds office 

of Director up to the date of the Annual General Meeting unless approved by the 

shareholders. The Company has received a notice as required under section 257 of 

the Companies Act, 1956 along with a deposit of Rs. 500/- from a member of the 

Company, proposing his candidature for the office of the Director.

Companies (other than Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited) in which Mr. Iyengar holds 

directorship in terms of section 275 of the Companies Act, 1956 and committee 

memberships are as under:

Directorship

1.	 Infosys Limited 

2.	 Infosys BPO Limited 

3.	 ICICI Bank Limited 

4.	 Rediff.com Limited

5.	 Mahindra Holidays and Resorts India Limited 

6.	 CL Educate Limited 

7.	 ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited 

Chairperson of Board Committees

1.	 ICICI Bank Limited	 – Audit Committee

		  – Board Governance, Remuneration & 

Nomination Committee

2.	 Rediff.com Limited	 – Audit Committee

3.	 CL Educate Limited	 – Audit Committee

Membership of Board Committees

1.	 Infosys Limited	 – Audit Committee

		  – Risk Committee

2.	 Infosys BPO Limited	 – Audit Committee

		  – Compensation Committee

3.	 ICICI Bank Limited	 – Risk Committee

The Board recommends the resolution set forth in item no. 6 for approval of the 

members.

None of the Directors other than Mr. Sridar Iyengar is concerned or interested in 

the above resolution.

ITEM NO. 7

Mr. Satish Reddy (aged 45) graduated in Chemical Engineering from Osmania 

University, India, in 1988 and went on to receive an M.S. in Medicinal Chemistry 

from Purdue University, USA, in 1990. He joined Dr. Reddy’s in 1993 as Executive 

Director responsible for manufacturing and new product development. In 1997, 

he was appointed Managing Director. In the mid-90s, as the company prepared 

for its global foray, Satish anchored the establishment of key systems and initiatives 

that positioned Dr. Reddy’s for rapid expansion and helped to build its brand and 

corporate identity. 

Mr. Satish Reddy steers Dr. Reddy’s Pharmaceutical Services and Active Ingredients 

(PSAI) and Global Generics businesses, two of the company’s core revenue 

generating streams. He has played an instrumental role in the company’s 

transition from a bulk drugs manufacturer to a global player in the branded space 

by spearheading our entry into emerging markets internationally. He is focused on 

translating Dr. Reddy’s strategy into action to drive its growth and performance 

globally.

Mr. Satish Reddy was re-appointed as Whole Time Director designated as Managing 

Director and Chief Operating Officer (COO) of the Company at the 23rd Annual 

General Meeting of the members of the Company held on 24 July 2007, for a 

period of 5 years ending on 30 September 2012. As part of the initiative to create 

enduring guidance for the Company, the Board of Directors of the Company, at 

their meeting held on 3 February 2012, had approved the re-appointment of 

Mr. Satish Reddy as Whole Time Director designated as Managing Director and 

COO of the Company for a further period of 5 years commencing 1 October 2012 

on the terms and conditions and remuneration as set out in resolution no.7 of the 

accompanying notice.

Mr. Satish Reddy holds 1,205,832 equity shares in the Company.

Companies (other than Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited) in which Mr. Satish 

Reddy holds directorship in terms of section 275 of the Companies Act, 1956 and 

committee memberships are as under:

Directorship

  1.	 DRL Investments Limited

  2.	 Cheminor Investments Limited

  3.	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited

  4.	 Greenpark Hotels and Resorts Limited (Formerly Diana Hotels Ltd.)

  5.	 Dr. Reddy’s Bio Sciences Limited

  6.	 Dr. Reddy’s Pharma SEZ Limited

  7.	 Dr. Reddy’s Holdings Limited

  8.	 I-Ven Pharma Capital Limited

  9.	 Ecologics Technologies Limited

10.	 Idea2Enterprises (India) Private Limited

Chairperson of Board Committees

Nil

Annexure to Notice
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Membership of Board Committees

1.	 Aurigene Discovery Technologies Limited	 – Remuneration Committee

		  – Audit Committee

2.	 Dr. Reddy’s Bio Sciences Limited	 – Audit Committee

The Board recommends the resolution set forth in item no. 7 for approval of the 

members.

None of the Directors other than Dr. K Anji Reddy, Mr. G V Prasad and Mr. Satish 

Reddy are concerned or interested in the above resolution.

ITEM NO. 8

The term of the Dr. Reddy’s Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2002, (the Scheme) 

was valid for a period of 10 (ten) years from the date of adoption of the Scheme 

by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, pursuant to the clause 11(a) of the said 

Scheme, term of the Scheme expired on 29 January 2012.

Consequently, the Board of Directors of the Company, based on the 

recommendation of the Nomination, Governance and Compensation Committee 

at their meeting held on 25 October 2011, consented to extend the validity of the 

Scheme for a further period of 10 (ten) years with effect from 29 January 2012 

by amending Clause 11(a) of the said Scheme subject to the approval of the 

shareholders. All other terms and conditions of the Scheme were remained 

unchanged.

Pursuant to Regulation 7 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee 

Stock Option Scheme and Employee Share Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999, 

the Company may vary the terms of the Scheme by way of a special resolution in 

a general meeting. Hence, the approval of the shareholders is being sought to the 

extension of the validity period of the Scheme.

The Board recommends the resolution set forth in item No. 8 for approval of the 

members.

None of the Directors of the Company is concerned or interested in the above 

resolution, except to the extent of the shares that may be offered to them under 

the Scheme.

By Order of the Board

Place	 :	 Hyderabad	 Sandeep Poddar

Date	 : 	11 May 2012	 Company Secretary

Annexure to Notice
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Glossary

`/Rs. Indian Rupees

ANDA Abbreviated New Drug Application

AS Accounting Standards

API Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients and Intermediates

ADR American Depository Receipt

ARL American Remedies Limited

AP Andhra Pradesh

AGM Annual General Meeting

BSE BSE Limited

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CTO Chemical Technical Operations

CDL Cheminor Drugs Limited

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

COO Chief Operating Officer

COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States

CAGR Compounded Annual Growth Rate

CII Confederation of Indian Industry

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

CPS Custom Pharmaceutical Services

DP Depository Participant

DoE Design by Experiments

DRF Dr. Reddy’s Foundation

DRFHE Dr. Reddy’s Foundation for Health Education

DMF Drug Master File

EBIDTA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

EPS Earnings Per Share

ERC Education resource  Center

ESOP Employees Stock Option Plan

ERM Enterprise-wide Risk Management

EHS Environment, Health and Safety

EEA European Economic Area

EMA European Medical Agency

FY Financial Year

FTO Formulation Technical Operations

GDUFA Generic Drug Use Fee Act

GSK GlaxoSmithKline Plc

GDR Global Depository Receipt

GDC Global Distribution Center

GDP Global Domestic Products

GG Global Generics

GMP Good Manufacturing Practices

HHT Hand Holding Team

HUL Hindustan Unilever Limited

HR Human Resources

ICON Indian Co-operative Oncology Network

ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IMS IMS Health Inc.

IGAAP Indian Generally accepted Accounting Principles

IT Information Technology

IPO Initial Public Offer

IPDO Integrated Product Development Organization

IP Intellectual Property

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

KARV Kallam Anji Reddy Vidyalaya

KAM Key Account Manager

LABS Livelihood Advancement Business School

LVPEI LV Prasad Eye Institute

MRC Management-level risk committee

M&A Mergers and Acquisitions

NLEM National List of Essential Medicines

NPPP National Pharmaceutical Pricing Policy, 2011

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

NCEs New Chemical Entities

NYSE New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

NCDs Non-Convertible Debentures

NRI Non-Resident Indian

OTC Over-the-counter

PSAI Pharmaceuticals Services and Active Ingredients

PAT Profit After Tax

PromOTE Promotion of Oncology Training and Education

PP Proprietary Products

PEP Pudami English Primaries

PNS Pudami Neighborhood School

QbD Quality by Design

R&D Research and Development

RoW Rest of the World

RoCE Return on Capital Employed

RBO Roll Based Organization

SHE Safety, Health and Environment

SQCDM Safety, Quality, Cost, Delivery and Morale

SOX Sarbanes Oxley Act, 2002

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission

SMT Self Managed  Team

CG&A Selling, General and Administration

SRI Skilling Rural India

SEZ Special Economic Zone

SEFL Standard Equity Fund Limited

SKUs Stock Keeping Units

TAs Therapeutic Areas

TAMS Time and Attendance Management System

UK United Kingdom

USD/US$ United States Dollar

US FDA United States Food and Drug Administration

US/USA United States of America
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Attendance Slip

Regd. Folio No. / Client ID	 :

Name & Address of 

First / Sole Shareholder	 :

No. of Shares held	 :

I hereby record my presence at the 28th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 20 July 2012 at 11.30 A.M. at the Grand Ball Room, 

Hotel Taj Krishna, Road No. 1, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad – 500 034.

Signature of the Member / Proxy

Notes:

Only Member / Proxy can attend the meeting. No minors would be allowed at the meeting.a)	

Member / Proxy wish to attend the meeting must bring this attendance slip to the meeting and hand over at the entrance duly filled in and signed.b)	

Member / Proxy should bring his / her copy of the Annual Report for reference at the meeting.c)	

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Limited
Regd. Office: 8-2-337, Road No. 3, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad – 500 034

Proxy Form

Regd. Folio No. / Client ID	 :

No. of Shares held	 :

I / we _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of___________________________________________________________________________________________________________  being a member / members

of the above named Company, hereby appoint  ________________________________________________________________________________________ of

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ or

failing him / her _______________________________________________________ of _____________________________________________________________

as my / our Proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 28th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 20 July 2012 at 

11.30 A.M. at the Grand Ball Room, Hotel Taj Krishna, Road No. 1, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad – 500 034, and at any adjournment(s) thereof.

Signed this ______________________ day of ___________________ 2012

Notes:
Proxy need not be a member of the Company.a)	

The Proxy Form duly filled in and signed by the member(s) across Revenue Stamp should reach the Company’s Registered Office: Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories b)	
Limited, 8-2-337, Road No. 3, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad – 500 034 at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

Corporate members intending to send their authorized representative(s) to attend the meeting  are requested to send a certified copy of the board c)	
resolution authorizing their representative(s) to attend and vote on their behalf at the meeting.
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